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1.0 Cover Letter and Executive Summary 
1.1 Cover Letter 
September 17, 2025 

Lucas Torres-Bull 
Procurement Manager 
1300 White Street 
Key West, Florida 33040 
 

RE Water Quality Monitoring Program Proposal 

 

Dear Mr. Torres-Bull, 
RES Florida Consulting, LLC, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC (together with all of its 
subsidiaries and affiliates, “RES”) is pleased to present the City of Key West (City) with this proposal to assist the City in 
developing a leading-edge water quality monitoring program. We recognize the importance of this initiative in supporting 
the City’s efforts to assess, manage, and improve local water quality through science-based decision-making. RES has a clear 
understanding of the requirements for this project and understands that the data derived from this monitoring will be used 
to develop policies, programs, and practices to improve water quality for the City. We are committed to making this project 
a success with the personnel identified in this proposal.  

For this opportunity, RES has teamed with Eurofins Scientific, a world leader in bio-analytical testing services and WSP who 
will be supporting our effort with staff and equipment for performing sampling activities. We have worked in the past with 
both companies and we are certain that with our combined expertise, from field sampling to laboratory analysis and data 
interpretation, we will provide streamlined and responsive project execution. 

We are convinced that RES and its team partners are the best choice for the City on this project for the following key reasons: 

• Technical Expertise and Proven Experience – RES has successfully managed water quality monitoring programs 
across Florida, utilizing sampling techniques and analytical methodologies that align with regulatory standards.  

• Advanced Analytical Capabilities – Our partnership with Eurofins ensures high-quality laboratory analysis, 
including nutrient, bacteria, and pollutant testing, meeting or exceeding required detection limits.  

• Innovative and Cost-Effective Approach – Utilizing WSP’s local field support and equipment will optimize 
efficiency, while RES’ data-driven strategies will provide actionable insights to support the City’s environmental 
initiatives.  

We look forward to collaborating with the City in developing an innovative water quality monitoring program that other 
communities will use as a benchmark standard for their own programs. 

 
Gary Serviss 
Project Manager and Primary Point of Contact 
gserviss@res.us | 941.993.6031 

Justin Freedman 
General Manager and Authorized Signatory 
312 SE 17th Street, Suite 200, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 
jfreedman@res.us | 954.484.8500 
Signature authorization provided as an appendix. 
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1.2 Executive Summary 
1.2.1 Company Overview 
As the nation’s largest nature-based solutions company, Resource Environmental Solutions, 
LLC (RES) supports the public and private sectors with durable, resilient infrastructure for 
communities through solutions for environmental mitigation, stormwater and water quality, 
and climate and flooding resilience. RES has a unique operating model for delivering 
ecological uplift, based on science-led design, full delivery, long-term stewardship, and 
guaranteed performance. From headwaters to coastal shores, RES designs, builds, and 
sustains sites that preserve the environmental balance, lifting impaired ecosystems into 
restored health and ultimately, self-sufficiency. These projects restore sensitive wetland, 
prairie, and species habitats as well as floodplains, streams, river valleys, and coastal and 
tidal systems. The result is nature-based systems that cleanse water, shelter wildlife, buffer 
storms, and sequester carbon from the atmosphere.  
RES works closely and creatively with municipalities, developers, operators, landowners, and 
regulatory agencies to balance the needs of clients, communities, and resources. Our 
operating model is built around this approach. We employ teams covering the full project 
lifecycle, combining in-house analytics and technical expertise with implementational 
resources and capabilities.  
We have helped clients successfully permit more than 3,900 projects, creating rich, high-
functioning ecosystems as part of each permit.  Our clients include local and state 
governments, large mining operators, energy production companies, energy transmission 
companies, Fortune 500 companies, departments of transportation, and other public-sector 
organizations. RES now maintains 48 operational hubs across the country, including four 
regional offices in Florida (Miami, Deland, Fort Lauderdale and Orlando). 
RES delivers customized solutions tailored to our clients’ needs. RES’ internal resources 
include environmental, health, safety, and security (EHS&S) staff, land acquisition specialists, 
wildlife biologists, Rosgen IV certified stream designers, professional wetland scientists, 
engineers, hydrologists, QA/QC oversight teams, field ecologists, regulatory project 
managers, analysts, certified foresters, arborists, landscape architects, construction 
managers, superintendents, and field crew members as well as supporting project controls, 
government affairs, public relations, financial, legal and analytical staff. 
RES’ experience includes the following: 

• Currently conduct monitoring and maintenance (including invasive species 
management and hydrologic data collection and analysis) for over 50,225 acres of 
restored habitat  

• Reductions of over 499 tons of water quality nutrients from the development of 
nutrient bank projects across the Mid-Atlantic 

• Design and construction of over 356 stormwater management facilities for the 
improvement of water management and water quality across urban and 
agricultural lands 

• Restoration, enhancement, and preservation of 76,150 acres of wetlands and 
conserved land 

• Restoration of over 686 miles of streams and surrounding floodplain 
• Rehabilitation, preservation, and/or management of over 20,400 acres of special-

status species habitat 
• Design, permitting, management, and development of 197 wetland, stream, species and conservation banks 
• Development of restoration projects for the facilitation of compensatory mitigation and nutrient offsets for over 

4,000 federal and state permits 



  

City of Key West | Water Quality Monitoring Program   3 

1.2.2 Company history and information 
RES is a national operating company focused on restoring a resilient earth for a modern world, project by project. Founded 
in 2007 in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, RES quickly expanded along the Gulf Coast and grew organically into Texas, Pennsylvania, 
West Virginia, Ohio, and other regions in the country. RES employs 918 dedicated staff in offices across the country.  
Over the years, RES has strengthened its team by bringing in accomplished experts with local knowledge and experience 
who share our vision of a resilient earth. To facilitate the growth of the RES team in Florida, RES acquired E Sciences and 
Sandra Walters Consultants in 2022. They are two of Florida’s premier ecological and engineering consulting firms. With 
these transactions, RES has now approximately 100 employees in four offices across Florida including offices in Orlando, 
DeLand, Fort Lauderdale and Miami. In addition to these physical offices, RES staff located across the state, including 
Marathon, as well as 918 employees nationwide, provides us with substantial bench strength and the ability to be responsive 
to the City’s needs.    

Company Information 
Principals 

Rodger Wiederkehr, President, CEO 
Lorne Phillips, Chief Financial Officer 

Sam Burley, General Counsel 

Primary Point of Contact 
Gary Serviss 

Project Manager 
941.993.6031 | gserviss@res.us 

State of Incorporation 
Virginia 

Number of Employees 
918 

Years in Business 
18  

Corporate Telephone Number 
713.520.5400 

 
1.2.3 Corporate charter registration 
Please see a copy of RES’ corporate charter registration attached as an appendix to this proposal. 
1.2.4 Qualities and capabilities 
RES is at the forefront of innovative water quality planning and design, monitoring and identifying solutions to local water 
quality issues. Across the country RES provides general civil and environmental engineering services for municipalities, 
including water quality assessments, stormwater master planning; implementation of master plans; technical review and 
engineering for wastewater requirements; permit reviews and support; and other general civil and environmental 
engineering services. 
RES provides a full suite of engineering services related to water quality management, stormwater design, infrastructure 
management, hydrologic restoration and preservation, watershed planning and Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) floodplain management and permitting. We assist clients with major regulatory programs such as National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Phase I and Phase II permitting and compliance, Clean Water Act (CWA) services, 
meeting and understanding Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs), Basin Management Action Plans (BMAPs), addressing 
ordinances and consent decrees, and numerous other specialty areas. RES professionals are skilled in facilities engineering, 
including transaction support services such as property condition surveys and development feasibility studies for industrial 
and commercial land uses. 

1.2.5 Approach overview 
RES, along with our team partners Eurofins and WSP, will implement a systematic and science-driven approach to water 
quality monitoring that aligns with the City’s objectives and their effort to comply with Section 80-2 (Pollution of Water) 
from the City of Key West Code of Ordinances. Our methodology integrates comprehensive field sampling, laboratory 
analysis, and data interpretation to provide high-quality, regulatory-compliant results.  
We will deploy trained and local field specialists to conduct precise and consistent sampling at designated locations using 
state-of-the-art equipment to measure key parameters, including nutrient levels, bacterial concentrations, dissolved oxygen, 
turbidity, and other water quality indicators that comply with Section 80-2. Eurofins’ NELAC certified laboratory will perform 
detailed analytical testing, ensuring accurate and reliable data. RES will then interpret these results, providing the City with 
clear, actionable insights that support policy development and environmental management initiatives.  
By leveraging innovative technology, on-demand data tracking, and a collaborative approach, RES and its partners will 
deliver a cost-effective, efficient, and transparent monitoring program that strengthens the City’s water quality management 
efforts.  
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2.0 Qualifications and Relevant Experience 
2.1 Firm composition and structure 
RES is a limited liability company with no individuals having a five percent or greater ownership of the company.  

2.2 Qualifications and experience of the project manager, key staff, and subcontractors 
Resumes for listed staff are provided as an appendix to this proposal. RES has the depth of resources and flexibility to add 
personnel on an as needed basis, depending on the needs of the City. 

Team Personnel Qualifications and Experience Summary Project Role and 
Responsibilities 

Gary Serviss 
Project Manager 

Gary has 42 years of professional experience specializing in 
water quality and hydrologic assessments, wetlands evaluation 
and classification, mitigation design, wildlife evaluations, and 
environmental monitoring. He has designed and coordinated 
numerous environmental investigations to study complex 
problems and developing valuable technical and project 
management experience. 

 Serve as primary client 
point-of-contact. 

 Provide subcontractor 
coordination. 

 Responsible for budget 
maintenance.  

 Responsible for customer 
service. 

 Provide schedule and 
meeting coordination. 

Mary Szafraniec, PhD 
Director,  
Water Quality 
Initiatives 

Dr. Szafraniec is RES’ Director of Water Quality Initiatives and 
has an extensive ecological assessment and restoration 
background including design and implementation of marine 
and freshwater ecological monitoring and assessments, 
watershed pollutant evaluation and ecological restoration. She 
has 22 years of experience designing ecological studies 
analyzing and characterizing water quality, hydrologic regime, 
and biological community structure to assess the effects of 
anthropogenic and hydrological modifications on ecosystem 
response, and to determine the effectiveness of restoration 
activities. She provided an extensive review of Seminole 
County’s entire water quality monitoring program (surface 
waters, flows and groundwater). She evaluated the monitoring 
program in terms of spatial/temporal coverage, and provided 
exploratory data analyses, including trend analysis, 
correlations, time series analysis, and multivariate analysis. 
Mary provided the County with recommendations to enhance 
the monitoring program. 

 Provide QA/QC oversight 
for project data and 
deliverables. 

Celeste Lyon 
Project Scientist  

Celeste is an experienced environmental specialist with more 
than eight years of experience and a demonstrated history of 
working in the environmental sciences industry. Her expertise 
encompasses groundwater science, nutrient loading, source 
tracking, restoration planning, interagency collaboration, and 
watershed management and assessment. She has experience 
with data collection, analysis, report preparation, and technical 
presentations relating to both surface and groundwater water 
quality. She is also highly skilled in conducting spatial analyses 
using ArcGIS. 

 Develop water quality 
recommendations and 
identify action items to 
mitigate pollutants.  

 Assist with the design of 
the Water Quality 
Monitoring Plan. 
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Team Personnel Qualifications and Experience Summary Project Role and 
Responsibilities 

Juliana Navarro 
Project Scientist  

Juliana is a scientist with more than three years of experience. 
Her experience includes conducting environmental research in 
coastal Florida ecosystems, surveying endangered species and 
performing water quality monitoring. 

 Water quality monitoring 
and sampling. 

 Data management and 
reporting 

Junnio Freixa  
Project Scientist 

Junnio is a scientist and project manager with seven years of 
experience providing support in field investigations, 
environmental site sampling, and Phase I and Phase II 
Environmental Site Assessments (ESA), regulatory reporting, 
and GIS applications. He is experienced in Florida Department 
of Environmental Protection (FDEP) Standard Operating 
Procedures (SOPs) and has conducted field sampling efforts 
including air, soil and groundwater sampling. 

 Project field supervisor.  

 Data management and 
reporting. 

 Develop water quality 
recommendations and 
assist with the design of 
the Water Quality 
Monitoring Plan. 

Tommy Cross 
Sample Technician 

Tommy was trained to sample at Flowers Chemical Labs in 
2008 and performed groundwater and surface water 
monitoring from 2008-2014. He has performed field work 
throughout the state of Florida and has performed the Key 
West Bight Quarterly Monitoring since 2009. He has also 
conducted the semi-annual monitoring of Boot Key Harbor in 
Marathon. He is trained to run all the bacteria analysis, TSS 
analysis and CBOD analysis performed at the Marathon Lab.  

 Sample collection, 
processing and shipment 

 Equipment calibration 
and general maintenance 

Abby Gruner 
Sample Technician 

Abby's four years of professional experience includes various 
roles such as performing water quality sampling, overseeing 
construction projects, and assisting with environmental 
analysis reports. Before joining WSP in 2024, Abby worked at 
CDM Smith and Future Aviation. 

 Sample collection, 
processing and shipment 

 Equipment calibration 
and general maintenance. 

 

2.3 Project Organization 
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2.4 Relevant Monitoring and Sampling Experience 
Environmental Engineering Continuing Services  
City of Miami Beach | Miami Beach, Miami-Dade County, FL 
RES was awarded a contract to conduct environmental/ coastal engineering 
services. The following is an overview of services provided. 
Groundwater Elevation Monitoring and Mapping Support, Sunset Harbor 
RES assisted the City with the completion of a groundwater elevation monitoring 
study in the Sunset Harbor neighborhood. This study was conducted to evaluate 
the soil storage capacity within this area to support the design and installation of a 
stormwater management system. RES provided training and support during 
installation of the equipment and data collection, data management and modeling 
efforts. The City successfully installed equipment and downloaded data with the 
assistance of RES personnel. 
Normandy Shores Golf Course Groundwater Monitoring 
RES was engaged by the City of Miami Beach to implement the required 
groundwater monitoring based on the documented presence of arsenic impacts at 
the Normandy Shores Golf Course. The groundwater monitoring program has been 
modified over the years based on the data compiled. The goal of the monitoring 
program is to demonstrate that the arsenic groundwater plume is stable and 
contained within the site boundaries. 
10th Street Terminus Water Quality Sampling 
RES conducted water quality monitoring in the bay at 10th Street in Miami Beach. The request was based on a response to 
a resident’s reported observation of “oil, debris and sewage” into the bay emanating from a culvert in the seawall. The 
resident posted photographs showing a dark area in the water in social media. It was also noted that roadway construction 
was ongoing in the area and that there was a turbidity curtain in the water at this location. RES collected water quality 
samples and reviewed area activities to document impacts from alleged discharge exist. 
Emergency Surface Water Bacteria Sampling 
RES collected surface water samples on an emergency basis to evaluate the presence of enterococci and fecal coliform 
sanitary sewer leaks. RES collected samples and submitted them to Miami-Dade County’s laboratory for analysis. Work was 
conducted on an expedited basis to comply with regulatory requirements. 

PortMiami Turbidity and Species Monitoring, Miami-
Dade County, Florida 
Fincanteiri Infrastructure Florida | Miami-Dade County, Florida 
MSC Cruises expanded their cruise ship berths at PortMiami in Government Cut. 
Fincanteiri Infrastructure Florida (FIF) is the design build contractor. The area 
has multiple cruise ship berths, a coastguard station, two ferry terminals and a 
very busy pleasure craft traffic. RES worked with FIF to conduct marine species 
monitoring and water quality (turbidity) monitoring. The ultimate dredging 
depth is -38 feet North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88). The project 
was permitted through several local, state and federal agencies as it is located 
in a marine preserve. Samples were collected at least 300 meters upstream of 
construction and within 150 meters downstream at three depth intervals. 
Sampling began within 30 minutes of the start of daily dredging activities and 
continued every four hours until operations ended. Dredging was conducted 
seven days a week and generally 12 hours per day. Since the project was located 
in a marine preserve, there is a 0 Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) limit over 
background for turbidity. Any exceedances are reported to FIF and ultimately 
to FDEP and Miami-Dade County Department of Environmental Resources 
Management (DERM). Dredging was stopped until turbidity readings are 0 NTU 
above background. RES developed a custom Survey123 program which 
collected data from the daily activities, the data was uploaded and daily maps 
and logs were created to meet weekly reporting requirements.   

AT A GLANCE. 
Client Contact 
Andy Rodriguez, PE, CGC,  
Senior Project Manager 
1 SE Third Avenue 
Miami, Florida 33131 
andy.rodriguez@fl.fcinfrastructure.com 
786.200.0974 
Contract Value 
$325,000 
Project Size 
17 acres upland construction 
8.5 acres of dredging 
5,000 feet shoreline  
Contract Period 
2022 – 2024  
Project Highlights 
• Endangered species construction 

support services 
Key Staff 
• Junnio Freixa 
• Juliana Navarro 

AT A GLANCE. 

Client Contact 
Samantha Tiffany 
Environmental Resources Manager 
1700 Convention Center Drive 
3rd Floor 
Miami Beach, Florida 33139 
(305) 673-7000 Ext. 26032 | 
SamanthaTiffany@miamibeachfl.gov 
Contract Value 
$973,347 
Contract Period 
August 2011 – Ongoing 

Project Highlights 
• Water Quality Sampling 

Monitoring 
• Water Bacteria Sampling 
Key Staff 
• Junnio Freixa 

mailto:SamanthaTiffany@miamibeachfl.gov
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2.5 Relevant Testing Experience 

 

2.5.1 Capabilities 
Eurofins Orlando is a nationally certified, full-service testing laboratory which provides analytical and environmental 
laboratory services to governmental, municipalities, utilities, commercial, industrial, and residential clients on a continuous 
basis since 1957. Eurofins Orlando’s technological capabilities include a full spectrum of advanced scientific instrumentation, 
equipment, and computer systems. Eurofins Orlando has been certified by the State of Florida’s Department of 
Environmental Regulation and the Department of Health for more than five decades.  Eurofins Orlando is certified in the 
Florida DOH Drinking Water, Non-Potable Water and Solid & Chemical Materials categories for a large scope of analyses. 
Eurofins Orlando provides environmental consultation and analytical laboratory testing and sampling services for: 

• Primary & Secondary Drinking Water Analyses 
• Reclaimed Effluent Grab and Composite 
• Ground Water Monitoring  
• Surface Water Monitoring 
• Soil and Sediment Analyses 
• Sludge Analyses 

• Solid Waste Analyses 
• Wastewater Analyses 
• Microbiological Analyses 
• Contamination Assessment 
• Environmental Compliance 
• Hazardous Waste Characterizations 

2.5.2 Experience with Florida Municipal Clients 
Eurofins Orlando has been involved in a variety of laboratory testing and sampling projects and has served nearly four 
thousand national, international, and regional clients.  Below is a selective listing of municipal clients within the state of 
Florida for whom such services have been provided: 

 
• City of Key West, FL 
• Florida Keys Aqueduct Authority 
• City of Rockledge, FL 
• City of Apopka, FL  
• City of Clermont, FL 
• City of Maitland, FL  
• TOHO Water Authority 
• City of Cocoa, FL  
• City of Port St. Lucie, FL 
• City of Kissimmee, FL  
• Florida Gas Transmission, FL 
• City of Lake Mary, FL  
• City of Oviedo, FL  

• City of Melbourne, FL 
• City of Palm Bay, FL  
• City of Ft. Pierce, FL 
• Palm Beach County, FL  
• Polk County, FL 
• City of Marathon, FL  
• City of Lake Wales, FL  
• Lee County, FL 
• Osceola County, FL  
• City of Key West Port 

Operations 
• Seminole County, FL 
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3.0 References and Quality of Past Performance on Similar Projects 
Islamorada Water Quality and Benthic Vegetation Monitoring in Canals 
Islamorada, Village of Islands | Islamorada, Village of Islands, Monroe County, FL 

RES is performing water quality and benthic vegetation monitoring within select 
residential canals and nearshore waters related to the Village’s ongoing water quality 
evaluation project. The Village created a water quality and benthic monitoring 
program to gather baseline data from a series of canals to detect changes in water 
quality as a function of remediation action activities. The project was initiated in 2015 
by others. The project was transitioned to RES in 2020.  
RES is tasked with maintaining the established dataset, detecting changes over time, and continuing the evaluation of canal 
conditions as they relate to remediation activities including canal restoration or other natural or unnatural events. The project 
also supports the Village’s efforts to collect and analyze nearshore water nutrient loadings to ensure compliance with water 
quality standards. By maintaining and expanding the established dataset, RES’ scientists have been able to organize and 
identify existing data gaps and provided recommendations to the Village, so their future needs may be met. RES is currently 
in the fifth year of monitoring.  
Project Canal Location 
Information: Canal 114 
(25.0005, -80.53331), Canal 116 
(24.99888, -80.533883), Canal 
132 (24.958311, -80.567539), 
Canal 147 (24.873772, -
80.699467), 152 (24.85748, -
80.73173), Canal 155 
(24.854089, -80.738314), Canal 
157 (24.853558, -80.732617).  

AT A GLANCE. 

Client Contact 
Peter Frezza 
86800 Overseas Highway 
Islamorada, Florida 33036 
(305) 664-6467 | 
peter.frezza@islamorada.fl.us 

Contract Value 
$75,000/Annually 

Contract Period 
10/2020 – 10/2026 

Project Type 
Advisory Services 

Project Highlights 
• Water Quality Sampling and 

Monitoring 
• Benthic Surveys 
• Canal Restoration  

Key Staff 
• Junnio Freixa 
• Juliana Navarro 
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Continuing Contract for General Environmental Engineering 
City of Fort Lauderdale | City of Fort Lauderdale, Broward County, Florida 

RES was awarded a contract 
with the City of Fort 
Lauderdale (City) to provide 
ongoing environmental 
engineering support during 
three separate consultant 
selection processes. The 
scope of the contract is broad 
and provided us with a wide 
range of opportunities to 
support the City.  
Himmarshee Canal Assessment: Aspects of this project focused on planning and 
design for canal dredging of a surface water, restoration of a river, construction 
administration, environmental permitting support, sediment assessment, biological 
monitoring/submerged aquatic vegetation survey and mapping, development of an 
effective water quality monitoring plan, environmental monitoring and assessment of 
surface water, laboratory analyses of water and sediment, public engagement support, 
project management and quality assurance/control.  
The City of Fort Lauderdale (City) identified a sewer force main break that caused 13 
million gallons of wastewater from the force main to discharge into the Himmarshee 
Canal. The City entered into an Amended Consent Order with the FDEP that obligated 
the City to complete an “environmental analysis” of the Himmarshee Canal to assess 
potential impacts caused by the unauthorized discharge. In response, RES prepared a 
Water Quality Assessment Plan that was approved by FDEP without comment. RES 
evaluated potential sediment impacts to approximately 1,600 linear feet of the 
Himmarshee Canal using a variety of methods including consideration of natural, 
cultural, and physical environmental resources; review of ambient water quality data; 
characterization of sediment layers; performing laboratory analysis on sediment 
samples; and conducting a benthic survey. The assessment goals were to identify if 
sediment, solids, or other indicators of wastewater had accumulated on the canal bottom from solids settling out of the 
wastewater discharge, identify if residual impacts from the discharge was present, and identify the extent of the impacted 
area. RES used vibracore technology to collect sediment cores for visual characterization and laboratory analysis. RES worked 
with the laboratory to develop methods to analyze the sediment for parameters that could be indicative of wastewater, 
persist in the environment and are not naturally occurring. Sediment samples were analyzed for human waste indicators and 
bacteria to define the area of impact. Water quality evaluation included nutrients, dissolved oxygen, and enterococci 
bacteria. A benthic survey using a “go-pro” camera was used to document the river bottom and to evaluate the presence of 
submerged aquatic vegetation. A hydrographic survey was conducted and the information used to estimate the dredge 
material volumes for the purposes of obtaining contractor bids. RES collaborated with the US Army Corps of Engineers 
(USACE), FDEP and Broward County to identify ways to streamline the agency permitting and authorization procedures in 
support of the development of a sediment removal plan. Weekly updates were provided to the City to be disseminated to 
the public to keep the residents informed of the project’s progress.   
The City is electing to remove sediment within the Himmarshee Canal as a surface water quality enhancement project. RES 
assisted the City with bidding documents and restoration contractor selection. RES will assist with construction compliance 
when that project begins sediment removal.  
  

AT A GLANCE. 

Client Contact 
Todd Hiteshew, Environmental 
Services Manager 
Public Works Department 
949 NW 38th Street 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 
(954) 828-4357 | 
thiteshew@fortlauderdale.gov 

Contract Value 
$593,822 

Contract Period 
June 2008 – Ongoing 

Project Type 
Advisory Services 

Project Highlights 
• NPDES / Water Quality 
• Sampling 
• Benthic Surveys 
• Wildlife Surveys / Relocations 
• Phase I and Phase II 

Environmental Site Assessments 
• Agency Permitting 
• NEPA 
• Soil and Groundwater Testing 
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4.0 Project Approach 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
RES understands the project, and its scope of services and goals. RES understands that the City and its contractors for this 
project will need to comply with Section 80-2 (Pollution of Water) from the City of Key West Code of Ordinances, as referenced 
in the RFP for the Water Quality Monitoring Program, which has specific implications for a water quality monitoring project.  
Section 80-2 prohibits any vessel (specifically cruise ships with over 500 passengers) from discharging pollutants into the 
waterways of Key West. It mandates: 
1. No discharge of pollutants into Key West waterways. 
2. Full compliance with federal, state, and international environmental laws. 
3. Immediate cleanup of any discharge by the responsible vessel. 
4. City intervention if cleanup is inadequate, with costs and penalties charged to the vessel. 
5. Mandatory reporting of oil or hazardous substance discharges to appropriate agencies. 
To ensure compliance with Section 80-2, a water quality monitoring project must: 
1. Identify and Monitor Pollutants 

• Pollutants include: ballast, dunnage, untreated sewage, garbage, oil, gasoline, trade waste, tar, floating matter, odors, 
and gases of putrefaction. It should be noted that turbidity is not explicitly listed in the definition of "pollutant" under 
Section 80-2 of the City of Key West Code of Ordinances. However, the ordinance also includes: “…as such discharge 
is defined as a pollutant by state or federal law.” This opens the door for turbidity to be considered a pollutant if it 
meets criteria under state or federal definitions, such as those from the Clean Water Act or FDEP. Turbidity is recognized 
by the RFP as a valuable indicator of water quality and potential environmental impact, especially in areas affected by 
cruise ship activity, shoreline erosion, or runoff. 

• Monitoring must detect these pollutants in the 600-foot tidal zone adjacent to Key West. 
2. Design a Targeted Monitoring Program 

• Include sampling protocols using calibrated field meters and adhering to FDEP SOPs, while comparing against 
natural background levels, that can detect cruise ship-related discharges by sampling near near cruise ship docks, 
shoreline areas with mangroves, swimming beaches, and areas with visible sediment disturbance. 

• Use industry-standard methods for pollutant detection (e.g., chemical analysis, microbial testing, turbidity 
measurements). 

• Ensure sampling frequency and site selection align with high-risk areas (e.g., Key West Harbor, cruise ship docks). 
3. Ensure Regulatory Compliance 
Align with: 

• Clean Water Act 
• Oil Pollution Act of 1990 
• International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) 
• EPA and Florida DEP standards 

4. Provide Actionable Data (that adhere to a Quality Assurance Project Plan) 
Generate reports that: 

• Identify exceedances or violations. 
• Support enforcement actions. 
• Inform mitigation strategies and public communication. 

5. Support Enforcement and Cleanup 
Provide timely data to support: 

• Notification of discharges 
• Assessment of cleanup adequacy 
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• Cost recovery and administrative fee calculations 
RES, in partnership with Eurofins and WSP, will implement a structured, efficient, and technically rigorous work program to 
achieve the goals outlined in the City’s Water Quality Monitoring Program while adhering to Section 80-2. Our strategy will 
ensure a comprehensive review of existing data, identification of mitigation opportunities, and design of innovative monitoring 
programs that support public awareness and environmental stewardship.  

4.1 Task 1 - Review current relevant data across all GOCs and identify opportunities 
With a long history of working on water quality issues in the Florida Keys, RES will conduct a comprehensive assessment of 
existing water quality data from various sources, including previous monitoring efforts, regulatory agency reports, and 
academic research. Our local presence and extensive experience in coastal ecosystems allow us to efficiently identify geographic 
areas of concern (GOCs), pollution trends, data gaps, and strategic opportunities to enhance the City’s water quality monitoring 
and management efforts. We will use GIS-based spatial analysis to assess pollution trends and hotspot areas, review historical 
weather patterns and events, identify data gaps and inconsistencies in historical datasets, and engage with local agencies, non-
governmental organizations, and research institutions to integrate relevant findings and to determine major contributors (i.e., 
stormwater runoff, wastewater, boating activity). The team will assess the sources, pathways, and concentration of identified 
pollutants, determine which pollutants have the greatest impact on water quality and ecological health and identify key hot 
spots where pollutant mitigation will have the greatest benefit.  
RES has a proven track record of taking complex scientific data and distilling it into clear, actionable information for decision-
makers and the public. We have successfully done this with other local governments, including the Village of Islamorada for 
the canal water quality and benthic monitoring project. We ensure that the recommendations are not only scientifically sound 
but also easily understood by policymakers, stakeholders, and residents. As part of this effort RES and team will prepare 
recommendations on water quality monitoring strategies and pollutant characterization in layman’s terms. These findings will 
be presented at a City Commission meeting, where we will seek feedback to refine the monitoring approach before moving 
forward with implementation.   

4.2 Task 2 - Identify actions that may mitigate pollutants 
Building on the insights from Task 1, the team will leverage its deep understanding of local water quality challenges and 
regulatory frameworks to identify practical and scientifically sound strategies to mitigate pollutants. The goal is to identify 
effective, practical, and cost-efficient methods to reduce pollutant loads while considering environmental, regulatory, and 
financial constraints. We will evaluate structural and non-structural Best Management Practices (BMPs) for stormwater, 
wastewater, and non-point source pollution control, identify operational and policy-based changes that can reduce pollution 
at the source, and innovative or nature-based solutions. For example, vegetative buffers and wetlands for nutrient absorption, 
bioretention systems and permeable pavement to reduce stormwater runoff, enhanced street sweeping and sediment control 
measures, improved waste management practices and public education programs.  
The team will develop a ranked list of mitigation strategies, prioritizing those that offer the highest return on investment in 
terms of pollution reduction and sustainability. Each potential mitigation strategy will be assessed based on the following: 
• Effectiveness–ability to reduce pollutant levels based on scientific studies and case studies from similar environments. 
• Feasibility–implementation realism given physical constraints, permitting requirements and local regulatory frameworks. 
• Cost-benefit analysis–comparison of projected pollutant reduction benefits versus implementation and maintenance costs.  
With local staff and equipment embedded in the Keys, the team will also provide line-item costs for each sampling scenario 
and outline specific monitoring goals associated with each mitigation strategy. Final recommendations will be presented to the 
City Commission for review and guidance, ensuring alignment with local priorities and available funding opportunities.  

4.3 Task 3 - Design water quality monitoring programs 
The team will develop a customized, adaptive water quality monitoring program that adheres to Section 80-2 and is aligned 
with the City’s environmental priorities and mitigation strategies identified in Tasks 1 and 2. The program will be designed to 
capture both baseline conditions and changes resulting from impacts and/or mitigation efforts, providing the City with a strong 
foundation for long-term water quality management.  

Prio to any field work being commenced, RES will develop a Hazard and Safety Plan (HASP) and a Quality Assurance Project 
Plan (QAPP). Our team’s familiarity with the region’s physical, ecological, and regulatory landscape ensures a tailored approach 
that accounts for local environmental dynamics and community needs. The team will develop a monitoring program that is 
based on pollutant hotspots, will define appropriate sampling frequency, duration, and intensity, select target parameters (i.e. 
nutrients, bacteria, heavy metals) based on Task 1 findings and match analytical methods to regulatory standards and 



  

City of Key West | Water Quality Monitoring Program   14 

monitoring goals, and lastly will incorporate manual grab sampling and automated sensor deployment for continuous and 
event-based data capture.  

We will incorporate statistical modeling and spatial analysis tools to optimize site selection, detect pollutant trends, and support 
adaptive management. Additionally, we will utilize automated data management tools to streamline QA/QC data storage, 
reporting, and visualization for stakeholders. Line-item cost breakdowns for various monitoring scenarios (i.e. pre-and post-
mitigation effectiveness, source tracking studies) will be provided. The detailed costs will include sample type, frequency, lab 
analysis, staffing, and equipment to support budget planning.  

Recognizing the City’s concern regarding bacteria at Swimming Beaches GOC, the team will design an enhanced Beach Water 
Quality Monitoring Program that builds on current Florida Department of Health (FDOH) efforts and expands the City’s ability 
to detect, understand, and mitigate bacterial pollution. The short-term goals of the Beach Monitoring Water Quality Monitoring 
Program are to increase sampling frequency from bi-weekly to weekly, leveraging the team’s local field staff to reduce costs 
and improve responsiveness, maintain enterococcus spp. testing for compatibility with FDOH protocols while providing real-
time data sharing tools and trend summaries to inform residents and visitors and to deliver public education materials and 
signage to raise awareness of water quality conditions, health risks, and pollution prevention practices. Long-term objectives 
will be to implement a Microbial Source Tracking (MST) program to determine whether bacteria originate from human, avian, 
or other animal sources and based on source identification, propose to monitor targeted mitigation efforts (i.e. stormwater 
retrofits, infrastructure upgrades). The final deliverable will compile a detailed Monitoring Program Report that includes design 
rationale, sampling protocols, staffing plan, analytical methods, and scenario-based cost estimates. This report will be presented 
to the City Commission for review and final guidance. RES will adjust the plan based on Commission input.  

4.4 Task 4 - Increase Availability of Recent Beach Reports 
RES has a long-standing presence in the Florida Keys and a local team with extensive experience in water quality monitoring, 
public communication, and environmental data management. With experienced local staff and equipment based in the 
Florida Keys, the team is uniquely positioned to conduct routine, high-quality sampling efficiently and cost-effectively. 
Our team understands the unique challenges and regulatory landscape of the region, allowing us to design a practical and 
effective strategy to improve the availability of beach water quality reports.  
Our trained local staff will coordinate with FDOH to conduct bi-weekly field sampling. Our local presence ensures rapid 
response, consistency in sampling methods, and cost savings by reducing mobilization needs. Additionally, the increase in 
sampling enhances the City’s ability to detect short-term trends and respond to public health or environmental concerns in 
real-time. Sampling methods will comply with FDEP and FDOH standards, ensuring data defensibility for regulatory and funding 
purposes.  
RES will coordinate with the FDOH and continue to follow the FDOH’s established protocols under the Healthy Beaches Program 
for water sampling, while optimizing processes to enhance timeliness and transparency. Bi-weekly samples will be collected 
from the designated public beach access points in Key West, including Smathers Beach, Fort Zachary Taylor State Park, Higgs 
Beach and South Beach. Prior to sampling, high and low tide times will be obtained and the following field measurements will 
be collected at each sampling site at the surface, middle of the water column and at the bottom and recorded: water depths 
(meters), salinity (practical salinity units), specific conductivity, temperature (⁰C), dissolved oxygen (milligrams per liter and % 
saturation), pH, and turbidity (nephelometric turbidity units). 
At each site, a 100mL marine water grab sample will be collected at knee-depth using sterile techniques, in accordance with 
FDOH and FDEP protocols. Samples will be analyzed by Eurofins, a National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program 
(NELAP)-certified laboratory, for the presence of enterococci bacteria, an indicator of fecal contamination. Exceedances will 
trigger immediate health advisories. Per FDOH’s protocol’s, results will be categorized based on colony-forming units (CFU) per 
100 mL into three categories: Good (0-35.4 CFU), Moderate (35.5-700.4 CFU), or Poor (70.5+ CFUs). 
With field staff, equipment and NELAP certified laboratory based in the Florida Keys, the team is well-positioned to streamline 
the collection, processing, and distribution of beach water quality data. By selecting Eurofins laboratory located in Marathon, 
FL, we will meet the requisite hold times. We will request coolers, with the required set of sample bottles and one extra set in 
case of damage, ahead of time so we have the opportunity to ensure that the correct containers are provided. Ice will be 
purchased in advance of sample collection so that samples never exceed appropriate storage temperatures. Samples will be 
placed in laboratory containers, labeled individually, and sealed. Chain of custody forms will be completed for each sample 
event. We will prearrange each day with the laboratory so that samples can be processed within required holding times.  
We will use our own equipment to collect salinity, specific conductivity, temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH and especially 
turbidity. We own YSI 556 Water Quality Multimeters and Lamotte Turbidity 2020E meters. A Van Dorn or similar sampler will 



  

City of Key West | Water Quality Monitoring Program   15 

be used to collect water samples. Additional equipment includes sample bottles, ice, coolers, datasheets, clipboards, field 
notebooks, pens, field tablets, Deionized water and gloves. We will develop reporting formats to clearly communicate advisory 
statuses. 

4.5 Task 5 - Increase Community Knowledge of Data/ Beach Report Implications 
Effective water quality management depends on public understanding and engagement. As a firm with deep roots in the 
Florida Keys, RES recognizes that the best environmental policies are supported by informed residents, businesses, and visitors. 
We will develop and implement a multi-faceted outreach strategy to educate the public about the significance of beach water 
quality reports, the factors affecting water conditions, and how individuals can contribute to water quality improvement. Our 
local team’s extensive experience in translating scientific data into accessible, layman-friendly information ensures that our 
outreach efforts will be clear, engaging, and actionable. RES will ensure complex lab results and regulatory information are 
translated into clear, accessible messaging.  
RES will develop visually engaging, easy-to-understand materials to help the public interpret water quality data. These may 
include infographics and fact sheets explaining water quality trends, monitoring processes, and what different bacterial levels 
mean. RES can work with the City to create a centralized Beach Water Quality Dashboard for real-time and historical display. 
Building on our success with similar projects in Islamorada and surrounding areas, RES proposes to design a digital platform 
utilizing ArcGIS StoryMaps. It will provide live water quality status using color-coded advisory indicators, features interactive 
mapping with real-time updates for each monitored beach, allows users to explore trends over time, historical exceedances, 
and seasonal variability (dry and wet seasons) and lastly it will include educational content explaining the sampling process, 
interpretation of results and health implications. 
In addition to the dashboard, RES will work with the City to increase public awareness of water quality conditions through local 
media outlets including partnering with newspapers, radio stations, TV networks and assisting with interactive online content, 
such as FAQs, blog posts, and social media posts on water quality topics. We distribute summaries of water quality findings in 
layman terms, develop visual signage and beach QR codes linking to the live dashboard updates and create material for public 
outreach and educational efforts to help the public understand pollution sources, health risks, and how to interpret data. 
RES implements a QA/QC program that includes using FDEP-adopted SOPs for field work and sampling. All of our documents 
are produced in accordance with our QA/QC program that includes robust reviews and sign-off of documents by senior 
technical staff of all reports, tables, figures and graphs. This ensures that you will receive quality reports summarizing field 
activities, results and trends.  

4.6 Assist with Design of New Beach Water Quality Monitoring Plan 
RES will work closely with the City to evaluate, refine, and enhance the existing Beach Water Quality Monitoring Plan. Our 
team’s extensive experience in scientific sampling, data analysis, and regulatory compliance ensures that we can design a 
program that is scientifically robust, cost effective, and aligned with public health goals.  
With our local presence, we bring firsthand knowledge of seasonal water quality variations, pollution sources, and site-specific 
challenges in the Florida Keys. This will allow us to recommend a customized monitoring strategy that effectively captures both 
baseline conditions and emerging water quality concerns.  
We will conduct a comprehensive evaluation of the City’s existing beach water quality monitoring efforts, focusing on sampling 
locations and frequency, laboratory methods, data management and reporting efficiency. Our local expertise will allow us to 
identify opportunities for increased efficiency and accuracy while ensuring compliance with state and federal regulations. RES 
will assess the feasibility of integrating new technologies to improve monitoring accuracy and response times, including rapid 
bacterial detection methods to reduce the turnaround time for public health advisories, real-time sensors and automated 
samples for continuous monitoring, and DNA source tracking techniques to identify whether bacteria originate from human, 
wildlife, or stormwater sources. These innovations will be evaluated for cost-effective and feasibility within the City’s operational 
framework. We will work closely with local, state, and federal agencies to ensure that the new monitoring plan aligns with the 
latest scientific standards and public health guidelines.  

4.7 Operations Plan 
RES and our subcontractors will implement a structured, efficient, and technically rigorous water quality monitoring and 
management program that aligns with the City’s environmental goals. This Operations Plan outlines how the work will be 
executed through organized staffing, robust QA/QC procedures, efficient scheduling, and strategic equipment use.  
4.7.1 Organization and coordination of field staff and support staff 
The field team will be led by RES, with support from Eurofins and WSP. The project will be overseen by Gary Serviss, who will 
serve as Project Manager. Gary will dedicate ~40% of his time to this project, ensuring seamless coordination and task 
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execution. Field sampling responsibilities will be rotated among RES, Eurofins, and WSP, ensuring consistent staffing coverage 
and maximizing the combined expertise of all three firms. Each team will include at least two trained field personnel, one of 
whom will be an FDEP-certified sampler. Junnio Freixa, the project field supervisor, will provide cross-team coordination, spot 
check, and quality oversight across all firms.  
Backup staff from each firm are pre-designated and trained to fill in when needed to provide a critical level of redundancy. In 
the event of illness, the alternate field staff will be deployed with no interruption to the sampling schedule. If illness or 
emergency affects an entire scheduled team, the next firm in the rotation will step in to cover responsibilities. Bi-weekly 
coordination meetings will occur to ensure consistent communication and handoff of responsibilities between firms for the 
upcoming sampling week. A shared calendar and sampling tracker will be maintained (i.e. SharePoint, Zoom) to track rotation 
schedules, assignments, and deliverables. 
4.7.2 Scheduling activities 
Sampling will occur Monday through Thursday. Schedules will be structured to optimize efficiency, account for tides, and meet 
holding time requirements. In the event of severe weather, high winds, or unsafe marine conditions, sampling will be postponed 
for up to 48 hours. Contingency days will be built into the calendar to accommodate rescheduling needs. If weather conditions 
persist beyond 48 hours, RES will consult with the City to prioritize critical sites or temporarily modify the sampling plan. The 
schedule will be adjusted for holidays to maintain the required sample frequency. Rotation may shift to accommodate 
shortened weeks, with advance notification to all parties.  
4.7.3 Field data entry, QA, and correction procedures, Quality Assurance/Quality Control Methods 
Field data will be collected digitally using ArcGIS Field Maps on ruggedized tables, with waterproof paper datasheets as a 
backup. Field staff will input data in real time, including site conditions, measurements, and field notes. Field leads will review 
and upload data to the shared platform. RES QA/QC officer will conduct bi-weekly audits for completeness, consistency, and 
compliance. Errors will be flagged and corrected within 24 hours, with documentation of revisions maintained in a central 
database. Duplicate samples and field blanks will be conducted per FDEP SOPs. Meters will be calibrated before use and after 
use for continued calibration verification. Calibration records will be logged in field notebooks and electronically. All field data 
will be cross-referenced with lab COC forms to ensure traceability.  
4.7.4 Project Management and Communications Methods 
Gary Serviss will coordinate the project and oversee team performance, data quality, and coordination across firms. He will 
serve as the primary liaison to the City and regulatory agencies. If Gary is unavailable due to illness or other unforeseen 
circumstances, Junnio Freixa will serve as his backup. There will be bi-weekly virtual check-in calls with all three firms and City 
representatives via video conference to plan for the sampling week ahead and discuss the prior week’s sampling. RES will utilize 
SharePoint for real-time data sharing, document collaboration and progress tracking. All schedule changes, weather delays, or 
quality issues will be reported within 24 hours to the City. RES will compile and QA all field and lab data before submitting 
reports.  

4.7.5 Equipment 
Each firm will provide their own equipment and vehicles. All equipment will comply with FDEP SOPs and undergo regular 
maintenance and calibration.  
Available equipment includes:  

• Multi-parameter meters (YSI 556) 
• Turbidity meters (Lamotte 2020E) 
• Van Dorn or equivalent water samplers 

• Tablets with ArcGIS Field Maps 
• Cooler, ice packs, sterile bottles 

(provided by Eurofins) 

• 2021 21’ Parker  
• Jon Boat 
• Field Vehicles 

Each firm will maintain and calibrate their equipment according to the manufacturer and FDEP guidelines. Backup meters or 
supplies are available or will be rented in case of equipment failure. Equipment logs and calibration sheets will be stored 
electronically and reviewed monthly.  
4.7.6 QA/QC Methods and Quality Assurance Manual  
Please see attached appendix. 
4.7.7 Laboratory Analyses 
Eurofins Marathon laboratory will perform all lab analysis and will coordinate sample transport, processing, and results 
reporting. Eurofins is a NELAP-accredited laboratory, capable of running full suites of water quality parameters. They can meet 
detection limits and methods outlined in the Florida Keys Reasonable Assurance Document and accept same-day sample drop-
off, ensuring rapid turnaround for time-sensitive analyses. COC will be maintained from field to final reports. .  
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5.0 Other Information / Value Added Options / Contract 
Deviations/ Other Clients/ Local Familiarity 

5.1 Value Added Options 
RES, along with its partners Eurofins and WSP, offers several value-added options to increase efficiency, accuracy, and long-
term success of the water quality monitoring program: 

• Integrated Data Management Systems: Implementation of centralized, cloud-based dashboards for real-time 
data review and reporting. This enhances transparency, simplifies data sharing with City staff, and enables adaptive 
management.  

• Resilient Scheduling and Staffing Model: The rotational field team model ensures consistent coverage, and built-
in contingencies for staff illness or severe weather events allow for continuity without compromising data integrity.  

• In-house Expertise: RES employs certified arborists, biologists, engineers, scientists and water quality specialists 
offering the City access to a range of knowledge to assist with developing recommendations.  

• Regulatory Insight: Our team includes former agency staff and permitting specialists who can assist in aligning the 
program with current and emerging regulatory standards.  

• Community Engagement Support: RES can support outreach efforts, including public-facing dashboards or 
interpretive materials that enhance community understanding of water quality trends and their importance.  

5.2 Familiarity with City of Key West 
RES has an established presence in the Florida Keys, with the project manager based in Key Largo and frequent activity 
throughout Monroe County, including in and around Key West. RES has conducted seagrass, benthic habitat, and water 
quality assessments throughout the Florida Keys, including nearshore and upland environments. We understand the nuances 
of working in coral protection zones, the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary areas, and within City-managed 
infrastructure.  

Additionally, Eurofins and WSP have a presence throughout the Florida Keys. Our team is highly familiar with the unique 
challenges of working in the island environment, including limited staging space, boating logistics, and heightened 
environmental sensitivities.  

5.3 Completed Projects 
Water quality monitoring is a RES core competency. RES and its partners have completed numerous relevant projects across 
the country and in the Florida Keys. Please see the project descriptions provided in sections 2 and 3 of this submittal. 

5.4 Additional information required 
To facilitate efficient setup and data integration, RES requests the following from the City:  

• Historical sampling data, if available, in Excel or CSV format. 
• Existing GIS datasets related to outfalls, waterbodies, and infrastructure.  
• Access to designated sampling sites, including any gate codes or permissions for restricted areas.  

5.5 Potential conflicts of interest 
RES has not identified any real or potential conflicts of interest in performing the tasks outlined in this proposal for the City. 

5.6 Proposed contract deviations 
None. 
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6.0 Cost Effectiveness 
RES is pleased to provide the following cost schedule for the duration of the project. The cost breakdown below outlines all 
rates associated with the required services and deliverables, in accordance with the defined scope of Services.  

Cost Schedule by Task 

Task number Task Description Total Cost 

1 Review current relevant data across GOCs and Identify Opportunities $5,124 

2 Identify Actions that may Mitigate Pollutants $5,649 

3 Design Water Quality Monitoring Programs $11,907 

4 Increase Availability of Recent Beach Reports (includes lab processing 
and reporting by Eurofins) 

$81,241 

5 Increase Community Knowledge of Data/ Beach Report Implications $11,361 

6 Assist with Design of New Beach Water Quality Monitoring Plan $11,382 

Totals $126,664 
 
At this time, RES does not anticipate any reimbursable expenses or additional costs beyond those outlined above.  
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7.0 Project Schedule and Deliverables 
The project will begin upon a Notice to Proceed (NTP), with a proposed 12-month monitoring cycle. RES, Eurofins, and WSP 
will implement a rotational sampling approach with clear roles and redundancies to ensure continuity in the face of weather 
delays, equipment issues, or staff unavailability.  

Water quality sampling will occur bi-weekly, for a total of 26 sampling events per year. RES, Eurofins, and WSP will alternate 
field responsibilities in a consistent rotation (i.e. every third sampling event). If a firm is unable to complete a scheduled 
event due to staff illness or unforeseen conflict, another firm will step in to maintain schedule continuity. Sampling schedules 
will account for holidays and inclement weather, with buffer windows built into each week of sampling. If unsafe conditions 
(i.e. tropical storm watches, heavy lightning) prevent fieldwork, sampling will be postponed up to 48 hours. Missed events 
due to extreme weather will be documented and, if possible, rescheduled within the same week.  

Throughout the monitoring cycle, RES will produce key deliverables, including a Recommendations Report, Mitigation 
Strategies Report, Water Quality Monitoring Program Plan, ArcGIS StoryMap, community outreach materials, and the New 
Beach Water Quality Monitoring Plan. Below is a summary of the proposed schedule and deliverables. 

Schedule Summary 
Task Deliverable Frequency Lead Duration 

Task 1 Project Kickoff Once RES Week 1 
Review of data and Recommendations 
Report 

Once RES Six weeks 

Presentation to City Commission Once RES At next available monthly meeting 
after completion of 
recommendations 

Task 2 Mitigation Strategies Report Once RES One month 
Presentation to City Commission Once RES At next available monthly meeting 

after completion of mitigation 
strategy list 

Task 3 Water Quality Monitoring Program Plan Once RES Two months 
Presentation to City Commission Once RES At next available monthly meeting 

after completion of Water Quality 
Monitoring Program Plan 

Task 4 Water Sampling Bi-Weekly RES, Eurofins, 
WSP 

12 months 

Lab Analysis Bi-Weekly Eurofins 12 months 
Public Dashboard Updates/ ArcGIS 
StoryMap 

Bi-Weekly RES 12 months  

Summary Reports Quarterly RES 12 months 
Task 5 Public Dashboard/ ArcGIS StoryMap Once RES  Two Months 

Community Outreach Materials Quarterly RES and City 12 months 
Task 6 New Beach Water Quality Monitoring 

Plan 
Once RES and City Three months 
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8.0 Litigation 
8.1 Shareholders with greater than 5% ownership 
None. 

8.2 List of Officers and Directors 
Rodger Wiederkehr, President, CEO; Lorne Phillips, Chief Financial Officer; Sam Burley, General Counsel. 

8.3 Years of operations and years operating under the same name 
RES has been in operation under the same name for 18 years. 

8.4 Answers to questions 
8.4.1 a. Has the person, principals, entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed by any 

of its officers, major shareholders or directors, ever failed to complete work or provide the goods 
for which it has contracted? If yes, provide details; 

No. 

8.4.2 b. Are there any judgments, claims, arbitration proceeding or suits pending or outstanding against 
the person, principal of the entity, or entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed 
by any of its officers, directors, or general partners? If yes, provide details; 

No. 

8.4.3 c. Has the person, principal of the entity, entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or 
directed by any of its officers, major shareholders or directors, within the last 5 years, been a party 
to any lawsuit, arbitration, or mediation with regard to a contract for services, goods or 
construction services similar to those requested in the specifications with private or public entities?  

No. 
8.4.4 d. Has the person, principal of the entity, or any entity previously owned, operated or directed by 

any of its officers, owners, partners, major shareholders or directors, ever initiated litigation 
against the City or been sued by the City in connection with a contract to provide services, goods 
or construction services? If yes, provide details; 

No. 

8.4.5 e. Whether, within the last 5 years, the owner, an officer, general partner, principal, controlling 
shareholder or major creditor of the person or entity was an officer, director, general partner, 
principal, controlling shareholder or major creditor of any other entity that failed to perform 
services or furnish goods similar to those sought in the request for competitive solicitation; 

No. 
8.4.6 f. Customer references, including name, current address, current telephone number; 
Peter Frezza 
86800 Overseas Highway 
Islamorada, Florida 33036 
(305) 664-6467 | 
peter.frezza@islamorada.fl.us 

Todd Hiteshew  
949 NW 38th Street 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 
(954) 828-4357 | 
thiteshew@fortlauderdale.gov 

Justin Dacey 
1100 Kennedy Drive 
Key West, FL 33040 
305.295.2151 
jdacey@fkaa.com 

8.4.7 g. Credit References, including name, current address, current telephone number 
Aon Premium Finance, LLC 
200 E. Randolph Street 
Attn: Accounts Receivable 
Chicago, IL 60601 
303.305.5287 

First Horizon 
11 Greenway Plaza, Suite 2700, 
Houston, TX 77046 
Alison Lyons 
713.624.1384 

Bank of America, N.A. | BofA Securities, Inc. 
Matt Welch 
matt.a.welch@bofa.com 
W: 713.247.6069 |  
M: 832.294.9329 

8.4.8 h. Financial statements for the prior three years for the responding entity 
Please see RES’ last three years of financial statements provided as an appendix.  
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9.0 City Forms 
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10.0 Project Location and Local Preference 
RES does not have an office within 30 miles of the City of Key West and cannot apply for local preference status. 

 

 



Resumes 
  



 

Gary Serviss, LEED AP 
Project Manager 
Gary specializes in water quality and hydrologic assessments, wetlands evaluation and 
classification, mitigation design, wildlife evaluations, and environmental monitoring. 
He has designed and coordinated numerous environmental investigations to study 
complex problems and gaining valuable technical and project management 
experience. As an expert witness, Gary is sought after for testimony on environmental 
constraints, bald eagles, and wetland impacts. 

SELECT WORK EXPERIENCE 

Beach Outfalls Water Quality Improvement Project BMP Evaluation, Venice, FL 
The City of Venice has multiple stormwater outfalls which discharge untreated storm 
water directly into the Gulf of Mexico. The City began conducting extensive water 
sampling and monitoring after numerous beach advisories were issued at Venice 
Beach due to elevated levels of fecal indicator bacteria. To combat this problem the 
City installed two diversion pump systems and a bio-retention BMP that is a combination of a shallow, vegetated dry pond 
and infiltration trench. Gary served as Project Manager for the efficiency evaluation project that included the sampling 
design, final site selection and a storm event monitoring program. Services included: preparing and obtaining FDEP approval 
of a Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP); installation of autosamplers, rain gauges, and continuous stage equipment at 
two sites; website development for real time data access; and flow-weighted composite sampling of 10 storm events. Event 
mean concentrations, pollutant loads, and pollutant removal efficiencies were calculated, and a final report prepared. 

Celery Fields Regional Stormwater Facility (CFRSF), BMP Treatment Effectiveness, Sarasota County, FL 
Upon completion of the final phase of its premier stormwater treatment and flood control facility, Sarasota County was 
required to demonstrate to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) that the stated pollutant load 
removal was being achieved. Gary was the Project Manager for this two-year best management practices study to quantify 
the effectiveness of the treatment of stormwater runoff. This study included preparation and FDEP approval of a QAPP; 
mobilization and installation of seven sites with continuous stage and/or velocity meters; ISCO automatic water quality 
samplers, dataloggers, modems/telemetry equipment, solar panels and shelters; real-time data display website; a time of 
travel study; collection of seventeen composite water quality samples for storm or baseflow events; flow discharge 
measurements and rating curve development for all sites; preparation of quarterly data reports containing calculated 
discharge, rainfall, water quality and pollutant removal efficiency results; and a comprehensive final report. 

Englewood CRA Low Impact Development BMP Evaluation, Sarasota County, FL 
The Englewood CRA commercial district discharged untreated stormwater runoff directly into the Lemon Bay Aquatic 
Preserve.  The County installed a stormwater retrofit using green infrastructure techniques, including retention and detention 
bioswales with both native plants and/or turf grass, and pollutant-reducing media in tubes.  Gary is the Project Manager for 
this BMP study to quantify the effectiveness of the treatment of stormwater runoff by the various bioswales. This study 
included identification of the monitoring sites and mobilization and installation of two sites with continuous stage and 
velocity meters, ISCO automatic water quality samplers, rain gauges, modems/telemetry equipment, solar panels and 
shelters; installation of two groundwater wells with continuous stage recorders; installation of a stage recorder in a cistern: 
and installation of a flow measurement device on the cistern irrigation pump. The monitoring program includes the 
collection of six composite storm event water quality samples; discharge and stage measurements; seasonal groundwater 
and cistern water quality sampling; preparation of monthly data reports; and a comprehensive final report. 

GOAA, Proactive Positioning on Water Quality Issues, Orange County, FL 
Gary is the Project Manager and Principal Scientist for the development of a strategy to address existing and future water 
quality regulations relative to airport properties for the Greater Orlando Aviation Authority (GOAA). The proactive 

AT A GLANCE 

Contact 
gserviss@res.us | 281.254.7179 

Years of Experience 
42 years 

Education 
• MS, Biological Sciences 
• BS, Marine Biology  

Certificates | Licenses 
• LEED Accredited Professional, 

2009 
• Certified Wetland Delineator, 

1996 
• Open Water Diver, PADI 

Certified, 1976  



  
positioning on water quality issues included services to evaluate and inform GOAA on potential concerns to their properties 
from the pending numeric nutrient rules. Existing water quality data was reviewed, nearby “verified impaired waterbody” 
locations were identified, established Total Maximum Daily Loads were evaluated, and ongoing and completed Basin 
Management Action Plans were assessed. Following review and evaluation of this information, GOAA’s risks relative to 
verified and potential water quality concerns was determined based upon their properties’ position in each watershed. VHB 
provided recommendations on regulatory processes and efforts in which GOAA should participate, as well as data collection 
efforts that would support sound planning and decision making. 

Sarasota County Stormwater Management, Sarasota County, FL 
Project Manager to coordinate flow monitoring and rating curve development.  Perform monthly flow measurements at 21 
stream sites.  In addition to the regular monthly inspections, two high flow events were also measured to capture a full range 
of flow events.  Stage data collected hourly from the County’s gaging stations was obtained, QA/QC performed, and the 
data processed to develop standard USGS primary computations and discharge calculations. The work has continued for a 
five-year period with different stations and sampling frequencies.  

Clam Bayou Stormwater Treatment Project Performance Efficiency Evaluation, Pinellas County, FL 
The SWFWMD constructed three stormwater treatment ponds to treat runoff from an urban watershed prior to its discharge 
into Clam Bayou. Gary was Project Manager for the design and collection of storm event and baseflow samples to quantify 
the performance of each pond relative to nutrient and other pollutant removal. The sampling considerations were 
complicated since they were regularly subject to tidal fluctuations. VHB assisted in the preparation of a QAPP; developed 
the monitoring program design and installed monitoring equipment at six sites (each of which included a rain gauge, velocity 
meter, automatic sampler, shelter and solar panel); obtained continuous stage, discharge, and rainfall data; sampled of eight 
storm events and three baseflow events; completed data management; and authored a final report. 

McIntosh Park Enhanced Stormwater Treatment Wetland BMP Evaluation, Hillsborough County, FL   
The SWFWMD constructed the Enhanced Stormwater Treatment Wetland system that includes a series a sump, created 
wetland, and alum injection in succession. Gary served as Project Manager for the BMP efficiency evaluation project that 
included the design and execution of a hydrological and water quality monitoring program for a two year period. Services 
included: preparing QAPP; installation of equipment at four sites and rainfall; website development for real time data access; 
discharge measurements and rating curve development; continuous stage, discharge, in situ water quality and rainfall; 
automatic sampling of 23 storm and base flow events; and quarterly data reports. Event mean concentrations, pollutant 
loads, and pollutant removal efficiencies were calculated for each BMP and the overall project. The final report made 
recommendations on the design and sequence of BMPs and stormwater monitoring programs. 

Springs Inventory and Flow Evaluation in Kings Bay, Crystal River, FL 
Gary managed a three-phase project for SWFWMD to inventory, document, and evaluate discharge from the numerous 
spring vents in Kings Bay. The initial phase involved the field inventory of previously documented springs. For the second 
phase VHB obtained flow and in situ water quality measurements to quantify spring discharge from submerged spring vents 
for the District in its efforts to establish a Minimum Flow for Kings Bay. The efforts in the second phase were repeated in 
Phase 3 and three springs were repeatedly measured over two tidal cycles. 

Quantification of Ungauged Groundwater Discharge to Spring-Fed Rivers, Citrus County, FL 
Gary managed a study for SWFWMD to quantify ungauged groundwater contributions for the Chassahowitzka, Crystal and 
Homosassa Rivers in a systematic and consistent manner to assist in establishing minimum flows and levels (MFLs) for these 
systems. VHB initially conducted a field reconnaissance to identify the best locations and methods to conduct discharge 
measurements for each river system. A total of six transects (two in each system) downstream of the mainspring and 
bracketing defined reaches were measured using Acoustic Doppler Current Profilers over a partial tidal cycle along with 
along with readings of water levels at reference points. Analysis of the initial data resulted in the relocation of one transect 
in Crystal River and the deletion of monitoring in the Homosassa River. The study was repeated with an extended flow 
measurement window for an entire tidal cycle for all transects. The measurement results and conclusions were provided in 
Summary Letter Reports. 

Hydrobiological Monitoring Program and Salinity Modeling, Parrish, FL 
Gary is Project Manager for an eight-year project that involved the design and execution of a Hydrobiological Monitoring 
Program (HBMP) for the Little Manatee River relative to potential surface water withdrawals by FPL’s Manatee County Plant. 
Services included preparation and District approval of an HBMP; selection, design, and installation of two stations with 



  
continuous stage, temperature, conductivity and salinity recording devices; baseline and subsequent aerial photography 
and habitat mapping; continuous stage, temperature, conductivity, and salinity data collection for eight years; equipment 
maintenance; data reports; salinity modeling and trend analysis; and interpretative reports. Also, as part of FDEP’s permit 
requirements for FPL’s withdrawal of river water for cooling requirements, VHB monitors and analyzes salinity and 
temperature regimes in the Little Manatee River at two sites (US41 and I-75). VHB is responsible for modeling and analysis 
of salinity impacts as well as providing and interpreting changes in georectified FCIR aerial photography at periodic intervals. 
The data are summarized and presented in data and interpretive reports on an alternating basis every two years. In addition, 
two periods of emergency withdrawals during 2006, 2007/2008 and 2011 required an additional analysis of the effects of 
withdrawals on the salinity in the river. 

 



 

Mary Szafraniec, PhD, PWS 
Director, Water Quality Initiatives 
Dr. Mary Szafraniec’s extensive ecological assessment and 
restoration background includes design and implementation of 
marine and freshwater ecological monitoring and assessments, 
watershed pollutant evaluation and restoration, and within-system 
ecological restoration such as sediment removal or inactivation, 
hydrologic alteration, invasive vegetation or algae removal, and 

native vegetation planting. Dr. Szafraniec has 20+ years of experience designing 
ecological studies analyzing and characterizing water quality, hydrologic regime, and 
biological community structure to assess the effects of anthropogenic and 
hydrological modifications on ecosystem response, and to determine the effectiveness 
of restoration activities. She has been deeply involved in the movement to expand the 
use of stream restoration as a Best Management Practice (BMP) to improve water 
quality in Florida for over 10 years and has helped develop methods to establish water 
quality credits for stream restoration.   
SELECT WORK EXPERIENCE 
Wilson Ranch Stream and Wetland Restoration Project, Polk County, FL  
As technical advisor, Mary is providing technical expertise for the development and 
implementation of a full delivery public-private partnership project with Polk County 
to improve water quality and hydrologic conditions in the highly impaired Upper 
Peace River Basin, that feeds Charlotte Harbor Estuary. RES acquired a 400+ acre parcel 
to implement a stream and wetland restoration project that will reduce approximately 
one metric ton of total phosphorus and two metric tons of total nitrogen. RES is designing, building, maintaining, and 
monitoring the project.  Once constructed, RES will own and operate the project for 25 years before the project is transferred 
to Polk County.  

Pearce Drain/Gap Creek, Bowlees Creek and Mill Creek Water Quality Studies, Manatee County, Florida 
As Project Manager, Mary conducted three Surface Water Resource Assessments (SWRAs) as part of Watershed 
Management Plans (WMPs) to assess water quality conditions and potential impacts in Pearce Drain, Gap Creek, Bowlees 
Creek and Mill Creek in Manatee County. The studies included collection and statistical analysis of water quality, an 
evaluation of groundwater data, development of pollutant load models, and preliminary stream assessments. The water 
quality study results were used to develop conceptual designs and cost estimates of stormwater BMP and stream restoration 
projects. One of the BMPs that was recommended for the Pearce Drain/Gap Creek SWRA that the County chose for further 
conceptual design development was the Collins Dairy Drain (CDD) Stream Restoration Project. The CDD plan included a 
meandering natural channel with regionally appropriate bottomland forest floodplains. The proposed design allowed for 
addition of a trail. The water quality study and stream assessment showed that a cumulative benefit approach that combined 
stream and wetland restoration throughout the headwaters, enhanced treatment of nutrients in existing ponds that 
discharge to the creeks, and widespread implementation of LID projects throughout the watersheds would most effectively 
address water quality, erosion, and flooding issues in the surrounding watersheds.  

Joe's Creek Stream Restoration, Pinellas County, Florida 
As Project Manager, Mary directed a stream restoration project for a channelized segment of Joe's Creek, which experienced 
erosion and bank failure due to steep banks and rapidly changing water levels from draining its highly urbanized watershed. 
Directed efforts to assess erosion impacts, perform stream assessment, prepare and compare conceptual design alternatives, 
and a preliminary engineering design report. Water quality in the creek was assessed with trend analysis, correlations, and 
comparisons to NNC. While Joe's Creek is not impaired, the County desired to include nutrient removal with stream design 
to protect downstream waters. Two-dimensional hydraulic modeling was performed to compare shear stresses in three 
conceptual stream restoration designs (hard-armor, reducing bank slopes, and natural channel design). The natural channel 
design, which used Florida-specific stream restoration concepts to develop a floodplain and natural stream properties, 
outperformed the other options. Mary conducted a public forum to explain and discuss study findings and conceptual 
designs to the Joe's Creek community and incorporated public feedback into final deliverables.  

AT A GLANCE. 

Contact 
mszafraniec@res.us | 813.748.3625 

Years of Experience 
21 years 

Education 
• Ph.D. Environmental Engineering 

Sciences 
• Graduate Certificate in Wetlands 

Science 
• MS Environmental Engineering 

Sciences 
• BS Biology 
• ACOE Stream Corridor 

Restoration Course 
• PSU EPP 221 – River Restoration 

Physical Processes Course  
Certificates | Licenses 
• Professional Wetland Scientist, 

No. 2182 
• FDEP Stream Condition Index 
• FDEP Habitat Assessment 
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Corporate Charter Registration 
  



Document Number
FEI/EIN Number
Date Filed
Effective Date
State
Status
Last Event
Event Date Filed
Event Effective Date

Department of State /  Division of Corporations /  Search Records /  Search by Entity Name /

Detail by Entity Name
Florida Limited Liability Company
RES FLORIDA CONSULTING, LLC

Filing Information

L22000019779
59-3667002
01/19/2022

08/29/2000
FL

ACTIVE
LC AMENDMENT
01/25/2023

NONE

Principal Address

34 E. Pine Street
Orlando, FL 32801

Changed: 08/15/2024

Mailing Address

6575 WEST LOOP SOUTH - STE. 300
BELLAIRE, TX 77401

Changed: 02/14/2022

Registered Agent Name & Address

CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY
1201 HAYS STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301-2525

Name Changed: 02/14/2022

Address Changed: 02/14/2022

Authorized Person(s) Detail

Name & Address

Title MGR

RESOURCE ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, LLC
6575 WEST LOOP SOUTH - STE. 300
BELLAIRE, TX 77401

Title MGR

Freedman, Justin
34 E. Pine Street
Orlando, FL 32801

Title Assistant Vice President

Partlow, Peter
34 E. Pine Street
Orlando, FL 32801

Title Assistant Vice President

Orioles, James (Jim)
34 E. Pine Street
Orlando, FL 32801

Annual Reports

Report Year Filed Date
2024 02/08/2024
2024 05/01/2024
2025 02/11/2025

Document Images

02/11/2025 -- ANNUAL REPORT View image in PDF format

08/15/2024 -- AMENDED ANNUAL REPORT View image in PDF format

05/08/2024 -- AMENDED ANNUAL REPORT View image in PDF format

Division of CorporationsFlorida Department of State

4/1/25, 4:10 PM Detail by Entity Name

https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/SearchResultDetail?inquirytype=EntityName&directionType=Initial&searchNameOrder=RESFLOR… 1/2

http://dos.myflorida.com/
http://dos.myflorida.com/sunbiz/
http://dos.myflorida.com/sunbiz/search/
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ByName
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-6dfe321f-2ade-42f2-bde5-09b2997baf7d&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-6dfe321f-2ade-42f2-bde5-09b2997baf7d&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-81586eac-84e7-4d63-b809-0f1d8d426c55&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-81586eac-84e7-4d63-b809-0f1d8d426c55&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-43f9975e-b257-4fb7-a487-01989d89eb75&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-43f9975e-b257-4fb7-a487-01989d89eb75&formatType=PDF
http://dos.myflorida.com/sunbiz/
http://dos.myflorida.com/


05/01/2024 -- AMENDED ANNUAL REPORT View image in PDF format

02/08/2024 -- ANNUAL REPORT View image in PDF format

01/30/2023 -- ANNUAL REPORT View image in PDF format

01/25/2023 -- LC Amendment View image in PDF format

10/05/2022 -- LC Amendment View image in PDF format

02/14/2022 -- CORLCRACHG View image in PDF format

01/19/2022 -- Florida Limited Liability View image in PDF format

Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations

4/1/25, 4:10 PM Detail by Entity Name

https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/SearchResultDetail?inquirytype=EntityName&directionType=Initial&searchNameOrder=RESFLOR… 2/2

https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-45f83904-79e0-47aa-a4ab-8ac088cab877&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-45f83904-79e0-47aa-a4ab-8ac088cab877&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-b826229c-9c58-40c4-ae26-7f0430a0012b&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-b826229c-9c58-40c4-ae26-7f0430a0012b&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-f61fb78f-bdc9-4685-943a-3131c339fa5f&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/GetDocument?aggregateId=flal-l22000019779-1db7c8b2-002a-40b2-801e-0ec980d823ca&transactionId=l22000019779-f61fb78f-bdc9-4685-943a-3131c339fa5f&formatType=PDF
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2023%5C0127%5C01248324.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2023%5C0127%5C01248324.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2022%5C1010%5C95229036.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2022%5C1010%5C95229036.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2022%5C0224%5C81014124.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2022%5C0224%5C81014124.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2022%5C0120%5C78616729.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
https://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ConvertTiffToPDF?storagePath=COR%5C2022%5C0120%5C78616729.Tif&documentNumber=L22000019779
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Lab
Equipment Location 
(Thermometers 
Only)

Equipment (ID) Equipment Description Manufacturer Model or Part Number/Serial 
Number

FL KEYS 3004 Stir/Hot plate Corning model PC-320
FL KEYS 3009 Scout Pro Balance Ohaus 7129321756
FL KEYS 3010 Meter Abridged VWR SympHony D02431
FL KEYS 3013 Air Pump Whisper 100 Tetra
FL KEYS 3015 DSL Modem Motorola 13AK09018188
FL KEYS 3016 Telephone GE 80011425
FL KEYS 3038 IR Thermometer Commercial Elactric MS6530H
FL KEYS 3039 Oakton pH Oakton 2122957
FL KEYS 3041 YSI BOD Probe YSI 16B100359
FL KEYS 3043 UV Lamp RayTech 10074
FL KEYS 3044 balance
FL KEYS 3046 IDEXX Sealer IDEXX 13220201164
FL KEYS 415 Fecal Coliform Bath 2860 Thermo 201844-174
FL KEYS 525 Fisher 750G Oven Fisher Scientific 804N0018
FL KEYS 532 BOD Incubator Model 11-679-25C fisher 2.01808E+12
FL KEYS 3045 Water Bath Precision GP28 Thermo Sci 300562310
FL KEYS INC1995 Fisher Iso Temp Fisher
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                                                34 East Pine Street 
Orlando, FL 32801 

 
Corporate Headquarters 

6575 West Loop South, Suite 300 
Bellaire, TX 77401 

Main: 713.520.5400 
 

        res.us 

2025 Fee Schedule 
Personnel  
Category Hourly Rate 

Director $260 

Project Manager, Senior $250 

Project Manager III $210 

Project Manager II $180 

Project Manager I $140 

Estimator $120 

Ecologist V/Geologist V/Scientist V $263 

Ecologist IV/Geologist IV/Scientist IV $210 

Ecologist III/Geologist III/Scientist III $168 

Ecologist II/Geologist II/Scientist II $126 

Ecologist I/Geologist I/Scientist I $105 

Restoration Manager $120 

Restoration Supervisor $110 

Restoration Technician I $90 

Engineer V $273 

Engineer IV $242 

Engineer III $210 

Engineer II $158 

Engineer I $126 

Surveyor, Senior $165 

Survey Technician $125 

GIS-CAD III $200 

GIS-CAD II $158 

GIS-CAD I $116 

Administrative Staff $86 
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Expert Testimony 
Preparation and time spent in support of expert testimony will be charged at two times the standard rates. 

Escalation for Multi-Year Contracts 
Escalation labor rates will apply one year after the effective date of the contract. The escalation labor rate will be 3% per 
category per year.  

Subcontracts 
Subcontract services will be invoiced at our cost multiplied by 1.15.  

Expenses 
Direct non-salary expenses incurred by the project and not applicable to general overhead will be invoiced at our cost 
multiplied by 1.15. Examples of direct expenses include project supplies, travel and lodging.  

Automobiles used on projects will be charged at a mileage rate of $0.75 per mile, $17/hour or a minimum daily rate of $75.  

Please see the attached list of equipment and subsequent usage charges. 
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EQUIPMENT UNIT RATE 

ORGANIC VAPOR ANALYZER DAY $100.00 

WATER LEVEL INDICATOR DAY $25.00 

OIL WATER INTERFACE PROBE DAY $50.00 

PERISTALTIC PUMP DAY $30.00 

WATER QUALITY MULTIMETER DAY $110.00 

TURBIDITY METER DAY $30.00 

MEASURING WHEEL DAY $10.00 

DRONE (DJI PHANTOM 4 PRO)  DAY $100.00 

HAND AUGER  DAY $10.00 

MAGNETIC MANHOLE PULLER DAY $10.00 

SURVEY EQUIPMENT DAY $50.00 

TRIMBLE GPS DAY $50.00 

SOCKET SET DAY $5.00 

TOOLBOX  DAY $10.00 

REMEDIATION SYSTEM O&M TOOL KIT DAY $10.00 

PORTABLE CHARGER DAY $10.00 

DISCRETE WATER SAMPLER DAY $20.00 

TRUPULSE LASER DAY $20.00 

FIELD LAPTOP DAY $50.00 

TABLET DAY $7.00 

CAMERAS DAY $10.00 

2-WAY RADIO DAY $10.00 

AQUATIC KIT DAY $25.00 

SCUBA GEAR DAY $100.00 

WETLAND SURVEY KIT DAY $25.00 

TORTOISE SURVEY KIT DAY $25.00 

HIP CHAIN DAY $10.00 

SNORKEL EQUIPMENT DAY $25.00 

LEVEL "D"  DAY $30.00 

MODIFIED LEVEL "D" DAY $15.00 

CALIBRATION GASES, FLUIDS DAY $25.00 

SILICONE TUBING FOOT $2.00 

POLYETHYLENE TUBING FOOT $0.20 
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EQUIPMENT UNIT RATE 

DISPOSAL BAILERS EACH $9.00 

SURVEY STAKES/PIN FLAGS EACH $10.00 

FIELD SOIL SAMPLING KIT DAY $30.00 

GROUNDWATER SAMPLING KIT EACH $35.00 

FREE PRODUCT RECOVERY KIT DAY $140.00 

MONITOR WELL INSTALLATION KIT DAY $225.00 

22' PARKER BOAT DAY $500.00 

22' PARKER BOAT WITH CAPTAIN DAY $1,000.00 

JON BOAT DAY $300 

JON BOAT WITH CAPTAIN DAY $800.00 

ROV WITH OPERATOR DAY $1,000.00 
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 Quality Assurance 
At RES, our employees are committed to delivering solutions in a competent and timely manner. We empower 
our employees to adhere to ethical and professional standards that create an environment where quality is 
the focus. 

Resource Environmental Solutions (RES) has adopted the foregoing Quality Statement for Region 8 - Florida. It is our 
intention that our staff understand that they are responsible for producing a quality product or service. We have established 
a system of quality assurance (QA) functions, that provide for review and documentation of project activities by Project 
Managers, Subject Matter Experts (SMEs), Division Managers, Quality Assurance Reviewers (QARs), the Quality Assurance 
Officer (QAO), and the General Manager. The relationships of these functions are described in this Quality Assurance Manual 
(QAM) and in appropriate position description policies. 

RES provides advisory services for engineering, ecological, and environmental consulting, mitigation bank development and 
operations and integrated ecological project delivery solutions for public and private entities. This manual addresses the 
practices and activities associated with producing and verifying the quality of RES’ work products. 

The system of functions and controls established in this manual are applicable to the scope of services and products 
generally provided by RES. When required by the Project Manager, Division Manager, QAR, regulatory agency or by contract, 
a project-specific Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) shall be prepared to provide supplemental QA and technical 
procedures. 
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1.0 Introduction 
1.1 Purpose 
This section describes RES’ QA Program, how it is documented, and how it is to be applied. 

1.2 Scope 
The QA Program applies to the execution and delivery of technical and professional services, environmental solutions and 
work products provided by RES.  

1.3 Description 
QA encompasses those actions taken by an organization to provide confidence that the results, conclusions, 
recommendations, and products produced by its programs and projects are accurate and reliable and conform to agreed-
upon requirements and specifications, and applicable standards, laws, and regulations. The term “project” in this QAM is a 
broad term used to include all work conducted by staff for the purposes of delivering an external solution or service.  This 
term includes both opportunities and contracted work. 

To manage our operations to produce the desired quality, RES maintains a system of quality control (QC) through our 
organizational structure. Division Managers, QARs and QAO are responsible for the quality of services provided and 
implementation of the requirements of this QAM.  Project Managers are the focal point for providing quality services to our 
clients. As such, they manage the QC appropriate for their projects.  

Each project is assigned to a Project Manager who is accountable for all aspects of the project. A QAR is assigned to each 
project involving engineering or scientific evaluations, interpretation, or professional judgment. Documents (including 
emails) that are sent to outside entities that contain technical judgements, conclusions, or commitments require QAR-level 
review. The term “review” is defined as examination for acceptability. It includes examination of the accuracy, completeness, 
and soundness of a document and supporting information and includes documentation of the review.  The selected QAR 
shall have experience relevant to the area of work.  

1.3.1 Quality Assurance Manual 
The RES QA Program is described in this QAM. The requirements contained in the QAM apply to all project activities 
and are supplemented by the company’s Quality Control Manual (QCM).  

1.3.2 Stop Work Authority 
Authority to stop work is assigned to the designated QAR, Project Manager, Senior Professionals, Division Manager, 
and General Manager. This authority includes the prerogative to stop or control work to assure quality. Inherent in 
this authority is the authority to resume work when the cause of suspension has been removed or corrected. In case 
of a disagreement on a stop work decision, the decision may be referred first to the QAO, and if not resolved, to 
the General Manager. 

1.3.3 Assessment of the Quality Assurance Program by RES Management 
The measures that provide management’s periodic assessment of the status and adequacy of the RES QA Program 
are listed in Section 6.0.  
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2.0 Organization 
2.1 Purpose  
The purpose of this section is to identify RES’ organization and relationships relative to the performance of activities affecting 
quality.  

2.2 Organization 
Investigation, evaluation, assessment, design, and implementation of services subject to the requirements of this manual 
are under the direction of the General Manager. For each project, a Project Manager is assigned responsibility for the 
planning, management, and execution of RES’ services.  

QARs who have completed required training and have demonstrated appropriate skills and experience in the execution of 
relevant work are assigned a QA role within the project structure. QARs and Division Managers are responsible for reviewing 
and approving the scopes RES develops that require evaluation, interpretation, or professional judgment.  

The QAO is responsible for verifying and documenting that the specified quality control reviews, and approvals are 
maintained. This responsibility includes verification that proper practices, documentation, and reporting have occurred. The 
QAO’s verification of quality is regularly reported through the quality verification chain to the General Manager.  For the 
purposes of this QAM, “report” is a broad term used to describe any deliverables that may be generated by RES for external 
use or reliance. 

2.3 Summary of Assigned Quality Assurance Responsibilities 
The QA Program has been established by RES to assure the quality of RES’ products and services. A summary of the assigned 
quality assurance responsibilities follows below. 

2.3.1 General Manager 
The General Manager has overall responsibility for the quality of work conducted by RES employees. The General 
Manager is responsible for establishing the organizational structure of the Company consistent with RES’ quality 
objectives; supporting QA as an essential element in all functional, management, and administrative areas; 
communicating management’s commitment to quality throughout the organization; motivating personnel to 
achieve increasing levels of technical competence and achievement; and providing the resources necessary to 
support an effective, ongoing, and comprehensive QA Program.  

2.3.2 Quality Assurance Officer 
The QAO is the overall quality leader for the region and reports directly to the General Manager on matters of 
quality. These responsibilities apply on a region-wide basis. In the absence of a designated QAO, the Advisory 
Services Manager or the General Manager’s appointee shall serve in that function until such time as a QAO is 
designated. 

The QAO has responsibility for the following: 

• Technical Review – Assure that only appropriately trained and authorized QARs are assigned to projects. Serve 
as the QAR for projects that are outside of the normal scope of services provided by RES or exceed the 
experience level of QARs available. Verify that such documents have received adequate technical input from 
appropriately designated QARs or SMEs. 

• Training and Technical Development – Assure development of the training program and verify that adequate 
training is available for all employees within the region. 

• QAR Recommendations – Coordinate and monitor the progress of each QAR candidate in the Region with the 
General Manager and designated committee.  

• Quality Assurance – Assure by training, observing, and providing guidance that all personnel know, understand, 
and implement the QA functions. Provide conclusions and recommendations to the General Manager as to the 
effectiveness of implementing the QA Program and in producing quality work.  

• Quality Audits – Direct and participate in QA audits as prescribed by the General Manager. Direct or perform 
internal audits to monitor the performance in quality. 

• Quality Assurance Review Committee – Establish a committee and conduct regularly scheduled meetings to 
discuss policies, procedures, training, and the effectiveness of the QA Program.  Coordinate with Division 
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Managers to ensure timely and responsive QA reviews and that they are conducted by the appropriate staff to 
meet the division’s needs. 

• Work Stoppage – Exercise stop-work authority in concert with the Project Manager to correct project activities, 
assure quality performance, and inform Division Managers and General Manager of such work stoppage. 
Participate in decisions to resume work activities based on effectiveness of corrective actions. 

2.3.3 Quality Assurance Reviewer 
Responsible for the technical content and quality of each project that is assigned to a QAR. A properly designated 
QAR shall review each project element requiring evaluation, interpretation, or professional judgment. The 
designated QAR shall have comparable experience with similar projects as well as experience with the techniques 
to be employed, the conditions to be evaluated, and the technologies involved in the project. If the QAR does not 
have said experience, another QAR or SME with such experience and qualifications shall be engaged to provide 
guidance and review of the appropriate proposal and project activities. 

A QAR is authorized to develop and review project elements and take responsibility for the technical content and 
quality of project elements by reviewing and signing reports and other documents when such documents include 
evaluation, interpretation, professional judgment, recommendations, or conclusions. 

The QAR shall notify the QAO of requests for projects to be executed which are outside of the normal scope or area 
of staff expertise. The QAO will consult with the Division Manager and General Manager on such projects to 
determine an appropriate course of action. 

2.3.4 Division Manager 
The Division Manager is responsible for assigning properly trained project managers who have the appropriate level 
of experience for the project.  Division Managers shall ensure that QA/QC policies and procedures are implemented 
and followed within their division.  They shall provide guidance at the division level and verify the appropriate QAR 
is assigned to the project. 

2.3.5 Project Manager 
Responsibility for overall project execution and quality achievement is assigned to a Project Manager. The Project 
Manager conducts or directs activities necessary to execute projects that have been properly scoped and authorized. 
The Project Manager has primary responsibility for resource allocation, costing, scheduling, and collections for the 
project. The Project Manager is accountable for project quality as an integral part of project execution. The Project 
Manager is responsible for coordination of resources between divisions as needed to accomplish project objectives 
and is responsible for the finished product.  The Project Manager, in coordination with the Division Managers and 
QAO, will assess if a specific QAPP will be required for the project.  The QAPP will establish the data quality objectives 
and QA review procedures for project-specific milestones and deliverables. 

2.3.6 Subject Matter Expert 
SMEs are professionals who have advanced knowledge and experience in a particular topic.  As an authority, they 
are uniquely qualified to provide guidance and strategy.  Project Managers and QARs shall request QA reviews from 
SMEs when a project or document requires detailed knowledge and understanding of a subject outside of the 
reviewer’s area of technical expertise.  SMEs are responsible for providing guidance to Project Managers and QARs 
on topics within their areas of expertise to ensure conformance to QA policies and procedures have been met.
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3.0 Contract Review and Execution 
3.1 Purpose 
The purpose of this section is to establish requirements to ensure that contracts for providing RES’ services and products 
are appropriately reviewed and executed with respect to requirements, scope of work, capability to meet the requirements, 
and protection of RES’ assets. 

3.2 Scope 
These requirements are applicable for all opportunities being pursued and contracted services provided by RES. 

3.3 Responsibilities 
The Project Manager is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the contract requirements are met for projects that are 
executed within his or her respective project. However, all contracts must be reviewed and signed as outlined in Section 3.4. 

3.4 Requirements 
Personnel authorized to propose and contract RES’ services will provide review of the proposed work or contract to verify 
the following: 

• Requirements and scope of services are adequately defined and documented. 
• Differences between the contract and the proposed scope of services are identified and resolved. 
• RES will receive payment for the services provided, does not accept an unreasonable degree of liability, can 

provide the services, and avoids conflicts of interest situations.  

Opportunity pursuits shall be reviewed by a QAR, Division Manager or other SMEs who has the appropriate level of technical 
competence and understands risk mitigation and RES’ commitments for the project. Documents committing RES’ resources 
shall be duly signed by the Project Manager and Division Manager or QAR.  Contracts executed by the Client on RES’ 
standard forms may be signed by staff with the appropriate Delegation of Authority (DOA) granted by the General Manager 
in writing in accordance with RES’ DOA policy, provided the Agreement has not been modified or will not be modified by a 
subsequent Task Work Order, Change Order or Proposal.  All agreements, client or subcontractor supplied contracts, and 
RES standard forms with changes must be reviewed by the Contracts and Legal Department. These modified agreements 
and associated task work orders may be signed by the General Manager or appropriate staff who have been given the DOA 
in writing by the General Manager in accordance with RES’ DOA policy following authorization by RES’ Contracts and Legal 
Department.
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4.0 Project Document Review 
4.1 Review Procedures 
RES provides a variety of technical services and related work products. These work products may be delivered in hard copy 
or electronic format. They may be in a variety of formats such as spreadsheets, Geographic Information System (GIS) 
shapefiles, maps, databases, field reports, written reports, construction plans, record drawings or other methods of relaying 
data. Deliverables may contain data, field notes and photographs, methodologies, results of research, narratives, 
calculations, and other items. Review of these work products and their components shall conform to the procedures outlined 
herein. These procedures are designed to be flexible so that they can apply to the variety of formats of our work products. 

4.1.1 Project Scope and Opportunity Development 
The QAR is assigned to the project at the development of the initial scope and proposal. The QAR, Division Manager, 
the Project Manager, and if appropriate, a professional with relevant technical experience, on the scope of services 
collaborate on the scope and opportunity development. The QAR and experienced professional will review the 
proposal, including the proposed terms and conditions. During this stage it will be determined if a project-specific 
QAPP will be required. 

4.1.2 Project Initiation 
Once the project is authorized by the client, the procedures outlined in Section 3.0 are followed. The QAR is 
confirmed by the Division Manager as the selected project QA reviewer and is assigned to the project. If appropriate, 
the Project Manager, Division Manager, QAR and relevant staff will hold a “kick off” meeting so that the project 
requirements, scope, budget, schedule, deviations, and expectations are discussed. 

4.1.3 Project Execution 
As data is collected for the project, it is verified to be accurate by the originator and assembled into a deliverable 
format.  The QAR is consulted during critical milestones and decision points during the project. Examples of times 
when the QAR should be consulted are at times when relevant decisions are to be made, field services are to be 
initiated, data, conclusions or recommendations are to be formulated and conveyed to an outside party (verbally or 
written), and changes in scope or unexpected deviations are identified. 

4.1.4 Figures and Maps 
Figures and maps are used interchangeably for the purposes of this QAM.  Figures can include AutoCAD drawings, 
GIS figures, georeferenced database information, design plans, and other exhibits to relay project information. 
Figures may be part of a deliverable or may constitute the deliverable itself. Figures shall follow the standard RES’ 
review process. Figures and their content shall be reviewed for accuracy, consistency with other portions of the 
deliverable and other project documents, and format. All data, scientific names, figures, and metadata shall be 
confirmed during the review. Figures shall be peer reviewed by the person who did not prepare the figures.  That 
reviewer shall have the qualifications to understand and conduct such a review for accuracy and correctness. Once 
the review is complete, the reviewer shall record their initials on the Document Quality Control Tracking Record 
under “Peer Review.”  

4.1.5 Calculations 
Calculations shall be documented in the project file. Calculations can be written “by hand” or in an electronic 
document or they may be in a spreadsheet or database. If commercial software is used for calculations, then the 
user shall be knowledgeable about the software capabilities and limitations and its methodology. Calculations 
should include notations of assumptions, reference materials and other pertinent information. All calculations shall 
be reviewed and verified by someone other than the originator. The reviewer must be knowledgeable in the 
technical subject of the calculations and any commercial software applications used. Calculations shall be reviewed 
for accuracy and correctness. These should be confirmed prior to the use of these calculations in the project. The 
reviewer shall provide edits to the originator and the reviewer shall record their initials on the Document Quality 
Control Tracking Record under “Peer Review.” The review shall include at least the following, with proper 
documentation: 
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• Review of formulas and computational logic; 
• Check and verify calculations; 
• Verify appropriate model development; 
• Verify input data, logic, and assumptions; and 
• Verify results. 

4.1.6 Computer Software  
For spreadsheets, database management programs, hydraulic models, and other software applications in which the 
user provides the computational logic or model development, QC reviews closely follow the requirements for 
calculations as indicated in 4.1.5. The reviewer must be knowledgeable in the application software as well as the 
technical subject of the application.  

4.1.7 Deliverables 
All project deliverables that provide a technical opinion or commit resources shall be peer reviewed at the staff level 
and followed by a QAR review and Project Manager review prior to submittal to an external party.  Deliverable shall 
adhere to a dual signature policy whereas the author will sign on the left side of the signature block and the Project 
Manager, Division Manager or QAR will sign on the right side of the signature block as appropriate.  Documents 
signed and sealed by staff with professional licensure shall be reviewed by appropriate technical staff that have 
complementary technical experience.  QA reviews will be documented on the Document Quality Control Tracking 
Record. 
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5.0 Quality Assurance Records 
5.1 Purpose 
The purpose of this section is to establish measures for the collection, storage, retention, retrieval, and maintenance of 
records that furnish documentary evidence of quality. 

5.2 Scope 
The requirements of this section apply to records generated during performance of quality affecting activities by RES 
personnel or suppliers. These records include information on personnel, projects, equipment calibration and maintenance, 
and audits.  

5.3 Responsibilities 
General Manager – Responsible for establishing and maintaining the records management system for the Region.  Empowers 
staff to be champions of QA and report issues without retaliation. 

Quality Assurance Officer – Direct or perform internal audits to monitor performance regarding quality. Participate in quality 
audits on an assignment basis as prescribed by the General Manager. 

Division Manager – Responsible for insuring project managers and staff are adhering to QA/QC policies and procedures 
within their division. 

Project Manager – Responsible for maintaining project records during execution and consolidation of project records, 
including documentation of QA/QC reviews, into the project file at the completion of the project. 

Staff Personnel – Responsible for ensuring that project records are dated, complete, and appropriate to the work 
accomplished, legible, and identifiable to the relevant item, task, and project.  

5.4 Requirements 
Records that document quality will be legible, identifiable, and retrievable for a predetermined time. Records will be stored 
in facilities that provide a suitable environment to minimize loss, damage, or deterioration. Records may be in the form of 
printed or electronic media. 

A system for organizing, validating, designating, filing, storing, maintaining, and retrieving records will be established and 
implemented by the General Manager. The system will provide for retention, protection, preservation, traceability, and 
retrievability.  

5.5 Procedures 
5.5.1 Required Records 

5.5.1.1 PROJECT RECORDS 
Project records are maintained and indicate the work scope, background, and status. The Project Manager is 
responsible for maintaining records for active projects and for directing post-project close-out. During close-
out of a project, before files are stored, project records are consolidated into the project file. Extraneous material 
(including internal drafts of documents) and extra copies shall be discarded. The file is to be organized logically 
to be able to reconstruct or validate the work at a later date. Files shall be appropriately labeled so that 
retrievability and ultimate disposition can be readily accomplished.  

The following documentation is included, as applicable, for each project file: 

• Project agreements, including change orders; 
• Documentation of quality reviews on the appropriate Document Quality Control Tracking Record; 
• Client correspondence; 
• QAPP (if applicable); 
• Project-Specific Plans (e.g., Health and Safety, Project Work Plans), as applicable; 
• Records of written and oral communication; 
• Subcontractor contracts and correspondence; 
• Drawings, specifications, and project-specific procedures; 
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• Chain-of-Custody documentation; 
• Laboratory and field data and test results; 
• Field notes; 
• Calculations and analyses; 
• Photographic documentation, as appropriate; and 
• Deliverables. 

Project Managers are responsible for assuring that specified project records are dated, complete, and 
appropriate to the work accomplished, legible, and identifiable to the relevant items or task and preparer. 
Records may be originals or reproduced copies of documents. 

5.5.1.2 PERSONNEL QUALIFICATION RECORDS 
Personnel resumes shall be maintained and updated on an on-going basis and at least annually for individuals 
whose work functions affect the quality of services provided. The resumes document qualifications of the 
individual to perform assigned work functions based on education, training, and experience. Resumes shall 
include the following information: 

• Level of education, training, and experience: 
• Documentation of education or training specific to a qualification: 
• Example project experience: and 
• Certifications and registrations obtained or required to perform designated functions by contract, code, or 

federal or state regulations. 

5.5.1.3 EQUIPMENT RECORDS 
Records documenting the maintenance and calibration of equipment used in measuring and testing functions 
are maintained by the respective division or group that primarily uses the equipment. 

5.5.1.4 AUDIT RECORDS 
Records associated with quality assurance audits shall be maintained by the QAO.  

5.5.2 Records Management System 
RES has a centralized records management system for project records. The system shall provide for retention, 
protection, preservation, traceability, and retrievability.  

5.5.3 Project Files 
Project files shall be assigned a unique number or identification. Provisions shall be made for identification of 
completed files removed from storage.  

5.5.4 Records Storage and Preservation 
Closed out project files shall be maintained in storage facilities as determined by the Project Manager, or as specified 
by contract requirements. Storage facilities shall provide a suitable environment to provide reasonable protection 
against loss, damage, or deterioration appropriate to the type of record for the specified retention time.  

5.5.5 Access to Project Files 
Access to project files shall be controlled to assure the integrity of the files.  

5.6 Documentation/Records 
Project documents become QA records when they have been completed and reviewed. It shall be the responsibility of the 
Project Manager to make provisions for special storage, retention, or preservation requirements applicable to specific project 
files. 
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6.0 Audits 
6.1 Purpose 
The purpose of this section is to establish the requirements and procedures for conducting internal audits to verify 
compliance with and the effectiveness of RES’ QA Program and to provide for management review of the program in terms 
of status and adequacy. 

6.2 Scope 
These requirements apply to all offices, divisions, and service lines of RES within Region 8 and govern the conduct of internal 
assessments and management reviews.  

6.3 Requirements 
Audits shall be conducted to verify conformance with, and determine the effectiveness of, the RES QA Program and quality 
systems. Audits may include surveillance or peer reviews. Audit personnel shall be designated by the QAO and have the 
organizational freedom, authority, and capability to identify quality-related problems. Audits shall be scheduled and 
planned, and team training conducted, as necessary. Audits shall be conducted by personnel who did not have direct 
responsibility for performing the project activities being audited. Audit personnel shall be selected based on their quality 
assessment, management, and technical capabilities in relation to the function being audited. The results of the audits shall 
be documented and reported to the appropriate management level responsible for the area or activity assessed. Conditions 
needing corrective action shall be identified. Responses to conclusions and recommendations that identify quality issues 
during the audit shall be required. Follow-up action shall be taken and documented to confirm the implementation and 
effectiveness of the response action, as appropriate. 

6.4 Procedures 
6.4.1 Types of Audits 
Audits may consist of corporate-sponsored QA Program audits of office, division or project operations, internal 
audits conducted on organizations/project units within an office, surveillance, or peer reviews. Audits may include 
field reviews or surveillance.  

6.4.2 Audits 
6.4.2.1 SCHEDULING 
As directed by the General Manager, an audit schedule shall be developed annually by the QAO and 
revisions made, as necessary. 

The General Manager, or QAO may request or direct an audit of a division or project at any time. These 
audits may be announced or unannounced. 

6.4.2.2 PERFORMANCE 
The audit team leader shall notify management in advance of the activity or organization to be audited and 
confirm preliminary scheduling. A pre-audit conference may be held to convey the audit objectives and 
schedule.  

Scheduling of audit activities and allocation of resources is based on the status and risk of the activity being 
audited. Scheduling is to be flexible and additional attention given to areas of questionable performance, 
even if all areas originally scheduled for audit are not covered. 

An audit debrief shall be held to present the conditions observed by the auditor(s), resolve questions 
pertaining to deficiencies noted, and, as applicable, obtain corrective action commitments. 

6.4.2.3 REPORTING 
The audit report may include the following information, as appropriate: 

• Organization or activity audited; 
• Audit scope (e.g. project, division, or other operational unit); 
• Identification of the auditor(s); 
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• Identification of persons contacted during the audit activities; 
• Summary of audit results; and 
• Significant findings and the deadlines for submittal of an audit response plan. 

6.5 Documentation/Records 
Records of audits are typically maintained for a period of two years or until the subsequent audit is performed, whichever is 
longer. Records shall be stored on the corporate computer network in an appropriate location as designated by the QAO.  
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1.0 Introduction 
This Quality Control Manual (QCM) has been developed by Resource Environmental Solutions (RES) for Region 8 - Florida 
to ensure that data generated during execution of work is of known and verifiable quality. This QCM shall be reviewed on a 
periodic basis if significant changes to company policies or procedures warrant an update, to be decided by the company’s 
Quality Assurance Officer (QAO). If significant changes have occurred, then the QCM shall be updated accordingly. This 
QCM was created by RES to establish a quality system that will do the following: 

 Identify, implement and promote quality assurance (QA) policies and procedures that will produce data of a 
known and verifiable quality; 

 Create, identify and follow SOPs for technical and administrative activities; 
 Monitor adherence to the established policies, procedures and written SOPs; 
 Establish and use procedures for continual improvement through corrective, preventive, and proactive action 

policies; and 
 Monitor the quality of the organization’s technical product. 

RES implements a variety of project types and the need for quality control is inherent to all project types. While specific 
standard procedures referenced by an agency may be referenced within this document, it is RES’ intent that protocols 
consistent with industry standards in the areas where the projects occur are followed. Industry standards may be reflected 
in laws and rules, local ordinances, agency policy and guidance documents, permit applications, or client-specific 
requirements. These references change and are updated periodically. Thus, it is not practical to reference each protocol and 
standard. RES’ staff makes a concerted effort to stay current with industry standards and rules and apply them to our projects 
as appropriate and our staff use their experience, education, and professional judgement to apply the applicable standards 
to the projects we implement. 

One area that is specifically required to be addressed in this QCM is topics specified in the Florida Department of 
Environmental Protection (FDEP) Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) DEP-SOP-001-01 per the FDEP Quality Assurance 
Rule, 62-160, Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.).  The purpose of 62-160 F.A.C. is to assure that chemical, physical, 
biological, microbiological, and toxicological data used by FDEP are appropriate and reliable and are collected and analyzed 
by scientifically sound procedures. To this end, this chapter defines the minimum field and laboratory quality assurance, 
methodological and reporting requirements of FDEP. This process includes, but is not limited to, field activities (sample 
collection, sample preservation, field measurements, and site evaluation); sample handling, storage, and transport; 
summaries or data presentation activities; and all activities that impact data quality such as providing sample containers, 
instrument calibration services, or reagents and standards. All persons who conduct or support field activities for sampling 
and data collection and shall follow the applicable procedures and requirements described the FDEP SOP titled Standard 
Operating Procedures for Field Activities, DEP-SOP-001/01 and Standard Operating Procedures for Selected Bioassessment 
Activities, DEP-SOP-003/11.  The preceding language is required pursuant to FDEP regulations and weblinks to the FDEP 
SOPS are provided in Section 3.2 of this QCM and Chapter 62-160 F.A.C. can be reviewed at:  
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=62-160 

The procedures in the FDEP SOPs are minimum requirements for sample collection, sample handling, field testing, data 
collection and certain laboratory procedures used to generate data for FDEP use. The FDEP’s Quality Assurance Rule, 62-
160.210 & .330, F.A.C. requires prior approval of alternative and new procedures by FDEP before use on a project. 

1.1 Commitment to Quality 
RES’ officers and employees are committed to generating data of a known and verifiable quality. This objective will be 
accomplished using sound professional judgment, and adherence to RES’ QA policies and Quality Control (QC) procedures. 

1.2 Ethics Statement 
RES expects that all employees will conduct themselves in a professional and ethical manner.  All employees are expected 
to comply with all applicable governmental rules and regulations, including avoiding conflict of interests and complying 
with lobbying rules.  We also comply with adopted clients’ ethics provisions as they are applicable to our business.  The 
following outlines some specific ethics germane to RES’ profession: 

 We will not knowingly violate the rights of individuals, which may be guaranteed or provided by the United 
States Constitution, or the laws of the state and federal governments. 

https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=62-160
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 We will not knowingly misrepresent our duties, professional credentials, or ourselves. 
 We will seek to improve and expand our knowledge and expertise through education and training. 
 We will defend our profession against unjust criticism and help defend our colleagues against unjust actions. 
 We will refrain from conduct that would reflect adversely upon the best interests of RES, its clients, and its 

professional areas of practice. 

Per RES’ Company Policy, RES expects all employees to conduct themselves in a professional and ethical manner. An 
employee should not conduct business that is unethical in any way, nor should an employee influence other employees to 
act unethically. 

1.3 Client Confidentiality 
RES, its employees, representatives, or agents will not directly or indirectly divulge or disclose confidential information that 
has been obtained by, or disclosed to, RES as a result of its discussions with others. On some occasions, RES, its employees, 
representatives, or agents may disclose such information or portions thereof to its partners, directors, officers, employees, 
agents, and representatives who need to know such information for the purpose of performing duties within the normal 
scope of their employment.  It shall be understood that those partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, and 
representatives will be informed of the confidential nature of this information and will agree to be bound not to disclose 
the information to other individuals. In no instance will confidentiality of information obtained by RES supersede disclosure 
requirements of law or court order. 

1.4 Organizational Structure 
Described herein are roles/responsibilities in RES’ QA/QC process.  

1.4.1 Staff Responsibilities 
1.4.1.1 QUALITY ASSURANCE OFFICER 
The role of the QAO is one of oversight. In addition to coordinating and overseeing data quality activities, 
monitoring adherence to company policies and procedures and corrective actions, the QAO has the ability and 
authority to recommend and implement immediate corrective measures, without going through chains of 
command. The organizational and functional position of QAO is not placed in direct lines of authority. 

The QAO can objectively evaluate data and perform audits without outside influences. The responsibilities of 
the QAO may be divided among several individuals and the designated QAO may be assigned other duties (e.g., 
project management). However, other responsibilities cannot bias the performance of these tasks:  

 Review QC data to determine if data are acceptable; 
 Perform annual systems audits to ensure compliance with QA plans and SOPs; 
 Distribute results of internal and external audits to management and affected individuals; 
 Oversee responses to internal and external technical audits; 
 Oversee and recommend corrective actions as a result of the audits; 
 Verify corrective action implementation; 
 Oversee administration of performance audits; 
 Coordinate preparation of QA reports to management, clients and regulatory agencies; 
 Coordinate and oversee the preparation of project-specific QA project plans; 
 Review proposed procedures and associated method validation information to determine 

appropriate use; 
 Review initiated corrective actions to assure effectiveness. Recommend additional measures if 

 necessary. 

1.4.1.2 TECHNICIAN LEVEL 
The field technician, technical staff or sample collector will conduct the following: 

 Perform field measurement tests, data collection and calibration according to FDEP SOPs and 
industry standards and manufacturer’s recommendations; 

 Verify that calculations (e.g., purge volume), observation (e.g., species) and data are correct; 
 Collect samples and data following the appropriate SOPs or other industry standards using 

appropriate equipment or software; 
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 Ensure that sample containers, photographs, or data are properly and accurately labeled or 
referenced; 

 Ensure that appropriate preservatives sample containers are used for sample collection; 
 Legibly and fully document activities in field logs or field data sheets; 
 Ensure that field information or data collected is accurately recorded; 
 Identify and document potential QC problems (e.g., unacceptable calibrations, procedures, and 

equipment variances; incomplete or compromised data; poor environmental conditions, etc.);  
 Maintain equipment and instruments in working condition, and document preventative 

maintenance and repairs; and 
 Implement corrective action procedures that are identified to be necessary as a result of audits. 

1.4.1.3 DIVISION MANAGEMENT 
These individuals will conduct the following: 

 Ensure that field activities are performed according to methods and protocols specified in 
applicable project documents, SOPs and applicable industry standards; 

 Ensure that field collected and laboratory generated or data collected are reviewed by the following 
activities: 

 Check documentation for completeness and proper sample, species, structure or other data set 
identification; 

 Check raw data for calculation, interpretation or clerical errors; and 
 Assure that produced QC data are acceptable. 
 Oversee preventative maintenance activities. 
 Evaluate and implement changes in methodology and QC measures. 
 Identify QC problems and take measures to correct or eliminate the problem source. 
 Monitor and implement corrective action procedures that are identified to be necessary as a result 

of system audits. 
 Assume the responsibility for validating field generated documentation and collected data and 

ensure that final field and data reports are accurate before review by Quality Assurance Reviewer 
(QAR). 

1.4.1.4 PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
This individual has general responsibility for the following activities: 

 Act as a liaison between the client and the organization. 
 Oversee and coordinate project activities including work plans, QA plans, data quality objectives, 

SOPs, and scheduling. 
 Coordinate analytical work, field activities, or data collection to assure the completion of tasks 

within established time frames.Ensure that there are adequate qualified personnel, equipment, and 
time to produce a completed project of a specified quality. 

 Review project data prior to final report review to assure that all data are acceptable and within 
specified project objectives. 

1.4.1.5 MANAGEMENT 
These individuals are responsible for the overall operation of the organization including fiscal resources and 
personnel. They will ensure that organizational activities are conducted according to the organization’s 
established quality system, QCM and SOPs and that policies and procedures are consistent with this QCM. They 
will review and assess the organization’s quality system, and related activities to determine the effectiveness of 
the system, and its continuing suitability. Their review may include, but is not limited to the following: 

 Policy and procedures review; 
 Outcome of internal or external audits; 
 Corrective or preventative actions; 
 Reports from managerial and supervisory staff; 
 Changes in volume and type of work; 
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 Client feedback; 
 Complaints and their resolution; and 
 Staff training. 
 The findings and recommendations of this management review should result in the following: 
 Assurance that there is sufficient managerial, technical, and support staff with the authority and 

resources to perform their stated duties. 
 Establishment of procedures to ensure that personnel are free from undue internal or external 

commercial, financial, and other pressures or influences that may adversely affect the performance 
and quality of their work. 

 Ensure that the staff has the necessary education, experience or training to perform their stated 
duties. 

1.4.2 Licensed Professionals 
It is the responsibility of each licensed professional to maintain and fulfill any training and continuing education 
requirements for each of their licenses, including those in jurisdictions other than Florida. The licensed professional 
is also responsible for familiarizing themselves with the rules and regulations governing their profession. Each 
licensed professional shall be willing to seal reports, plans and designs which were prepared under their responsible 
charge, and only those reports, plans and designs which were prepared under their responsible charge, and only in 
those areas of practice in which the licensed professional is qualified through experience, education, or expertise. 

1.4.3 Employee Training and Credentials 
Copies of RES’ employees’ specialized training records, credentials, including copies of professional licenses for RES’ 
staff, are maintained in the company administrator’s files as well as in the individual employee’s files. 
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2.0 Documentation 
RES maintains project records to ensure that the quality of our work is documented, and sound industry practices are 
employed throughout each project. 

2.1 Generation, Retention, and Storage of Records 
Products or outputs of automatic data recording devices, such as chart strip recorders, integrators, and computers, will be 
retained in electronic or paper form. Records will be properly identified as to purpose, analysis date, and field or lab 
identification number or data collection number. 

2.1.1 Electronic Data Security 
Access to data will be controlled. Electronic data collected from instrumentation will not be altered. Software that 
allows an analyst to correct raw data (e.g., change baseline) is acceptable. 

2.1.2 Electronic Data Storage and Documentation 
Electronically or magnetically stored data will be easily retrievable for printing to paper. Electronic data files will be 
coded, indexed, or referenced, to facilitate availability of data, analytical events, and other procedural records. These 
file designations will allow easy retrieval of the record. 

Software problems and their resolution will be documented, where these problems affect the correctness of data 
documented, or where problems affect the cross-indexing of records. Indications of which files have been affected, 
software changes, updates, installations, etc. will be documented per the above concerns. The files and links of 
associated service records supplied by vendors or other service personnel will be maintained. 

2.2 Control and Maintenance of Project Documentation 
All records of an organization that are pertinent to a specified project will be retained for a period of at least five years after 
the completion of the project. These records may include the following: 

 Field notebooks, data sheets, and documentation on the data collection event; 
 Field and laboratory analytical records including supporting calibration, raw data, data reduction calculations, 

QC information, and all data output records; 
 Field and laboratory custody records including shipping receipts, sample transmittal forms, internal routing and 

assignment records, and sample disposal; 
 Statistical calculations used in data reduction and in determination of QC limits; 
 Preventative maintenance records for analytical and support equipment and instrumentation; 
 Copies of final deliverables.  

It should be noted that when final deliverables include copies of documents outlined above, then those records may be 
purged.  

The records will be protected from environmental degradation, stored under secure conditions to discourage tampering or 
vandalism; and will be cross-indexed by project number, or other common identifier for easy retrieval. 

2.3 Types of Reports and Documents Generated by RES 
Deliverables generated by RES involve assimilating and presenting data from laboratory reports, field documents, design 
plans, technical documents, GIS maps, databases, permitting documents, prospectuses, regulatory agency correspondence 
or other sources, as applicable.  

2.4 Identification and Integrity of Samples and Field Locations 
The following field sampling information shall be maintained in the project records: 

 Project information including the project number, project name; site or facility name and address; 
 Name(s) and affiliation of individual(s) collecting samples; 
 Sampling or data collection method(s) used; 
 Sample description such as sample type, sample matrix, and sample treatments (preservation, filtration, etc.); 
 Client or field identification number for each sample, as applicable; 
 Date and time of sample collection, including date and time sample collection ended (if collecting a composite 

sample) and sample collection depth; 
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 Unambiguous identification of all field-generated quality control samples such as field or equipment blanks, 
replicate samples or split samples; and 

 Method(s) used to make field measurement;  
 Results of data collection; 
 Information about site conditions including weather; and 
 Ancillary records (photographs, videotapes, maps, etc.) to be traced to specific sampling events. 
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3.0 Sample Collection 
RES staff is qualified to perform a variety of sampling, measurements, and verifications. RES staff conducts field 
measurements, documentation, and sample collection in accordance with FDEP SOPs. Provided in this section are RES’ 
sampling capabilities. 

3.1 Sampling Capabilities 
As required by the specific project, RES will collect aqueous and non-aqueous samples. Detailed in the following tables are 
the typical chemical parameters tested for along with the environmental media that are sampled: 

AQUEOUS MATRICES 

Parameter SW WW GW WP TW PW DW 
Volatile Organics X X X X X X X 
Extractable Organics X X X X X X X 
Metals X X X X X X X 
Inorganic Anions X X X X X X X 
Physical Properties X X X X X X X 
Radionuclides   X     
Microbiology X X X X X X X 
Organics X X X X X X X 
Biotoxicity  X X X X X  
Macroinvertebrates X  X     
DNA X  X     

SW = Surface Water  TW = Tab Water 
WW = Wastewater  PW = Product Water 
GW = Groundwater  DW = Drinking Water 
WP = Wipe 

 

NON-AQUEOUS MATRICES 

Parameter SE SO SL LH HW FT SF 
Volatile Organics X X X X X   
Extractable Organics X X X X X   
Metals X X X X X   
Inorganic Anions X X X X X   
Physical Properties X X X X X   
Radionuclides  X      
Microbiology X X X X X   
Organics X X X X X   
Biotoxicity X X X X X   
Macroinvertebrates  X      
DNA X       

SE = Sediment  HW = Hazardous Waste Sludges 
SO = Soil   FT = Fish Tissue 
SL = Domestic Waste Sludges SF = Shellfish 
LH = Liquid Hazardous Wastes 

 
3.2 Sampling Procedures 
Field sampling, data collection, equipment calibrations and associated actions will be performed in accordance with the 
protocols and procedures detailed in FDEP SOPs as follows: 
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SAMPLING PROCEDURES 

FDEP Standard Operating Procedure Description 
Field Title Page Title Page, Field 

FA 1000 Administrative 
FC 1000 Field Decontamination 
FD 1000 Documentation 
FM 1000 Field Mobilization 
FQ 1000 Quality Control 
FS 1000 General Sampling 
FS 2000 General Water Sampling 
FS 2100 Surface Water Sampling 
FS 2200 Groundwater Sampling 
FS 2300 Drinking Water Sampling 
FS 2400 Wastewater Sampling 
FS 3000 Soil Sampling 
FS 4000 Sediment Sampling 
FS 5000 Waste Sampling 
FS 6000 Tissue Sampling 
FS 7000 Biological Communities 
FS 8100 Contaminated Surfaces Sampling 
FS 8200 Clean Sampling for Trace Metals 
FT 1000 Field Testing General 
FT 1100 Field pH 
FT 1200 Field Specific Conductance 
FT 1300 Field Salinity 
FT 1400 Field Temperature 
FT 1500 Field Dissolved Oxygen 
FT 1600 Field Turbidity 
FT 1700 Field Light Penetration 
FT 1800 Field Flowmeters 
FT 1900 Field Continuous Monitoring 
FT 2000 Field Residual Chlorine 
FT 3000 Habitat Assessment 

Lab Title Page Title Page, Laboratory 
LD 1000 Laboratory Documentation 
LQ 1000 Laboratory Quality Control 
LT 7000 Biological Indices 

Bioassessment Title Page Title Page, Bioassessment 
BRN 1000 Biological Reconnaissance Field Method 
LVI 1000 Lake Vegetation Index Methods 
SCI 1000 Stream Condition Index Methods 

 

It should also be noted that the FDEP has issued a memorandum outlining specific variances to the FDEP SOPs for Bureau 
of Petroleum Storage System (BPPS) Sites.  The following is a link to that memorandum:  
https://floridadep.gov/sites/default/files/BPSSVariances-Final-May02-2005.pdf. 

 

 

http://publicfiles.dep.state.fl.us/dear/DEARweb/QA/SOPs/DEP-SOP-001-01%20Title%20Page_Jan2017.pdf
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7948&filename=FA%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7949&filename=FC%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7950&filename=FD%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7951&filename=FM%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7952&filename=FQ%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7953&filename=FS%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7954&filename=FS%202000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7955&filename=FS%202100_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7956&filename=FS%202200_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7957&filename=FS%202300_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7958&filename=FS%202400_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7959&filename=FS%203000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7960&filename=FS%204000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7961&filename=FS%205000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7962&filename=FS%206000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7963&filename=FS%207000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7964&filename=FS%208100_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7965&filename=FS%208200_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7966&filename=FT%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7967&filename=FT%201100_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7968&filename=FT%201200_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7969&filename=FT%201300_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7970&filename=FT%201400_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7971&filename=FT%201500_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7972&filename=FT%201600_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7973&filename=FT%201700_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7974&filename=FT%201800_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7975&filename=FT%201900_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7976&filename=FT%202000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7977&filename=FT%203000_Jan2017.docx
http://publicfiles.dep.state.fl.us/dear/DEARweb/QA/SOPs/DEP-SOP-002-01%20Title%20Page_Jan2017.pdf
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7978&filename=LD%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7979&filename=LQ%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7980&filename=LT%207000_Jan2017.docx
http://publicfiles.dep.state.fl.us/dear/DEARweb/QA/SOPs/DEP-SOP-003-11%20Title%20Page_Jan2017.pdf
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7981&filename=BRN%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7982&filename=LVI%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/readRefFile.asp?refId=7983&filename=SCI%201000_Jan2017.docx
https://floridadep.gov/sites/default/files/BPSSVariances-Final-May02-2005.pdf
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3.3 Field Test Methods 
Provided in the following table are the test methods generally employed by RES’ field technical staff during environmental 
sampling activities. This table itemizes the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Test Method number the sampling media 
(matrix) and associated parameter. 

FIELD TEST METHODS 

Method Matrix Parameter 

360.1 W Dissolved Oxygen 
2580B W ORP 
150.1 W PH 
330.1 W Residual Chlorine 

2520 B W Salinity 
120.1 W Specific Conductance 
377.1 W Sulfite 
170.1 W Temperature 
180.1 W Turbidity 

CE-81-1 P. 3-52 S ORP 
9045 S pH 

CE-81-1 P. 3-368 S Residual Chlorine 
W = Water  S = Soil 

3.4 Field Instrument and Equipment Inventory 
The following list includes the standard field instrument and equipment owned and maintained by RES: 

 Organic Vapor Analyzer 
 Water Level Indicator 
 Oil Water Interface Meter 
 Peristaltic Pump 
 Water Quality Meter 
 Turbidity Meter 
 Color-Tec Field Screening 
 Measuring Wheel 
 Hand Auger 
 GPS Unit 
 True-Pulse Range Finder 
 Discrete Surface Water Sampler 
 Quadrat 
 DBH Tape 
 Magnetic Manhole Lid Lifter 
 Drone 
 Benthic Data Kit 
 Blackline Safety Monitoring Device 
 Spherical Densiomenter  

 Groundwater Sampling Kit 
 Soil Sampling Kit 
 Monitoring Well Installation Kit 
 Submersible Pump 
 Diaphram Pump 
 Trash Pump 
 Surveying Kit 
 Generator 
 Air Compressor 
 Digital Camera 
 Spotting Scope 
 Burrow Camera 
 Binoculars 
 Go – Pro Camera 
 Field Tablets 
 Soil Probe 
 Tree Caliper 
 Sediment Core Sampler 
 Color-Rech Chlorinated Gas 

Sampler 

3.5 Field Equipment and Security 
RES owns many different types of sampling equipment and keeps them in secured, limited access storage rooms. 

3.6 Sample Dispatch, Handling and Transportation 
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3.6.1 Documentation 
Field documentation will consist of, at a minimum, field notes, sample labels, and Chain of Custody forms (or sample 
transmittal forms). These items must contain a minimum amount of information that can be traceable back to the 
original sampling event. A complete discussion of the mandatory information to be completed in the field is 
provided in the FDEP SOPs (See list of FDEP SOPs in Section 3.2). 

3.6.2 Sample Packing and Transport 
Samples shall be packed such that they are segregated by site, sampling location, or by sample analysis type. Sample 
segregation may follow this segregation scheme or any other that is sensible and well thought out. These schemes 
are dependent upon the levels of contamination present, the number of bottles to be transported, the size of the 
bottles, etc. ample packing and transport will be performed as detailed in the FDEP SOPs (See list of FDEP SOPs in 
Section 3.2). 

 Volatile organic compound (VOC) samples from different locations may be placed into the same cooler to 
reduce the number of required trip blanks provided that the samples are wrapped or containerized (sealed 
plastic bags) separately. 

 Samples in breakable containers shall be packed with materials (i.e. bubble wrap, cans with vermiculite) to 
avoid breakage. 

 Shipping transport containers shall be insulated (if cooling is required). 
 Shipping containers shall be sealed with strapping tape or locked to avoid tampering. Tamper-proof seals 

may also be placed over cooler lid. 
 All samples that require thermal preservation shall be packed in thermally insulated coolers with wet ice. 

Only wet ice shall be used in cooling samples to 4o C. Blue ice or chemical cooling packs are not acceptable. 
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4.0 Field Testing and Measurement 
This section addresses the procedures to conduct field measurements that are commonly associated with sampling activities. 
They include the parameters that are measured in-situ or in a field sample by means of direct-reading instruments (meters 
connected to sensing probes) or by visual interpretation/interpolation. Calibration and maintenance of field equipment will 
be as specified in the FDEP SOPs. In some cases, specific instruments may be used, with detailed instructions on their use. If 
using a different instrument, the manufacturer’s instructions for assembly operation and maintenance should be followed.  

4.1 Equipment Calibration 
This section outlines the essential calibration and QC measures that will be followed for each field instrument. Prior to 
mobilization, the sampling personnel will verify that all equipment is in proper working condition, calibrated, and that 
batteries are properly charged. Calibration will be performed in accordance with the FDEP SOPs. In some cases, specific 
instruments may be used, with detailed instructions on their use. If using a different instrument, follow the manufacturer’s 
instructions for calibration.  

4.2 Source Preparation of Standards and Documentation of Standards and Procedures Used to 
Generate, Assess, and Document Calibrations 
RES will obtain certifiable standards from a vendor when calibration standards are required. Records and documentation 
associated with these standards will be as documented as specified in the FDEP SOPs. Specific calibration and checks will be 
performed as specified in the relevant sections of the FDEP SOPs. 

4.3 Maintenance of Field Equipment and Associated Documentation 
Preventive maintenance activities are necessary to ensure that the equipment can be used to obtain the expected results 
and to avoid unusable or broken equipment while in the field. Equipment is properly maintained when the following is 
occurring: 

 It functions as expected during mobilization; and 
 It is not a source of sample contamination. 

Listed below are the minimum steps taken to ensure that equipment used during sampling provides the expected results. 

 Follow the manufacturer's suggested maintenance activities and document all maintenance.  
 Each piece of equipment will be identified with a unique identification (such as the name of the item, if there is 

only one or a number if there are multiple similar items). The following information will be maintained for each 
piece of equipment or instrumentation:Identity (unique identifier code) and description (including software if 
used): 

 Manufacturer's name, model number, and serial number (if applicable); 
 Calibration checks or other tasks that demonstrate that the equipment performs as expected; 
 Manufacturer's operating and maintenance instructions; 
 Written preventive maintenance schedule that includes the activity and the frequency of each activity; and 
 Date(s) of any preventive maintenance, repairs, malfunctions, etc., and name of person(s) performing the task(s). 
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5.0 Review and Assessment 
Data validation can be performed at many levels. The most complex and time consuming generally involves following the 
procedures recommended by a regulatory agency such as the EPA. However, an abbreviated or partial data validation, or 
data quality review can be performed by reviewing a selected subset of QC parameters.  

The level of data validation required for a project is determined by the data quality objectives (DQOs) established for the 
project. DQOs mandate the QA/QC requirements for the project related to field and laboratory procedures. The most 
stringent DQOs are generally reserved for projects that involve human health and ecological risk assessments, whereas the 
least stringent DQOs may be required for projects that involve preliminary screening tasks. Between these extremes, DQOs 
should be consistent with the program objectives and use to which the data will be placed. 

For any of these projects and DQOs, an appropriate level of data validation or data quality review is recommended as a 
cost-effective method for providing analytical data of a known level of quality. During data validation or quality review, data 
is evaluated to determine if the measurement or data collection process was conducted in accordance with the QA/QC 
requirements cited for that activity and, if appropriate, whether the analytical laboratory met the minimum acceptable 
performance criteria for that measurement as established by the analytical method, the DQOs and established data 
validation criteria. 

5.1 QC Measures and Criteria 
Field QC measures monitor the sampling event to ensure that the collected samples are representative of the sample source 
and that the field-collected data have stated limits of precision and accuracy. These efforts will be performed in accordance 
with the protocols and procedures detailed in the FDEP SOPs. 

Field-collected blanks collected for contamination projects will demonstrate the criteria that the collected samples have not 
been contaminated by the following: 

 The sampling environment; 
 The sampling equipment; 
 The sample container; 
 The sampling preservatives; 
 Sample transport; and 
 Sample storage. 

Field measurement quality controls will demonstrate the following criteria: 

 The instrument was properly calibrated; and  
 The instrument maintained acceptable calibration during use. 

The FDEP SOP sections that address the type of control samples and the frequency of collecting these samples will be 
followed. All initial calibration and verification checks will meet the acceptance criteria outlined in FDEP SOPs.  

5.2 Type and Frequency of Field Generated Control Samples 
Field control samples will be collected to evaluate the data validity and sample collection process. Please refer to Section 
3.2 for a list of FDEP SOPs to identify the applicable SOPs for the type of control samples, the frequency of collecting these 
samples and the sampling protocol. 

5.3 Procedures to Assess Raw Data 
Documentation related to sample or data collection, including field logbooks and sampling logs, may be reviewed by the 
validator to check items such as proper purging of groundwater monitoring wells; performance and documentation of 
sample preservation techniques, such as pH adjustment; documentation of location and time, and equipment used during 
sampling; and proper decontamination of sampling equipment between the collection of discrete samples. Other items to 
be reviewed by the validator may include verification of test location, species, percent cover, tree location, diameter at breast 
height (DBH) or condition, transect layout, etc. 

Sample shipment documentation is essential to document that sample integrity was maintained throughout the sampling 
and analytical programs. Chain-of-custody forms, used by the field samplers to document the transfer of responsibility and 
stewardship for samples, are reviewed by the data validators for continuity, completeness, and accuracy. Problems noted 
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with these forms are carefully evaluated to assess their impact on the legal defensibility of the sample results. In some cases, 
significant problems with the chain-of-custody forms may indicate a need for resampling. 

Most of the effort related to data validation involves reviewing the data package for compliance with QA/QC criteria. The 
data package generated by an analytical laboratory contains information appropriate for the level of validation to be 
performed, the QA/QC requirements, and the projects DQOs. For a project with the most stringent DQOs, the data package 
will typically contain raw data or instrument output for environmental and QC samples, and calibration standards. It will also 
contain copies of extraction and analysis logbook pages and summarized calibration and QC data. 

The following list illustrates typical components of a laboratory data package evaluated during data validation: 

 Documentation completeness; 
 Holding times; 
 Calibration and mass spectral instrument tuning; 
 Instrument performance; 
 Sample blank analyses including method, calibration, and field blanks; 
 QC sample analyses including matrix spike, matrix spike duplicate, laboratory and field duplicates, laboratory 

control samples, and surrogate recoveries; 
 Laboratory control limits and method detection limits; 
 Compound identification and quantitation; and  
 Laboratory corrective actions. 

5.3.1 Data Reduction 
Data reduction addresses data transformation operations such as converting raw data into reportable quantities 
and units, use of significant figures, recording of extreme values, blank corrections, etc. Data verification ensures the 
accuracy of data transcription and calculations, if necessary, by checking a set of computer calculations manually or 
in spreadsheets. Data validation ensures that QC criteria have been met. 

5.3.2 Data Verification 
The process of data verification requires confirmation by examination or provision of objective evidence that the 
requirements of these specified QC acceptance criteria are met. In design and development, verification concerns 
the process of examining the result of a given activity to determine conformance to the stated requirements for that 
activity. For example, has the data been collected according to a specified method and has the collected data been 
faithfully recorded and transmitted? Does the data fulfill specified data format and metadata requirements? The 
process of data verification effectively ensures the accuracy of data using validated methods and protocols and is 
often based on comparison with reference standards. 

5.3.3 Data Validation 
The purpose for this task is to assess the usefulness of data generated during the field activities and provide 
information to prepare a data validation summary report. Data validation can be conducted in the field by an 
independent reviewer or at the office during review of the data. Data validation should be recorded by the reviewer 
on the project review form. 

5.4 Criteria for Initiating Corrective Action 
When the source of a QC error has been identified, appropriate steps will be taken to eliminate or minimize recurrences. If 
a QC measure is not acceptable, testing will continue until the QC check meets specifications. Corrective actions may be 
initiated: 

 By the individual who is operating the instrument or collected the data; or 
 By an individual in oversight authority (i.e. Project Manager, Division Manager or QAO) if a solution is not 

immediately apparent.  

The individual who identifies the problem will initiate corrective actions for QC measures. 
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If a verification check or initial calibration fails to meet acceptance criteria, immediately recalibrate the instrument or remove 
it from service. If a calibration check fails to meet acceptance criteria and it is not possible to reanalyze the sample(s) or 
recollect the data, the following will be conducted: 

 Report all results between the last acceptable calibration check and the failed calibration check: as estimated 
(report the value with a "J" qualifier); 

 Include a narrative description of the problem; and 
 Shorten the time period between verification checks or replace/repair the instrument. 

5.5 Deviation from Documented Policies and Procedures 
Effective communication between all personnel is an integral part of a quality system. Planned reports provide a structure 
for apprising management of the project schedule, the deviations from approved QA and test plans, the impact of these 
deviations on data quality, and the potential uncertainties in decisions based on the data. However, if is it not appropriate 
to document deviations in a report, emails, memos or other records can be used to document the deviation in the project 
file. 

If QC measures fail to meet acceptance criteria, the QC measure, and the procedures used to correct the problem will be 
documented. Documentation does not imply a formal memo or corrective action form. The documentation may include 
narratives in emails, telephone records or informal memos to the file. However, if more than one organization is involved 
with identifying a QC problem and the associated corrective actions, formal memos are recommended, although dated and 
signed phone logs and emails are acceptable. In all cases, a copy of all documentation should be maintained in the project 
files. 

If an identified QC problem affects more than one set of data or multiple projects, the documentation associated with 
identifying and resolving the problem will be cross-referenced to the affected projects. 

5.6 Auditing 
Proper use of technical audits and assessments provides important information to management to help ensure that collected 
environmental data are defensible. Audits and assessments can uncover deficiencies in physical facilities, equipment, project 
planning, training, operating procedures, technical operations, custody procedures, documentation of QA and QC activities, 
as well as quality system aspects applying to more than one project. Audits and assessments will be performed before, 
during, and after environmental data collection to ensure that collected environmental data are defensible. 

Systems audits will be conducted by company personnel in response to unacceptable or questionable QC or sample data 
and is a review and evaluation of the various components of the measurement and sample collection procedures to 
determine their proper selection and use. This audit would consist of a detailed review of each component of data collection 
and verification: 

 Systems or management audits will be performed periodically by the QAO or their designee; 
 A determination should be made that each element of an activity is functioning appropriately and within the 

guidelines of the proper methodology, the approved procedures and QA Plan; and 
 A list of deficiencies that will be addressed to correct, improve, and modify the system will be generated as a 

result of the audit. 
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6.0 Client Relations 
RES’ project development and implementation process is intended to ensure adequate allocation of team members and 
project resources, including the appropriate number of staff and sufficient field equipment and supplies. During 
development of the scope, the Project Manager and Division Manager are engaged to review the specific needs of the 
project and assign the qualified staff and equipment. Qualified staff are selected based on the specific training and 
experience. Equipment may be rented from outside vendors as needed. It is our approach to address resource needs at the 
scope development phase to ensure our expectations are in line with the client. Team members review project tasks and 
internal deadlines prior to and during project implementation to allow time to engage additional staff and resources 
necessary to meet the project needs.  

The assigned Project Manager serves as client liaison for the organization. The client is encouraged to provide feedback and 
input during the initial scoping and during implementation of the project. Client complaints received by staff are to be 
reported to the Project Manager, the Division Manager, and the General Manager. The appropriate level manager addresses 
client complaints. The manager will document the complaint, come to a resolution with the client and report to the pertinent 
staff to implement corrective actions. 

 



 

 

 

 

 



Financial Statements 
  



 

 

Resource Environmental 
Solutions, LLC and 
Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023

Confidential Proprietary Information



Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Index 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 

.............................................................................................................. 2 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Balance Sheets ............................................................................................................ 4 

Consolidated Statements of Operations ............................................................................................. 5 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Member  Equity.................................................................. 6 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ............................................................................................ 7 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ............................................................................... 8 25 

Confidential Proprietary Information



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Report of Independent Auditors 
 
The Board of Directors 
Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and Subsidiaries
 
Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and 
subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023
and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes (collectively 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  
 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

ments section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 

ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are 
available to be issued. 
 

Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
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includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

ingly, no such opinion 
is expressed.   

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 

concern for a reasonable period of time.
 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
 
 

 

Houston, Texas 

May 2, 2025 
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Business Overview.  Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC, together with its consolidated 
subsidiaries (the Company ) specializes in wetland mitigation, mitigation bank management, the 
professional services and field operations required to service such mitigation banks and other 
environmental consulting and construction services focused on streams, wetlands, species habitat, 
storm water facilities, ponds and lakes. The Company acquires land, restores, enhances, or 
establishes aquatic features and protects the land in perpetuity through consultation with the United 
States Army Corps of Engineers and other federal and state regulatory agencies. The Company 
provides mitigation solutions to customers through the sale of mitigation bank credits, providing 
services related to permittee responsible mitigation or managed customer bank arrangements. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company is wholly owned by Potamoi Holding, LLC ).  On 
March 7, 2022, Onex Corporation ( Onex ) through its wholly owned subsidiary, Onex RES 
Aggregator LP, purchased a controlling ownership interest (approximately 73%) in Potamoi. On 
March 7, 2022, 
KKR Jasmine Aggregator, LP, purchased a non-controlling ownership interest (approximately 23%) 
in Potamoi.  Collectively the Onex and KKR purchases are Certain 
previous shareholders rolled their ownership interest in the Company 
into Potamoi and account for the remaining non-controlling interest (approximately 4%) in Potamoi 
as of the purchase date.  

As of December 31, 2024, ownership interest in the Company was held by Onex with 
approximately 69%, KKR with approximately 21% and other investors, including certain members 
of the management team with approximately 10%.

Basis of Presentation.  
owned subsidiaries and majority owned subsidiaries for which it maintains controlling interests. The 

investments in certain joint ventures it controls and are consolidated. Investments in entities in 
which the Company does not have a controlling financial interest, but over which it has the ability to 
exert significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. The Company utilizes the 
cost method for investments in entities in which the Company does not have a controlling financial 
interest or significant influence.  

All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  The 
Company maintains its accounting records and prepares its financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of certain affiliated 
companies related through common ownership and stockholders. The affiliated companies 
included in the consolidation are: 
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Definitions. In an effort to enhance the understanding of the information presented, the following 
definitions are provided: 

 Mitigation bank  A wetland, stream, or other aquatic resource area that has been restored, 
established, enhanced or preserved for the purpose of providing compensation for unavoidable 
impacts to aquatic resources. A mitigation bank may be created when an entity acts under 
agreement with a regulatory agency to restore an approved property. 

 Mitigation banking instrument ( MBI )  An agreement between the entity restoring a property 
and the regulatory agency involved. The agreement outlays, among other terms, the plan for 
the restoration as well as the mitigation credits that will be awarded as a result of the plan. In a 
MBI, the Company is obligated to fulfill the requirements of the plan with the regulatory agency. 

 Mitigation credit  A measurement of the restoration work performed on a property which is 
awarded by the regulatory agency. These credits can be sold to outside parties who may be 
required to mitigate based on their own interference with similar areas. 

 Permittee responsible mitigation ( PRM ) Under these arrangements, the Company identifies 
and acquires control over appropriate land, develops a permit plan sufficient to offset the 

with a regulatory agency and executes the permit plan, including design, 
construction, maintenance and monitoring of the project . In a 
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PRM, the customer is ultimately obligated to fulfill the requirements of the plan with the 
regulatory agency. However, in the arrangement with the customer, the Company will take on 
this obligation, execute the work necessary to satisfy the requirements and provide a 
performance bond to the customer. This work may be associated with wetland, stream, species 
habitat, or other aquatic resource mitigation 
or compliance services provided to customers in areas where mitigation banks are not 
operating or where sufficient mitigation bank credits do not exist in order to service the impacts 
of a project. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the basis of accounting described above 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. 
assumptions derived from information available at the time such judgments and estimates are 
made. Uncertainties with respect to such estimates and assumptions are inherent in the 
preparation of financial statements. assessment of 
progress on over-time contracts for revenue recognition, allocation of transaction pricing to certain 
service performance obligations, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of capitalized mitigation 
cost, useful lives of long-lived assets, goodwill and long-lived asset impairments, mitigation land 
valuation, stock compensation, and purchase price allocations. 

Fair value measurements 
We estimate fair value at a price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market for the asset or 
liability. Our valuation techniques require inputs that we categorize using a three-level hierarchy, 
from highest to lowest level of observable inputs, as follows: (1) significant observable inputs, 
including unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabiliti  
(2) significant other observable inputs, including direct or indirect market data for similar assets or 

 
(3) significant unobservable inputs, including those that require considerable judgment for which 

  When a valuation requires multiple input levels, we 
categorize the entire fair value measurement according to the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the measurement even though we may have also utilized significant inputs that are more readily 
observable. 

Income Taxes 
The Company is a limited liability company that has not filed an entity classification with the Internal 
Revenue Service. Therefore, the Company is recognized as a partnership for Federal income tax 
purposes and all income of the Company flows through to the members. 
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 Nursery and Restoration Services - Revenues for nursery and restoration service sales are 
recognized over-time as services are performed or goods are shipped at a point in time, and 
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risk of ownership has transferred to the customer. Nursery and restoration revenue during 
2024 and 2023 was $7,460 and 9,140, respectively.

Contract Assets and Liabilities 
Contract assets are stated net of the allowance for credit losses, which are recorded based on 
historical losses as well the Compan  expectation of future collections and represent a 
conditional right to consideration due to the satisfaction of a performance obligation or unbilled 
receivable, which will become unconditional upon completion of the required billing milestones. 
Once unconditional, these balances are recorded in accounts receivable. Retention receivables are 
classified as contract assets on the balance sheet. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the 
Company has a recorded allowance for credit losses of $201 and $183, respectively. There were 
no significant write-offs recorded during the current fiscal year. 

Contract liabilities represent a right to consideration prior to the satisfaction of the related 
performance obligation and are typically recorded when we bill the customer in advance of the 
recognition of related revenues.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers cash in banks and investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash and cash equivalents. 

Accounts Receivable   
Accounts receivable are stated net of the allowance for credit losses, which are recorded based on 
historical losses as well the Compan  expectation of future collections. As of December 31, 2024, 
and 2023, the Company has a recorded allowance for credit losses of $1,133 and $921, 
respectively. There were no significant write-offs recorded during the current fiscal year. 

Inventory 
Nursery plant and seed inventory are held within other current assets and valued at lower of cost or 
net realizable value while the produced seeds and plants are valued at a discounted, wholesale 
value.  Any necessary lower-of-cost-or-market write-downs at year end are recorded as permanent 
adjustments to the basis.  As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company has inventory 
balances of $5,076 and $4,439, respectively. 

Mitigation Asset 
Upon approval of an MBI, the Company accrues a liability for the estimated remaining future direct 
costs to fulfill its obligation under the MBI with the regulatory agency with such costs capitalized as 
a Mitigation Asset. As direct costs are incurred, the mitigation liability is reduced. The liability is 
classified as a current liability for direct costs expected to be incurred within the next twelve 
months. The total cost of the Mitigation Asset for an approved MBI, which includes direct costs 
incurred both prior and estimated after MBI approval, represents the cost basis of all the mitigation 
credits, both released and unreleased, under the MBI from the regulatory agency. When credits are 
sold to customers, the Mitigation Assets is expensed to cost of goods sold based on the cost per 
mitigation credit estimated under the MBI. The Company re-assesses the liability of estimated 
remaining future direct costs required under the MBI, with such adjustments recorded to the 
Mitigation Asset or cost of goods sold proportionate to the credits sold. The Company assesses the 
recoverability of the Mitigation Asset by MBI and will record a reserve to reduce the carrying 
amount of the Mitigation Asset when it is estimated that the Company will sell credits below their 
cost basis. In such an event, the Company will record the Mitigation Asset at the expected net 
realizable value of the mitigation credits. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023 no such reserve was 
required. 
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Capitalized Mitigation Costs 
Under an MBI, prior to regulatory approval, the Company capitalizes direct costs associated with 
generating mitigation credits under the plan as a Capitalized mitigation cost. Capitalized mitigation 
costs are evaluated for recoverability with a reserve recorded if the expected credit revenue is less 
than the expected total capitalized cost of the in-process mitigation asset.  

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method 
for financial reporting purposes over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, ranging 
from 1 to 30 years. 

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while expenditures that substantially 
increase the useful lives of the assets are capitalized. When items of property or equipment are 
sold or retired, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and 
any resulting gain or loss is included in the accompanying statements of income.  

The Company continuously assesses whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of property and equipment may not be recoverable. We assess recoverability of 
our long-lived assets at our asset grouping level which we have determined to be our geographic 
regions which are also our Goodwill reporting units. Impairment indicators of our asset groups 
include, but are not limited to, the nature of the asset, the future economic benefit of the asset, any 
historical or future profitability measures, and other external market conditions or factors that may 
be present.  

In the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company conducted an assessment for triggering events at the 
reporting unit level and determined that the significant reduction in operating results for the Central 
reporting unit as compared to the anticipated results was a triggering event. After completing an 
impairment review by comparing undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value of the assets for the 
Central reporting unit, a determination was made that property and equipment were not impaired. 
No triggering events were present for the East or West reporting units. No indicators of impairment 
of property, plant, and equipment were identified during the year ended December 31, 2024.   
 
Restricted Cash 
As part of the regulatory instrument requirements for the mitigation banks and PRM projects of the 
Company, cash is held in escrow to ensure the construction, establishment and maintenance of the 
bank in perpetuity upon closing of the regulatory site plan. At various points in the future, pending 
compliance with the regulatory instrument, funds may be released from escrow. The Company has 
$2,876 and $3,178 in escrow as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively, to ensure the 
construction and establishment of mitigation banks and PRM projects which upon attainment of 
regulatory instrument requirements will be released back to the Company. The Company has 
$10,164 and $9,991 in escrow as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively, to ensure the 
maintenance of the bank and PRM projects in perpetuity which will remain in escrow for this 
purpose. The amount held for perpetual assurance of bank and PRM maintenance is included with 
other liabilities with the corresponding assets included with restricted cash and restricted 
investments as an asset on the consolidated balance sheets for the portion of funds allocated to 
this purpose.  

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported 
within the statement of financial position that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in 
the statement of cash flows. 
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Investment in Land Held for Mitigation 
Investment in land held for bank mitigation, PRM and Managed Banks represents land that is 
subject to restrictive covenants due to environmental easements that have been applied to fulfill 
mitigation obligations, as well as land without restrictive covenants but held for the purpose for 
future mitigation projects. When an environmental easement is applied to land, the land is reduced 
from its historical cost basis to its estimated fair value with the difference being capitalized in 
capitalized mitigation costs. Land not subject to restrictive covenant is recorded at historical cost 
and classified as property and equipment, net. For purposes of cash flow presentation, when land 
is purchased, an estimate of the expected adjustment to the value of the land that will occur upon a 
future environmental easement is calculated and classified as an operating cash outflow. The 
residual between the total cost of the land and estimated adjustment for an environmental 
easement is classified as an investing outflow. To determine the fair value of the land under 
easement we utilize Level 2 observable market pricing of similar assets. 

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates
The Company held a 25% membership interest in EBX-Waccamaw, LLC as of January 1, 2022, 
and accounted for this investment under the equity method of accounting. Accordingly, the 
Company recognized its share in the net earnings or losses of the associated company as they 
occur within other revenue. On October 14, 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 
membership interest bringing total ownership to 100%. The related balances and all operating 
activities have been fully consolidated subsequent to the date of acquisition.    

The Company holds a 10% membership interest in RLF Angleton Properties, LLC, and accounts 
for this investment under the cost method of accounting. Accordingly, the investment is recorded at 
the initial investment cost plus any additional contributions. The Company contributed $0 during the 
years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023. The investment balance totaled $690 and $690 as of 
December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

The Company holds a 10% membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES Aster, 
LLC, and accounts for this investment under the equity method of accounting.  Accordingly, the 
Company recognizes its share in the net realized earnings or losses of the associated company as 
they occur within other revenue.   The Company contributed $769 and $297 during the year ended 
December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. The investment balance totaled $2.092 and $2,384 as 
of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

During 2023 the Company entered into a joint venture where the Company holds a 10% 
membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES Aster II, LLC, and accounts for this 
investment under the equity method of accounting.  Accordingly, the Company recognizes its share 
in the net realized earnings or losses of the associated company as they occur within other 
revenue.   Total contributions, including initial investment, during the year ended December 31, 
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2024 and 2023 totaled $285 and $420, respectively.  The investment balance totaled $660 and 
$414 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The Company holds a 20% membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES Florida, 
LLC, and accounts for this investment under the equity method of accounting.  Accordingly, the 
Company recognizes its share in the net earnings or losses of the associated company as they 
occur within other revenue.   The Company contributed $0 and $2,804 during the year ended 
December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. The investment balance totaled $5,665 and $7,023 as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Company holds a 20% membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES-RLH 
West Coast Management, LLC, and accounts for this investment under the equity method of 
accounting.  Accordingly, the Company recognizes its share in the net earnings or losses of the 
associated company as they occur within other revenue.   The Company contributed $0 and $263 
during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  The investment balance totaled 
$3,616 and $3,284 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.    

Intangible Assets 
The Company has intangible assets associated with customer relationships which is subject to 
amortization. The value of the customer relationships is estimated as of the date a business is 
acquired based upon the value-in-use concept. The analysis utilized the multi-period excess 
earnings methodology income approach which consists of discounting to present value the 

attrition patterns. 

The Company has intangible assets associated with trade names which are subject to 
amortization. The value of the trade names are estimated as of the date a business is acquired 
based upon the value-in-use concept.  The analysis utilized the relief from royalty income approach 
which consists of discounting to present value the hypothetical royalty payments the Company 
would be willing to pay to enjoy the benefits of the assets.  

The Company amortizes intangible assets based upon the estimated consumption of economic 
benefits of each intangible asset or liability. Intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed 
for impairment and are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized 
if the carrying amount of an intangible asset is not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its 
fair value. No such impairments were recognized as of December 31, 2024, or 2023.   

Goodwill 
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As of January 1, 2022, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2021-03, 
"Accounting Alternative for Evaluating Triggering Events". The ASU allows private companies and 
not-for-profit organizations to use a simplified approach in assessing whether a triggering event has 
occurred that requires goodwill to be tested for impairment. Under the new alternative, entities are 
not required to calculate the fair value of all reporting units to determine if a triggering event has 
occurred. Instead, entities may use qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company has elected under 
the standard to only assess triggering events for its reporting units at the end of each reporting 
period. The financial statements were not affected by the adoption of ASU 2021-03.  

At the 2023 period end, the Company conducted an assessment for triggering events at the 
reporting unit level and determined that the significant reduction in operating results for the Central 
reporting unit as compared to the anticipated results was a triggering event. No triggering events 
were present for the East or West reporting units.

Fair value was estimated by weighting the results from the income approach and the market 
approach. These valuation approaches consider a number of factors that include, but are not 
limited to, prospective free cash flows, growth rates, residual value, discount rates, and comparable 
multiples from recent merger and acquisition transactions of companies in our industry and require 
the use of certain assumptions and estimates regarding industry economic factors and future 
profitability.  

After completing the annual impairment review for the Central reporting unit during the fourth 
quarter of 2023, a determination was made that goodwill was impaired. An impairment of goodwill 
of $96,844 is included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

At the 2024 period end, the Company conducted a qualitative assessment for triggering events at 
the reporting unit level and determined that no triggering events were present for the East or West 
reporting units. 

Our reporting units are geographically based and defined as follows: East (Northeast, Mid-Atlantic 
and Southeast), Central (Gulf Coast and Midwest) and West (West Coast).  

   

Equity Compensation 
The Company accounts for certain equity-based compensation plans under ASC 718 
Compensation  Stock Compensation. These incentive plans represent equity awards in Potamoi 
Holdings LLC; however, the cost of the plan incentives have been pushed down to Resource 
Environmental Solutions, LLC and is recorded on their books. In 2023, these incentive plans 
represent awards in RES Holdings, LP; however, the cost of the plan incentives have been pushed 
down to Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and is recorded on their books.  The 
compensation plans are valued within a Black-Scholes based option pricing method framework 
considering attributes of each class of equity. Compensation expense during 2024 and 2023 was 
$2,478 and $2,184, respectively.  
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Leases 
The Company leases certain facilities, vehicles, and equipment.  The Company determines if an 
arrangement contains a lease at contract inception and recognizes ROU assets and lease liabilities 
for leases with terms greater than twelve months.  Leases with an initial term of twelve months or 
less are accounted for as short-term leases and are not recognized in the balance sheet.  
Operating fixed lease expenses and finance lease amortization expense are recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.  Variable lease payments which cannot be determined at 
the lease commencement date, such as reimbursement of lessor expenses were not included in 
the ROU assets or lease liabilities.   

The Company elected the practical expedient that allows the Company to carry forward the 
historical lease classifications.  For all new and modified leases entered into after the adoption of 
ASC 842, the Company reassesses the lease classification and lease term on the effective date of 
modification.  Lease term includes renewal periods if the Company is reasonably certain to 

material residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants. The Company also applied certain 
optional practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, 
which among other things, allowed the carryforward of historical lease classification as well as 
additional practical expedients related to hindsight, short term lease leases, risk free rate, and non-
lease components. The Company also elected the package of practical expedients. 

The Company estimates the incremental borrowing rates based on prevailing financial market 
conditions, comparable companies and credit analysis and management judgments to determine 
the present value of its lease payments.   

2. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively: 

  

 

Depreciation expense during 2024 and 2023 was $6,035 and $5,397, respectively. 
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3. Intangible Assets  

Customer relationships and trade name assets are amortized utilizing an accelerated method 
based upon the assumed usage. The carrying value of the intangible assets are as follows: 

  

 

 
Future estimated amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 
2024 is as follows: 
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4. Related Party Transactions 

As a result of certain payments made by the Company on behalf of related parties, the Company 
has $280 and $4 in accounts receivable - affiliates from a related party as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. These payments are associated with normal business expenses of the 
unconsolidated affiliates for which the Company incurs capital and operating expenses on behalf of 
and are unsecured, non-interest bearing, with no set terms of repayment. The total of these 
payments during 2024 and 2023 were $1,669 and $674, respectively.  Included in the normal 
operating business expenses are rental payments to an entity that is partially owned by employees 
of the Company. Total related party rent expense during 2024 and 2023 were $290 and $370, 
respectively. 

5. Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company periodically maintains cash in bank accounts in excess of federally insured limits. 
The Company has not experienced any losses and does not believe that significant credit risk 
exists as a result of this practice. 

The Company had zero customers whose contractual revenue earned was in excess of 10% of 
gross revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024, and one customer whose contractual 
revenue earned was 11.3% of total gross revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
Revenue is derived from operations predominately within the United States of America for the 
years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023. Receivables from one customer represented 13.7% of 
total accounts receivable  trade as of December 31, 2024 and one customer represented 13.0% 
of total accounts receivable  trade as of December 31, 2023.  

6. Debt and Notes Payable  

A summary of debt at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively is as follows:  

     

 

 

Confidential Proprietary Information



Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Statements (in thousands) 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The Company has capitalized loan origination fees in connection with the revolving facility which 
are subject to amortization through July 2027. These capitalized loan fees are presented as a 
reduction in the line of credit balance on the balance sheet for $1,809 and $2,709 as of December 
31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. 

The line of credit agreement contains certain financial covenants and provides for borrowings 
These covenants include (a) an 

indebtedness to EBITDA ratio, which is only tested if availability under the line of credit is less than 
$50 million, of no higher than 4.50 through December 31, 2023 and reducing to 4.00 January 1, 
2024 and (b) a fixed charge coverage ratio no lower than 1.25. The Company was in compliance 
with all covenants as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

customers require letters of credit to guarantee performance under its 
contracts. Such letters of credit are issued by a bank and commits the issuer to pay specified 
amounts to the holder of the letter of credit if the holder demonstrates that the Company has failed 
to perform actions as contractually obligated. The Company does not believe that it is likely that 
any material claims would be made under a letter of credit in the foreseeable future. As of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had outstanding letters of credit for $308 and $92, 
respectively, which is secured by amounts held in cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively.  

During 2022 the Company incurred a note payable in connection with the acquisition of land for 
RES R Bar Land, LLC for $8,995. The note is secured by a mortgage on the property and accrued 
interest at a rate of 5.0% payable in arrears every six months. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
the note was payable in the amount of $0 and $7,912, respectively, and included in Notes Payable 
in the table above. 

RES-RLH West Coast II, LLC entered into a credit agreement on April 18, 2022 that has a $2,250 
term loan and $2,150 available revolving note. The credit facility is secured by RES MBI, LLC and 
RES-RLH West Coast II, neither of which are guarantors under the Resource Environmental 
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Solutions, LLC credit facility.  The term loan accrues interest at a rate of 4.75% payable quarterly 
and matures on April 18, 2027.  The revolving note accrues interest at a rate of 4.75% payable 
quarterly and matures on April 18, 2027.  As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the term loan was 
payable in the amount of $1,688 and $1,912, respectively.  As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
the revolving note had $36 and $36 amount drawn and outstanding, respectively.  The Company 
has capitalized loan origination fees of $230 in connection with these notes payable which are 
subject to amortization through April 2027, respectively. These capitalized loan fees are presented 
as a reduction in the line of credit balance on the balance sheet for $161 and $208 as of December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the term loan was paid in full 
on May 2, 2025. 

On November 22, 2024 Environmental Bank & Exchange, LLC (EBX) incurred a note payable for 
$14,742. The note is secured by certain mitigation assets of EBX and accrues interest at a rate of 
11.95% with interest and principal payable quarterly. As of December 31, 2024, the note was 
payable in the amount of $13,527 and included in Notes Payable in the table above. 

Contractual maturities 

Contractual maturities on debt are as follows: 

 

Derivatives 
 
The Company entered into interest rate swap agreements with a total original notional amount of 
$100,000 with an effective date of December 29, 2023 and expiring December 2025. During 2024 
the Company entered into additional interest rate swap agreements with a total original notional 
amount of $100,000 with an effective date of December 31, 2025 and expiring December 2026. 
The interest rate swap agreements are designed to provide predictability against changes in the 

a portion of the 
rate. The transaction is a zero-cost collar 

interest rate swap.   
 
The transaction is considered an effective cash flow hedge on the notional $100,000 intended to 
mitigate the interest rate risk on the Company line of credit. The collar for the swap effective during 
2024 and 2025 is set between 3.66% and 4.67% on the published SOFR and reset quarterly. The 
collar for the swap effective in 2026 is set between 3.33% and 3.99% on the published SOFR and 
reset quarterly. Observable inputs of interest rate yields are relied upon to value the interest rate 
swap. Where inputs can be observed in a liquid market and no significant judgment is required, 
such derivates are typically classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. At December 31, 2024 
and 2023, the effective portion of the cash flow hedges is included on the consolidated balance 
sheets in accumulated other comprehensive income.
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The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements is included in other assets on the consolidated 
balance sheets as follows: 
 
 

 

 
7. Lease Obligations 

The amounts of the lease obligations are based on the discounted present value of future minimum 
lease payments, and therefore do not reflect future cash lease payments. Amounts due within one 
year equal the amount by which the capital lease obligations are expected to be reduced during the 
next 12 months.  

The Company had leasing arrangements primarily for office buildings, vehicles, and equipment with 
corresponding assets and liabilities as follows: 
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The weighted average remaining lease terms and discount rates are as follows: 

 

Contractual maturities 

Contractual maturities on lease obligations are as follows: 

  

Interest expense incurred during 2024 and 2023 was $15,972 and $16,840, respectively. Rent 
expense during 2024 and 2023 was $4,690 and $4,629, respectively.  Amortization expense for 
finance leases during 2024 and 2023 was $4,786 and $5,663, respectively. 
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8. Commitments and Contingencies 

 

 

Litigation 

The Company may be subject to claims and litigation arising in the normal course of its business. 
The Company is not aware of any claims or proceedings and believes that any potential claims 
proceedings arising in the normal course of its business will not have a material, adverse effect on 
its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

9. Incentive Stock 

In connection with the Acquisition, various classes of interests in RES Holdings, LP were 
established including common units (Class A and Class A-II), Class B Matching Units and Class B 
Incentive Units.  Class A unit holders have sole ability to elect members of the board of Potamoi.  
Holders of the Class B units have a fractional part of the interest in the profits, losses and 
distributions of Potamoi.  Onex and KKR are the holders of Class A units and certain current and 
former members of management are holders of Class A-II and Class B units. 

The Class B unit holders do not t date but rather, 
vest in five tranches based on time.  Class B unit holders at the date of grant were members of the 

The grant date fair value of the Class B unit time vested tranches 
were $11,034 and $8,015 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Of these amounts 
$2,478 and $2,184 were recognized as compensation expense in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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The Company used a non-controlling, non-marketable Black-Scholes based option pricing method 
to estimate the grant date fair value of the units. The assumptions used in the valuation represent 
Level 3 inputs as defined by ASC 820. The following assumptions were applied in determining the 
fair value of the grants: 

 

10. Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through May 2, 2025, the date the consolidated 
financial statements were available for issuance and determined no events that require disclosure. 
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Report of Independent Auditors 

The Board of Directors 
Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and Subsidiaries 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC 
and subsidiaries (the Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 
31, 2023 and 2022 (Successor), and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in 
members’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the periods March 8, 
2022 to December 31, 2022 (Successor) and January 1, 2022 to March 7, 2022 (Predecessor), and 
the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022 (Successor), and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the periods March 8, 2022 
to December 31, 2022 (Successor) and January 1, 2022 to March 7, 2022 (Predecessor) in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are 
available to be issued. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such

opinion is expressed.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going

concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Houston, Texas 

May 2, 2024 
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Business Overview.  Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC, together with its consolidated 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) specializes in wetland mitigation, mitigation bank management, the 
professional services and field operations required to service such mitigation banks and other 
environmental consulting and construction services focused on streams, wetlands, species habitat, 
storm water facilities, ponds and lakes. The Company acquires land, restores, enhances, or 
establishes aquatic features and protects the land in perpetuity through consultation with the United 
States Army Corps of Engineers and other federal and state regulatory agencies. The Company 
provides mitigation solutions to customers through the sale of mitigation bank credits, providing 
services related to permittee responsible mitigation or managed customer bank arrangements. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company is wholly owned by Potamoi Holding, LLC (“Potamoi”).  On 
March 7, 2022, Onex Corporation (“Onex”) through its wholly owned subsidiary, Onex RES 
Aggregator LP, purchased a controlling ownership interest (approximately 73%) in Potamoi. On 
March 7, 2022, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. LP. (“KKR”) through its wholly owned subsidiary, 
KKR Jasmine Aggregator, LP, purchased a non-controlling ownership interest (approximately 23%) 
in Potamoi.  Collectively the Onex and KKR purchases are referred to as “the Acquisition”.  Certain 
previous shareholders (“Management Holdings”) rolled their ownership interest in the Company 
into Potamoi and account for the remaining non-controlling interest (approximately 4%) in Potamoi 
as of the purchase date.  

After March 7, 2022, certain new employee shareholders purchased ownership interest that totaled 
$5,305. As of December 31, 2023, ownership interest in the Company was held by Onex with 
approximately 73%, KKR with approximately 22% and other investors, including certain members 
of the management team with approximately 5%. 

Basis of Presentation.  For the period January 1, 2022 through March 7, 2022, (“Predecessor 
Period”) the Company is referred to as the Predecessor. For the period March 8, 2022 through 
December 31, 2022, (the “Successor Period”) the Company is referred to as the Successor. The 
Successor and Predecessor are collectively referred to as the Company. The financial statements 
have been presented with 2022 information separated into two periods. The Company applied 
push-down purchase accounting to the transaction and the purchase accounting impacts are 
recorded in the financial statements of the Successor. Due to the application of push-down 
purchase accounting, different bases of accounting have been used to prepare the financial 
statements in the Predecessor and Successor periods. A black line separates the Predecessor and 
Successor periods to highlight the lack of comparability between these two bases of accounting. 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include all wholly owned subsidiaries and 
majority owned subsidiaries for which it maintains controlling interests. The consolidated financial 
statements also include the accounts of certain of the Company’s investments in certain joint 
ventures it controls and are consolidated. Investments in entities in which the Company does not 
have a controlling financial interest, but over which it has the ability to exert significant influence are 
accounted for using the equity method. The Company utilizes the cost method for investments in 
entities in which the Company does not have a controlling financial interest or significant influence.  

All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  The 
Company maintains its accounting records and prepares its financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of certain affiliated 
companies related through common ownership and stockholders. The affiliated companies 
included in the consolidation are: 

 

 

Definitions. In an effort to enhance the understanding of the information presented, the following 
definitions are provided: 

• Mitigation bank – A wetland, stream, or other aquatic resource area that has been restored, 
established, enhanced or preserved for the purpose of providing compensation for unavoidable 
impacts to aquatic resources. A mitigation bank may be created when an entity acts under 
agreement with a regulatory agency to restore an approved property. 

• Mitigation banking instrument (“MBI”) – An agreement between the entity restoring a property 
and the regulatory agency involved. The agreement outlays, among other terms, the plan for 
the restoration as well as the mitigation credits that will be awarded as a result of the plan. In a 
MBI, the Company is obligated to fulfill the requirements of the plan with the regulatory agency. 

• Mitigation credit – A measurement of the restoration work performed on a property which is 
awarded by the regulatory agency. These credits can be sold to outside parties who may be 
required to mitigate based on their own interference with similar areas. 
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• Permittee responsible mitigation (“PRM”) – Under these arrangements, the Company identifies 
and acquires control over appropriate land, develops a permit plan sufficient to offset the 
client’s impacts with a regulatory agency and executes the permit plan, including design, 
construction, maintenance and monitoring of the project upon the client’s permit approval. In a 
PRM, the customer is ultimately obligated to fulfill the requirements of the plan with the 
regulatory agency. However, in the arrangement with the customer, the Company will take on 
this obligation, execute the work necessary to satisfy the requirements and provide a 
performance bond to the customer. This work may be associated with wetland, stream, species 
habitat, Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (“MS4”), or other aquatic resource mitigation 
or compliance services provided to customers in areas where mitigation banks are not 
operating or where sufficient mitigation bank credits do not exist in order to service the impacts 
of a project. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the basis of accounting described above 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Judgments and estimates are based on the Company’s 
assumptions derived from information available at the time such judgments and estimates are 
made. Uncertainties with respect to such estimates and assumptions are inherent in the 
preparation of financial statements. Estimates are primarily used in the Company’s determination of 
the fair value of certain assets in the application of push down accounting, assessment of progress 
on over-time contracts for revenue recognition, allocation of transaction pricing to certain service 
performance obligations, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of capitalized mitigation cost, 
useful lives of long-lived assets, goodwill and fixed asset impairments, mitigation land valuation, 
stock compensation, and purchase price allocations. 

Fair value measurements 
We estimate fair value at a price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market for the asset or 
liability. Our valuation techniques require inputs that we categorize using a three-level hierarchy, 
from highest to lowest level of observable inputs, as follows: (1) significant observable inputs, 
including unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets (“Level 1”), 
(2) significant other observable inputs, including direct or indirect market data for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities in less active markets (“Level 2”) and 
(3) significant unobservable inputs, including those that require considerable judgment for which 
there is little or no market data (“Level 3”). When a valuation requires multiple input levels, we 
categorize the entire fair value measurement according to the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the measurement even though we may have also utilized significant inputs that are more readily 
observable. 

Income Taxes 
The Company is a limited liability company that has not filed an entity classification with the Internal 
Revenue Service. Therefore, the Company is recognized as a partnership for Federal income tax 
purposes and all income of the Company flows through to the members. 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
A summary of our revenue recognition policy under ASC 606 is below:  

• Mitigation Banking: The Company recognizes revenue on mitigation bank credit sales when the 
customer has signed a contract, the credits are available to be applied to a permit and the 
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credits have either been applied to the customer’s permit or pending customer identification of 
the permit the credits should be applied against. We did not identify any terms or conditions in 
the contracts that we considered variable consideration. Mitigation bank credit sales during 
2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods were $78,744, $43,038, and $13,639, 
respectively. 

• Managed Banks and PRM contracts – We have determined that our Managed Banks and PRM 
contracts generally include three separately identifiable performance obligations: Permitting, 
Design/Build Construction and Monitoring performance obligations. We have determined the 
scopes of work for the performance obligations were distinct elements of the contract and 
recognized revenue for them separately. The revenue for all three performance obligations will 
be recognized over time as we believe the customer receives the value of our services in all 
three instances as we perform the work. Our Managed Bank and PRM contracts generally 
include one fixed price for the delivery of all three performance obligations. We have allocated 
the transaction price to each performance obligation based on the estimated cost to fulfill the 
performance obligation plus a reasonable margin based on our history of performance or 
observable pricing. A description of each performance obligation and the amount of revenue 
recognized for each in 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods, respectively 
follows:  

 
o Permitting – Activities include quantifying customer needed offsets, identifying potential 

land for customer offsets and creating a permit plan framework that can be considered 
by the customer and associated regulatory agencies that will ultimately approve for the 
potential customer’s permit application, acquiring control of the land, development and 
documentation of a plan, and obtaining approval for the plan as designed. Revenue for 
permitting is recognized as work is performed utilizing a cost-to-cost measurement 
method and actual costs are recognized as incurred. Permitting revenue during 2023 
and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $61,826, $25,802, and $2,682, 
respectively. 
 

o Design/Build Construction – Activities include final design plans and all tasks specified 
in the mitigation plans through as-built survey. Revenue is recognized as work is 
performed utilizing a cost-to-cost measurement method and actual costs are 
recognized as incurred.  Mitigation Construction revenue during 2023 and the 
Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $27,816, $24,173, and $5,871, 
respectively.  

 
o Monitoring Obligation – Activities include all site maintenance following construction 

deemed necessary to maintain performance standards necessary to achieve the 
mitigation plan milestones as well as on site monitoring and report submittal as 
identified in the mitigation plan.  Revenue is recognized as work is performed utilizing 
an output method based on the delivery of required monitoring reports. Monitoring 
revenue during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $2,675, 
$10,127, and $341, respectively. 

 
• Construction-only Services - The Company services construction-only contracts focused on 

streams, wetlands, storm water facilities, ponds and lakes. Revenue is recognized over-time as 
work is performed utilizing a cost-to-cost measurement method and actual costs are 
recognized as incurred. In a limited number of contracts where duration and contract value are 
minimal revenue is recognized over-time as we believe we deliver value to the customer as we 
perform the related construction activities over time.  We did not identify any terms or 
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conditions in the contracts that are considered variable consideration under ASC 606. 
Construction revenue during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was 
$113,627, $81,477, and $11,251, respectively. 

 
• Advisory Services - Calculated at the time services are performed at the agreed upon 

contractual services rate per hour. We did not identify any terms or conditions in the contracts 
that are considered variable consideration.  Revenue recorded is recognized over-time as we 
believe we deliver value to the customer as we perform the related services over time. 
Advisory consulting revenue during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods 
was $24,267, $22,859, and $3,696, respectively. 

• Nursery and Restoration Services - Revenues for nursery and restoration service sales are 
recognized over-time as services are performed or goods are shipped at a point in time, and 
risk of ownership has transferred to the customer. Nursery and restoration revenue during 
2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $9,140, $8,102, and $630, 
respectively. 

Adoption of Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 326, Credit Losses 
On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments – Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which replaces the incurred 
loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected 
credit loss (CECL) methodology.  CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for the remaining 
estimated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable 
and supportable forecasts and generally applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, 
including loan receivables and held-to-maturity debt securities, and some off-balance sheet credit 
exposures such as unfunded commitments to extend credit.  Financial assets measured at 
amortized cost will be presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using an allowance 
for credit losses. 

The Company adopted ASC 326 using the prospective transition approach for financial assets with 
credit exposure.  Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2023 are presented under 
ASC 326 and resulted in a reserve of $1,103 while prior period amounts continue to be reported in 
accordance with previously applicable GAAP.  There was no material impact due to the adoption. 

Contract Assets and Liabilities 
Contract assets are stated net of the allowance for credit losses, which are recorded based on 
historical losses as well the Companies expectation of future collections and represent a 
conditional right to consideration due to the satisfaction of a performance obligation or unbilled 
receivable, which will become unconditional upon completion of the required billing milestones. 
Once unconditional, these balances are recorded in accounts receivable. Retention receivables are 
classified as contract assets on the balance sheet. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the 
Company has a recorded allowance for credit losses of $183 and $0, respectively. 

Contract liabilities represent a right to consideration prior to the satisfaction of the related 
performance obligation and are typically recorded when we bill the customer in advance of the 
recognition of related revenues.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers cash in banks and investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash and cash equivalents. 
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Accounts Receivable   
Accounts receivable are stated net of the allowance for credit losses, which are recorded based on 
historical losses as well the Companies expectation of future collections.  As of December 31, 
2023, and 2022, the Company has a recorded allowance for credit losses of $921 and an 
allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,000, respectively. 

Inventory 
Nursery plant and seed inventory are held within other current assets and valued at lower of cost or 
net realizable value while the produced seeds and plants are valued at a discounted, wholesale 
value.  Any necessary lower-of-cost-or-market write-downs at year end are recorded as permanent 
adjustments to the basis.   
 
Mitigation Asset 
Upon approval of an MBI, the Company accrues a liability for the estimated remaining future direct 
costs to fulfill its obligation under the MBI with the regulatory agency with such costs capitalized as 
a Mitigation Asset. As direct costs are incurred, the mitigation liability is reduced. The liability is 
classified as a current liability for direct costs expected to be incurred within the next twelve 
months. The total cost of the Mitigation Asset for an approved MBI, which includes direct costs 
incurred both prior and estimated after MBI approval, represents the cost basis of all the mitigation 
credits, both released and unreleased, under the MBI from the regulatory agency. When credits are 
sold to customers, the Mitigation Assets is expensed to cost of goods sold based on the cost per 
mitigation credit estimated under the MBI. The Company re-assesses the liability of estimated 
remaining future direct costs required under the MBI, with such adjustments recorded to the 
Mitigation Asset or cost of goods sold proportionate to the credits sold. The Company assesses the 
recoverability of the Mitigation Asset by MBI and will record a reserve to reduce the carrying 
amount of the Mitigation Asset when it is estimated that the Company will sell credits below their 
cost basis. In such an event, the Company will record the Mitigation Asset at the expected net 
realizable value of the mitigation credits. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022 no such reserve was 
required. 

Capitalized Mitigation Costs 
Under an MBI, prior to regulatory approval, the Company capitalizes direct costs associated with 
generating mitigation credits under the plan as a Capitalized mitigation cost. Capitalized mitigation 
costs are evaluated for recoverability with a reserve recorded if the expected credit revenue is less 
than the expected total capitalized cost of the in-process mitigation asset.  

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method 
for financial reporting purposes over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, ranging 
from 1 to 30 years. 

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while expenditures that substantially 
increase the useful lives of the assets are capitalized. When items of property or equipment are 
sold or retired, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and 
any resulting gain or loss is included in the accompanying statements of income.  

The Company continuously assesses whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of property and equipment may not be recoverable. We assess recoverability of 
our long-lived assets at our asset grouping level which we have determined to be our geographic 
regions which are also our Goodwill reporting units. Impairment indicators of our asset groups 
include, but are not limited to, the nature of the asset, the future economic benefit of the asset, any 
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historical or future profitability measures, and other external market conditions or factors that may 
be present.  

No indicators of impairment of property, plant, and equipment were identified during the year ended 
December 31, 2022.  In the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company conducted an assessment for 
triggering events at the reporting unit level and determined that the significant reduction in operating 
results for the Central reporting unit as compared to the anticipated results was a triggering event. 
No triggering events were present for the East or West reporting units. 

After completing an impairment review by comparing undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value 
of the assets for the Central reporting unit, a determination was made that property and equipment 
were not impaired. 
 
Restricted Cash 
As part of the regulatory instrument requirements for the mitigation banks and PRM projects of the 
Company, cash is held in escrow to ensure the construction, establishment and maintenance of the 
bank in perpetuity upon closing of the regulatory site plan. At various points in the future, pending 
compliance with the regulatory instrument, funds may be released from escrow. The Company has 
$3,178 and $4,077 in escrow as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively, to ensure the 
construction and establishment of mitigation banks and PRM projects which upon attainment of 
regulatory instrument requirements will be released back to the Company. The Company has 
$9,991 and $11,012 in escrow as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively, to ensure the 
maintenance of the bank and PRM projects in perpetuity which will remain in escrow for this 
purpose. The amount held for perpetual assurance of bank and PRM maintenance is included with 
other liabilities with the corresponding assets included with restricted cash and restricted 
investments as an asset on the consolidated balance sheet for the portion of funds allocated to this 
purpose.  

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported 
within the statement of financial position that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in 
the statement of cash flows. 

  

 
Investment in Land Held for Mitigation 
Investment in land held for bank mitigation, PRM and Managed Banks represents land that is 
subject to restrictive covenants due to environmental easements that have been applied to fulfill 
mitigation obligations, as well as land without restrictive covenants but held for the purpose for 
future mitigation projects. When an environmental easement is applied to land, the land is reduced 
from its historical cost basis to its estimated fair value with the difference being capitalized in 
capitalized mitigation costs. Land not subject to restrictive covenant is recorded at historical cost 
and classified as property and equipment, net. For purposes of cash flow presentation, when land 
is purchased, an estimate of the expected adjustment to the value of the land that will occur upon a 
future environmental easement is calculated and classified as an operating cash outflow. The 
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residual between the total cost of the land and estimated adjustment for an environmental 
easement is classified as an investing outflow. To determine the fair value of the land under 
easement we utilize Level 2 observable market pricing of similar assets. 

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates 
The Company held a 25% membership interest in EBX-Waccamaw, LLC as of January 1, 2022, 
and accounted for this investment under the equity method of accounting. Accordingly, the 
Company recognized its share in the net earnings or losses of the associated company as they 
occur within other revenue. On October 14, 2022, the Company acquired the remaining 
membership interest bringing total ownership to 100%. The related balances and all operating 
activities have been fully consolidated subsequent to the date of acquisition.    

The Company holds a 10% membership interest in RLF Angleton Properties, LLC, and accounts 
for this investment under the cost method of accounting. Accordingly, the investment is recorded at 
the initial investment cost plus any additional contributions. The Company contributed $0 during the 
years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022. The investment balance totaled $690 and $690 as of 
December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 

The Company holds a 10% membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES Aster, 
LLC, and accounts for this investment under the equity method of accounting.  Accordingly, the 
Company recognizes its share in the net realized earnings or losses of the associated company as 
they occur within other revenue.   The Company contributed $297 and $0 during the year ended 
December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The investment balance totaled $2,384 and $4,856 as 
of December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 

During 2023 the Company entered into a joint venture where the Company holds a 10% 
membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES Aster II, LLC, and accounts for this 
investment under the equity method of accounting.  Accordingly, the Company recognizes its share 
in the net realized earnings or losses of the associated company as they occur within other 
revenue.   Total contributions, including initial investment, during the year ended December 31, 
2023 totaled $420.  The investment balance totaled $414 as of December 31, 2023. 

The Company holds a 20% membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES Florida, 
LLC, and accounts for this investment under the equity method of accounting.  Accordingly, the 
Company recognizes its share in the net earnings or losses of the associated company as they 
occur within other revenue.   The Company contributed $2,804 and $704 during the year ended 
December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The investment balance totaled $7,023 and $3,224 as 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  

The Company holds a 20% membership interest and 40% of the Board of Directors in RES-RLH 
West Coast Management, LLC, and accounts for this investment under the equity method of 
accounting.  Accordingly, the Company recognizes its share in the net earnings or losses of the 
associated company as they occur within other revenue.   The Company contributed $263 and 
$1,087 during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  The investment balance 
totaled $3,284 and $6,011 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.    
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Intangible Assets 
The Company has intangible assets associated with customer relationships which is subject to 
amortization. The value of the customer relationships is estimated as of the date a business is 
acquired based upon the value-in-use concept. The analysis utilized the multi-period excess 
earnings methodology income approach which consists of discounting to present value the 
projected cash flows attributable to the Company’s service offerings taking into account growth and 
attrition patterns. 

The Company has intangible assets associated with trade names which are subject to 
amortization. The value of the trade names are estimated as of the date a business is acquired 
based upon the value-in-use concept.  The analysis utilized the relief from royalty income approach 
which consists of discounting to present value the hypothetical royalty payments the Company 
would be willing to pay to enjoy the benefits of the assets.  

The Company amortizes intangible assets based upon the estimated consumption of economic 
benefits of each intangible asset or liability. Intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed 
for impairment and are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized 
if the carrying amount of an intangible asset is not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its 
fair value. No such impairments were recognized as of December 31, 2023, or 2022.   

Goodwill 
Goodwill represents cost in excess of fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in business 
combinations. Goodwill is accounted for under ASC 350 Intangibles – Goodwill and Other. 

The Company is required to test Goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually on 
October 1 of each year. In accordance with ASC 350 the Company can elect to perform a 
qualitative assessment to test goodwill for impairment to determine whether it is more likely than 
not that an impairment has occurred or directly perform a quantitative assessment of its reporting 
units. In the absence of sufficient qualitative factors, the Company will compare the fair value of a 
reporting unit to the carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair value exceeds carrying value, the 
goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, an 
impairment charge is recognized for the excess. 

As of January 1, 2022, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2021-03, 
"Accounting Alternative for Evaluating Triggering Events". The ASU allows private companies and 
not-for-profit organizations to use a simplified approach in assessing whether a triggering event has 
occurred that requires goodwill to be tested for impairment. Under the new alternative, entities are 
not required to calculate the fair value of all reporting units to determine if a triggering event has 
occurred. Instead, entities may use qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company has elected under 
the standard to only assess triggering events for its reporting units at the end of each reporting 
period. The financial statements were not affected by the adoption of ASU 2021-03.  

At the 2023 period end, the Company conducted an assessment for triggering events at the 
reporting unit level and determined that the significant reduction in operating results for the Central 
reporting unit as compared to the anticipated results was a triggering event. No triggering events 
were present for the East or West reporting units. 

Fair value was estimated by weighting the results from the income approach and the market 
approach. These valuation approaches consider a number of factors that include, but are not 
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limited to, prospective free cash flows, growth rates, residual value, discount rates, and comparable 
multiples from recent merger and acquisition transactions of companies in our industry and require 
the use of certain assumptions and estimates regarding industry economic factors and future 
profitability.  

After completing the annual impairment review for the Central reporting unit during the fourth 
quarter of 2023, a determination was made that goodwill was impaired. An impairment of goodwill 
of  $96,844 is included in the Consoidated Statements of Operations. 

Our reporting units are geographically based and defined as follows: East (Northeast, Mid-Atlantic 
and Southeast), Central (Gulf Coast and Midwest) and West (West Coast).  

 

  

 

Equity Compensation 
The Company accounts for certain Predecessor equity-based compensation plans under ASC 718 
Compensation – Stock Compensation. In the Predecessor periods, these incentive plans represent 
equity awards in Potamoi Holdings LLC; however, the cost of the plan incentives have been 
pushed down to Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and is recorded on their books. In 2023, 
these incentive plans represent awards in RES Holdings, LP; however, the cost of the plan 
incentives have been pushed down to Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and is recorded on 
their books.  The compensation plans are valued within a Black-Scholes based option pricing 
method framework considering attributes of each class of equity. Compensation expense during 
2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $2,184, $0, and $17,022, 
respectively.  

Adoption of Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 842, Leases 
The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, effective January 1, 2022, under the modified 
retrospective approach.  Under ASU 2016-02, lessees are recognized as right-of-use assets (ROU) 
and lease liabilities for all leases, other than those that meet the definition of a short-term lease. 
For income statement purposes, leases must be classified as either operating or finance. Operating 
leases result in straight-line expense, similar to current operating leases, while finance leases 
result in a front-loaded expense pattern, similar to capital leases under ASC 840.  

The Company leases certain facilities, vehicles, and equipment.  The Company determines if an 
arrangement contains a lease at contract inception and recognizes ROU assets and lease liabilities 
for leases with terms greater than twelve months.  Leases with an initial term of twelve months or 
less are accounted for as short-term leases and are not recognized in the balance sheet.  
Operating fixed lease expenses and finance lease amortization expense are recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.  Variable lease payments which cannot be determined at 
the lease commencement date, such as reimbursement of lessor expenses were not included in 
the ROU assets or lease liabilities.   
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The Company elected the practical expedient that allows the Company to carry forward the 
historical lease classifications.  For all new and modified leases entered into after the adoption of 
ASC 842, the Company reassesses the lease classification and lease term on the effective date of 
modification.  Lease term includes renewal periods if the Company is reasonably certain to 
exercise any renewal options per the lease contract.  The Company’s leases do not contain any 
material residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants. The Company also applied certain 
optional practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, 
which among other things, allowed the carryforward of historical lease classification as well as 
additional practical expedients related to hindsight, short term lease leases, risk free rate, and non-
lease components. The Company also elected the package of practical expedients. 

The Company estimates the incremental borrowing rates based on prevailing financial market 
conditions, comparable companies and credit analysis and management judgments to determine 
the present value of its lease payments.   

Upon adoption, the Company recorded a $710 adjustment to decrease Members’ Equity as of 
January 1, 2022 (Predecessor). 

2. Acquisitions  

The Acquisition was completed on March 7, 2022, as described in Note 1.  Due to the change in 
control related to the Acquisition and under the provisions of ASU 2014-17, the Company elected 
to account for the Acquisition in accordance with the provisions of ASC 805, Business 
Combinations, whereby the implied fair value of the Company from the Acquisition of $596,523 has 
been allocated to state the Company’s assets and liabilities at fair value. The allocation of the 
implied fair value has been recorded for accounting purposes as of March 7, 2022. 
 
During the Predecessor period 2022, $34,045 was expensed for transaction costs including stock 
compensation expense and professional fees incurred in connection with the Acquisition prior to 
close. Intangible assets valued as part of the acquisition included customer relationships and trade 
names.  Customer relationships were valued using the income approach, with significant 
assumptions including projected revenues, customer attrition rates, operating margins, and 
discount rates and was determined to be $167,600 as of March 7, 2022 The value of trade names 
and trademarks were determined using a relief from royalty method, with significant assumptions 
under this method including projected revenues, comparable market royalty rates, and discount 
rates and was determined to be $26,800 as of March 7, 2022.These assumptions represent Level 
3 inputs as defined by ASC 820 Fair Value. 
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The implied fair value was allocated as follows: 

 
 
On January 28, 2022 (Predecessor), the Company acquired 100% equity interests in RES Florida 
Consulting, LLC formerly known as E Sciences for a cash purchase price of $9,274.  The 
acquisition qualified as a business combination and the Company has estimated fair value of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of January 28, 2022, closing date.  Fixed assets were 
valued using the cost approach.  Intangible assets added as part of the acquisition included 
customer relationships valued at $3,750.  Customer relationships were valued using the multi-
period excess earnings methodology.  All of these fair value estimates represent Level 3 inputs as 
defined by ASC 820.  Included in the assets acquired was $470 in cash and cash equivalents.   

The fair value of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date were as follows: 

 

 
  

Confidential Proprietary Information



Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Statements (in thousands) 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

20 

3. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively: 

  

 

Depreciation expense during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $5,397, 
$3,151, and $1,134, respectively. 

4. Intangible Assets  

Customer relationships and trade name assets are amortized utilizing an accelerated method 
based upon the assumed usage. The carrying value of the intangible assets are as follows: 
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Future estimated amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 
2023 is as follows: 

  

5. Related Party Transactions 

As a result of certain payments made by the Company on behalf of related parties, the Company 
has $4 and $533 in accounts receivable - affiliates from a related party as of December 31, 2023 
and 2022, respectively. These payments are associated with normal business expenses of the 
unconsolidated affiliates for which the Company incurs capital and operating expenses on behalf of 
and are unsecured, non-interest bearing, with no set terms of repayment. The total of these 
payments during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods were $674, $1,136, and 
$289, respectively.  Included in the normal operating business expenses are rental payments to an 
entity that is partially owned by employees of the Company. Total related party rent expense during 
2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods were $370, $299, and $81, respectively. 

6. Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company periodically maintains cash in bank accounts in excess of federally insured limits. 
The Company has not experienced any losses and does not believe that significant credit risk 
exists as a result of this practice. 

The Company had one customer whose contractual revenue earned was 11.3% of total gross 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 , and zero customers whose contractual revenue 
earned was in excess of 10% of total gross revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 . 
Revenue is derived from operations predominately within the United States of America for the 
years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022. Receivables from one customer represented 13.0% of 
total accounts receivable – trade as of December 31, 2023 . Receivables from one customer 
represented 21.3% of total accounts receivable – trade as of December 31, 2022.  
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7. Debt and Notes Payable  

A summary of debt at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively is as follows:  

     

The Company entered into a line of credit agreement on July 22, 2016, under the agreement at that 
time the Company had available a $80,000 line of credit with a floating interest rate option to 
borrow under LIBOR plus a margin or ABR plus a margin. The revolving line of credit is secured by 
certain real estate, certain mitigation contracts, eligible credits and pledge of the membership 
interests of the Company.  

The Company amended and restated its existing line of credit agreement on December 21, 2018; 
under the amended agreement the Company’s line of credit available was $150,000 with a floating 
interest rate option to borrow under LIBOR plus a margin or ABR plus a margin.  

The Company amended and restated its existing line of credit agreement on December 19, 2019; 
under the amended agreement the Company’s line of credit available was $150,000 with a floating 
interest rate option to borrow under LIBOR plus a margin or ABR plus a margin. In addition, the 
amendment revised certain debt covenants, including the required EBITDA ratio, as disclosed 
below.  

The Company amended and restated its existing line of credit agreement on July 28, 2021; under 
the amended agreement the Company’s line of credit available was $200,000 with a floating 
interest rate option to borrow under LIBOR plus a margin or ABR plus a margin. In addition, the 
amendment provided details regarding a future benchmark replacement from LIBOR to SOFR 
(Secured Overnight Financing Rate).   

The Company amended and restated its existing line of credit agreement on July 15, 2022; under 
the amended agreement the Company’s line of credit available was $300,000 with a floating 
interest rate option to borrow under SOFR plus a margin or ABR plus a margin. The amendment 
resulting in the extinguishment of $162,000 of the line of credit resulting in a loss of $176 on the 
extinguishment. These capitalized loan fees of $2,501 are presented as a reduction in the line of 
credit balance on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2023.  

The weighted average interest rates during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 
periods were 7.99%, 5.18%, and 2.98%, respectively. The Company had $121,381 and $106,908 
of borrowing capacity available under line of credit as of December 31, 2023, and 2022. The 
amended line of credit matures July 15, 2027. 

The Company has capitalized loan origination fees in connection with the revolving facility which 
are subject to amortization through July 2027. These capitalized loan fees are presented as a 
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reduction in the line of credit balance on the balance sheet for $2,709 and $3,176 as of December 
31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 

The line of credit agreement contains certain financial covenants and provides for borrowings 
under the line of credit based on the Company’s borrowing base. These covenants include (a) an 
indebtedness to EBITDA ratio, which is only tested if availability under the line of credit is less than 
$50 million, of no higher than 4.50 through December 31, 2023 and reducing to 4.00 January 1, 
2024 and (b) a fixed charge coverage ratio no lower than 1.25.    The Company was in compliance 
with all covenants as of December 31, 2023  and 2022 .  

Certain of the Company’s customers require letters of credit to guarantee performance under its 
contracts. Such letters of credit are issued by a bank and commits the issuer to pay specified 
amounts to the holder of the letter of credit if the holder demonstrates that the Company has failed 
to perform actions as contractually obligated. The Company does not believe that it is likely that 
any material claims would be made under a letter of credit in the foreseeable future. As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had outstanding letters of credit for $92 and $92, 
respectively, which is secured by amounts held in cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively.  

During the 2022 Predecessor period and in connection with the acquisition of RES Florida 
Consulting, LLC the Company incurred an unsecured note payable for $1,000, which accrued 
interest at a rate of 6.0% payable in arrears every six months.   As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the note was payable in the amount of $500 and $1,025, respectively, and included in Notes 
Payable in the table above. 

During the 2022 Predecessor period the Company incurred a note payable in connection with the 
acquisition of land for RES R Bar Land, LLC for $8,995. The note is secured by a mortgage on the 
property and accrued interest at a rate of 5.0% payable in arrears every six months.  As of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the note was payable in the amount of $7,912 and $8,859, 
respectively, and included in Notes Payable in the table above. 

RES-RLH West Coast II, LLC entered into a credit agreement on April 18, 2022 that has a $2,250 
term loan and $2,150 available revolving note. The credit facility is secured by RES MBI, LLC and 
RES-RLH West Coast II, neither of which are guarantors under the Resource Environmental 
Solutions, LLC credit facility.  The term loan accrues interest at a rate of 4.75% payable quarterly 
and matures on April 18, 2027.  The revolving note accrues interest at a rate of 4.75% payable 
quarterly and matures on April 18, 2027.  As of December 31,2023  and 2022, the term loan was 
payable in the amount of $1,912 and $2,174, respectively.  As of December 31, 2023  and 2022, 
the revolving note had $36 and $0 amount drawn and outstanding, respectively.  The Company 
has capitalized loan origination fees of $230 in connection with these notes payable which are 
subject to amortization through April 2027, respectively. These capitalized loan fees are presented 
as a reduction in the line of credit balance on the balance sheet for $208 and $206 as of December 
31, 2023  and 2022, respectively. 
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Contractual maturities 

Contractual maturities on debt are as follows: 

 

Derivatives 
 
The Company entered into interest rate swap agreements with a total original notional amount of 
$100,000 with an effective date of December 29, 2023. The interest rate swap agreements are 
designed to provide predictability against changes in the interest rates on the Company’s debt, as 
the interest rate swap agreements convert a portion of the variable interest rate on the Company’s 
debt to a fixed rate. The transaction is a zero-cost collar interest rate swap that expires December 
2025.   
 
The transaction is considered an effective cash flow hedge on the notional $100,000 intended to 
mitigate the interest rate risk on the Company line of credit. The collar is set between 3.66% and 
4.67% on the published SOFR and reset quarterly. Observable inputs of interest rate yields are 
relied upon to value the interest rate swap. Where inputs can be observed in a liquid market and no 
significant judgment is required, such derivates are typically classified as Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. At December 31, 2023, the effective portion of the cash flow hedges is included on the 
consolidated balance sheets in accumulated other comprehensive income. 
 
For derivative instruments that qualify for hedge accounting treatment, the fair value is recognized on 
the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as derivative assets or liabilities with offsetting changes 
in fair value, to the extent effective, recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
until reclassified into earnings when the related transaction occurs. The portion of a cash flow hedge 
that does not offset the change in the fair value of the transaction being hedged, which is commonly 
referred to as the ineffective portion, is immediately recognized in earnings. No portion of the cash 
flow hedge was ineffective during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
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The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements is included in other assets on the consolidated 
balance sheets as follows: 
 

 

 
8. Lease Obligations 

The amounts of the lease obligations are based on the discounted present value of future minimum 
lease payments, and therefore do not reflect future cash lease payments. Amounts due within one 
year equal the amount by which the capital lease obligations are expected to be reduced during the 
next 12 months.  

The Company had leasing arrangements primarily for office buildings, vehicles, and equipment with 
corresponding assets and liabilities as follows:     

 

 

  

Confidential Proprietary Information



Resource Environmental Solutions, LLC and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Statements (in thousands) 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 
 

26 

Contractual maturities 

Contractual maturities on lease obligations are as follows: 

  

Interest expense incurred during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was 
$16,840, $8,238 and $870, respectively. Rent expense during 2023 and the Successor and 
Predecessor 2022 periods, was $4,629, $3,410 and $715, respectively.  Amortization expense for 
finance leases during 2023 and the Successor and Predecessor 2022 periods was $5,663, $3,594 
and $602, respectively. 

9. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company is committed to certain expenditures in future years on mitigated land in which a 
mitigation bank has been approved. These obligations are shown on the consolidated balance 
sheet as current and long-term mitigation liability and totaled $66,808 and $59,495 as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

The Company is also generally required to maintain the mitigated properties in perpetuity. As a 
result, a portion of each credit sold is set aside for this purpose and discussed further in Note 1 
“Restricted Cash” and “Restricted investments”. 

Litigation 

The Company may be subject to claims and litigation arising in the normal course of its business. 
The Company is not aware of any claims or proceedings and believes that any potential claims 
proceedings arising in the normal course of its business will not have a material, adverse effect on 
its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

10. Incentive Stock 

In connection with the Acquisition, various classes of interests in RES Holdings, LP were 
established including common units (Class A and Class A-II) and Class B Matching Units.  Class A 
unit holders have sole ability to elect members of the board of Potamoi.  Holders of the Class B 
Matching Units have a fractional part of the interest in the profits, losses and distributions of 
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Potamoi.  Onex and KKR are the holders of Class A units and certain current and former members 
of management are holders of Class A-II and Class B Matching Units. 

The Class B Matching Unit holders do not have rights to the Company’s assets on the grant date 
but rather, vest in five tranches based on time.  Class B Matching Unit holders at the date of grant 
were members of the Company’s management team.  The grant date fair value of the Class B 
Matching Unit time vested tranches was $8,015 of which $2,184 was recognized as compensation 
expense in 2023.   

During the Predecessor period various classes of interests in Potamoi were established including 
common units (Series A and Series B), profit interest units (Series C) and Phantom Unit A and 
Phantom Unit B. Series A unit holders have the sole ability to elect members of the board of 
Potamoi. Holders of Series A and Series B units have a fractional part of the interest in the profits, 
losses and distributions of Potamoi. KKR was the sole holder of the Series A units as of the date of 
grant. Series B unit holders include certain current and former members of management. 

During 2022 (Predecessor), additional Series B units were issued to certain members of 
management. The grant date fair value of the time vested tranche of Series B units was $84, of 
which $2, was recognized as compensation expense as of the year ended December 31, 2022. 

During 2022 (Predecessor), in connection with the Acquisition all outstanding units were 
repurchased from proceeds on the transaction. The settlement of these awards in the amount of 
$26,351 were expensed upon the change of control in the 2022 Predecessor period. There were 
no compensatory stock awards issued in the Successor period. 

Granted, issued and outstanding stock as of the years ended December 31, 2023  and 2022 are as 
follows:  
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The Company used a non-controlling, non-marketable Black-Scholes based option pricing method 
to estimate the grant date fair value of the units in the Predecessor periods. The assumptions used 
in the valuation represent Level 3 inputs as defined by ASC 820. The following assumptions were 
applied in determining the fair value of the grants: 

 

11. Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through May 2, 2024, the date the consolidated 
financial statements were available for issuance and determined no events that require disclosure. 
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Addendums 
  



ADDENDUM NO. 1
Re-Bid: Water Quality Monitoring Program

RFP  25-020
This addendum is issued as supplemental information to the Request for Proposal 
package for clarification of certain matters of both a general and a technical nature. The 
referenced Request for Proposal package is hereby amended in accordance with the 
following items:

1. Clarification:

1) Original Clause:
The City has defined the term “independent” as follows:

For the purposes of this solicitation, the term “independent” is defined by 
the City as referring to unbiased, unaffiliated third parties who are capable 
of performing water quality monitoring and reef restoration services free of
any conflict of interest. This includes having no current or pending 
contractual obligations with the City of Key West that could reasonably be 
perceived to impair objectivity, independence, or the ability to act solely in 
the public interest.

Updated Clause:
The clause has been revised as follows:

For the purposes of this solicitation, the term “independent” is defined by 
the City as referring to unbiased, unaffiliated third parties who are capable 
of performing water quality monitoring services free of any conflict of 
interest. This includes having no current or pending contractual obligations
with the City of Key West that could reasonably be perceived to impair 
objectivity, independence, or the ability to act solely in the public interest.

2. Changes to Submission Requirements: [No Changes]

3. Updates to Project Timeline: [No Changes]



4. Responses to Questions:

Questions and Answer provided by Engineer of Record (EOR):

1) Question: Does this mean that the consultant has to be capable of 
performing reef restoration services, in order to be considered an 
"certified, independent, and qualified" pursuant to Sec. 2.1. of the RFP?

1. Please refer to the clarifications provided above.

2) Was this an unintended error or typo?

1. Verbiage was included in error, this clause has been updated, 
please see above (clarification).

3) Can it be corrected now that the RFP has been published?
1. Updated via Addendum #1

5. Additional Resources: [No Changes]

 ________________________________               
_______________________________ 
 Signature Name of Business

RES Florida Consulting, LLC



ADDENDUM NO. 2
Re-Bid: Water Quality Monitoring Program

RFP  25-020
This addendum is issued as supplemental information to the Request for Proposal 
package for clarification of certain matters of both a general and a technical nature. The 
referenced Request for Proposal package is hereby amended in accordance with the 
following items:

1. Clarification: [No Changes]

2. Changes to Submission Requirements: [No Changes]

3. Updates to Project Timeline: [No Changes]

4. Responses to Questions:

Questions and Answer provided by Engineer of Record (EOR):

1) Question: Could you please confirm if there is a preferred analysis suit for 
this project? 

1. There is no preferred analysis suite identified in the RFP. Instead, 
proposers are encouraged to use laboratories and methods that 
comply with EPA and State of Florida requirements.

5. Additional Resources: [No Changes]

 ________________________________               
_______________________________ 
 Signature  Name of Business

RES Florida Consulting, LLC "RES"



Lab Certifications 
  



Continued certification is contingent upon successful on-going compliance with the NELAC Standards and FAC Rule 64E-1regulations.  Specific methods and analytes certified are cited on the Laboratory Scope of Accreditation for this laboratory andare on file at the Bureau of Public Health Laboratories, P. O. Box 210, Jacksonville, Florida 32231.  Clients and customers areurged to verify with this agency the laboratory's certification status in Florida for particular methods and analytes.

DRINKING WATER - MICROBIOLOGY, NON-POTABLE WATER - GENERAL CHEMISTRY, NON-POTABLE WATER - MICROBIOLOGY

This is to certify that
E35834

EUROFINS FLORIDA KEYS3980 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY SUITE 103MARATHON, FL  33050
has complied with Florida Administrative Code 64E-1,for the examination of environmental samples in the following categories

 Marie-Claire Rowlinson, PhD, D(ABMM)
Bureau of Public Health Laboratories

DH Form 1697, 7/04
NON-TRANSFERABLE   E35834-35-07/01/2025

Supersedes all previously issued certificates

________________________________

Date Issued:  July 01, 2025     Expiration Date: June 30, 2026

State of FloridaDepartment of Health, Bureau of Public Health Laboratories

NEW TEXT BOXNEW TEXT BOXNEW TEXT BOX



E35834 FL01174State Laboratory ID: EPA Lab Code:
E35834
Eurofins Florida Keys
3980 Overseas Highway
Suite 103
Marathon, FL  33050

(305) 743-8598

Attachment to Certificate #: E35834-35, expiration date June 30, 2026.  This listing of accredited
analytes should be used only when associated with a valid certificate.

Analyte Method/Tech
Drinking WaterMatrix: 

Effective DateCategoryMethod CodeAnalyte#
Microbiology 8/4/2015Escherichia coli SM 9223 B 200376762525
Microbiology 8/4/2015Total coliforms SM 9223 B 200376762500

Clients and Customers are urged to verify the laboratory's current certification status with
the Environmental Laboratory Certification Program. Issue Date: 7/1/2025 Expiration Date: 6/30/2026

Certification Type NELAP

Laboratory Scope of Accreditation 1Page of 2



Lab Audit 
 



E35834 FL01174State Laboratory ID: EPA Lab Code:
E35834
Eurofins Florida Keys
3980 Overseas Highway
Suite 103
Marathon, FL  33050

(305) 743-8598

Attachment to Certificate #: E35834-35, expiration date June 30, 2026.  This listing of accredited
analytes should be used only when associated with a valid certificate.

Analyte Method/Tech
Non-Potable WaterMatrix: 

Effective DateCategoryMethod CodeAnalyte#
General Chemistry 1/4/2024Carbonaceous BOD (CBOD) SM 5210 B-2016 201350391555
Microbiology 6/28/2016Enterococci ENTEROLERT /

QUANTI-TRAY
600302082520

Microbiology 1/4/2024Escherichia coli SM 9223 B-2016 (Colilert
QT)

200377012525
Microbiology 6/28/2016Fecal coliforms COLILERT®-18 (Fecal

Coliforms)
600026882530

General Chemistry 7/1/2025Residue-nonfilterable (TSS) SM 2540 D-2020 200510291960
Microbiology 6/28/2016Total coliforms SM 9223 B

/QUANTI-TRAY
202116032500

Clients and Customers are urged to verify the laboratory's current certification status with
the Environmental Laboratory Certification Program. Issue Date: 7/1/2025 Expiration Date: 6/30/2026

Certification Type NELAP

Laboratory Scope of Accreditation 2Page of 2













SAW Environmental     5513 West 11000 North, Suite 103-434, Highland, UT 84003     (801) 999-8293 

 
 
 

July 26, 2024 
 
FDOH ID #E35834 
 
Eurofins Florida Keys 
3980 Overseas Highway, Suite 103 
Marathon, FL 33050 
 
Cynthia: 
 
Attached is a copy of the SAW environmental review of the Plan of Correction. The original plan of 
correction was received July 1, 2024 from the April 30, 2024 on-site assessment. 
 
I have appreciated working with you and wish you continued success. As always if there any questions 
please do not hesitate to contact me at (801) 999-8293 or tfrancis@sawenviro.com if I can provide any 
additional information or assistance. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Tony Francis, PhD 
Principal 
 
cc: Vanessa Soto Contreras, FDOH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



SAW Environmental     5513 West 11000 North, Suite 103-434, Highland, UT 84003     (801) 999-8293 

 
 

July 26, 2024 
 
 
Laboratory:   Eurofins Florida Keys 
 
Address:   3980 Overseas Highway, Suite 103, Marathon, FL 33050 
 
ID Number:   E35834 
 
Date of Assessment:  April 30, 2024 
 
Categories Assessed: Drinking Water – Microbiology 

Non-potable Water – General Chemistry, Microbiology 
 
Assessor:     Tony Francis, PhD, SAW Environmental 
 
 

I. INTRODUCTION: 
 
This laboratory was inspected on-site to verify compliance with Florida Administrative Code (FAC) Rule 
64E-1, Certification of Environmental Testing Laboratories, which incorporates by reference the 2016 
standards adopted at the National Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Conference (NELAC). 
Conformity with the 2016 standards of the NELAC Institute (TNI) was simultaneously reviewed. 
 

II. DEFICIENCIES: 
 
The original deficiencies were cited and provided to both the laboratory and Florida Department of 
Health (FDOH) Environmental Laboratory Certification Program on May 29, 2022. 
 

III. PLAN OF CORRECTION: 
 
Eurofins Florida Keys provided a copy of DH Form 1137 as well as their original plan of correction 
referencing the original documentation. SAW Environmental has reviewed the documentation provided 
by the laboratory and found it to be acceptable. 
 
DH Form 1137 Itemized Review 
 

1. Acceptable 
2. Acceptable 
3. Acceptable 
4. Acceptable 
5. Acceptable 
6. Acceptable 
7. Acceptable 
8. Acceptable 
9. Acceptable 



SAW Environmental     5513 West 11000 North, Suite 103-434, Highland, UT 84003     (801) 999-8293 

 
Overall, this Plan of Correction was found to directly address the deficiencies cited during the on-site 
assessment in a manner that should prevent the laboratory from having repeat deficiencies in the 
future. 
 

IV. CONCLUSIONS: 
 
The laboratory’s personnel, procedures, equipment, facilities, and quality system are in compliance with 
the requirements of FAC Rule 64E-1 and the 2016 TNI Standard. 
 

Drinking Water – Microbiology 
Non-potable Water – General Chemistry, Microbiology 

 
The above categories are referenced in 64E-1.007, Florida Administrative Code. 
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